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Einnair Group Key Figures

FINNAIR GROUP KEY FIGURES

2009 2008 2007
Turnover EUR mull 1,838 2,256 2,181
Operatonal result, EBIT Y EUR mill -180 1 97
Operaucnal result, EBIT ) of turnover % 98 00 44
Operaung profit, EBIT EUR mull =124 -58 142
Result before taxes EUR mill -134 -62 139
Unut reveniues on flight operations ') c/RTK 672 758 78 8
Unit costs on flight operanions ! ¢/RTK 747 76 6 749
Unit costs on flight operations c/ATK 438 434 435
Earning per share ELR -0 81 -0 36 104
Equity per share EUR 6 67 5 87 770
Gross investment EUR mill 348 233 326
Interest-bearing net debt EUR rmill 221 -90 -222
Equity ratio % 355 369 471
Gearing % 259 -120 -22 5
Adjusted gearing % 869 651 351
Return on capital employed (ROCE) % -84 -30 14 2
Average number of employees 8,797 9,595 9,480

" Excluding capiral gains, non recurring irems and fair value changes of dervanves
Unat revenues on fight operatons ¢/RTK = Revenues of flight operations/flight operations RTK
Unut costs on flight operations ¢/RTK = Operatung expenses of fhight operations/flight operanions RTK
Unit costs on flighe operations ¢/ATK = Operating expenses of flight operanons/flight operations ATK
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Finnair Group Key Figures

FINNAIR GROUP FLEET IN OPERATIONS 31 DECEMBER 2009

Seats Total Owned Leased  Average age
Airbus A319 105-123 m 7 4 82
Airbus A320 111-159 12 6 6 74
Airbus A321 136-196 6 4 2 89
Airbus A330 271 5 4 i 05
Airbus A340 269 5 5 0 44
Boeing MD-117) 282 3 0 3 149
Boeing B757 227 7 0 7 106
Embraer 170 76 9 5 4 37
Embraer 190 100 10 6 4 21
Total 68 37 31 63
TBoeing MD-11 were withdrawn from fleet at the end of February 2010
FINNAIR TRAFFIC PERFORMANCE 2005-2009

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Flight hours 207,178 232,389 228,487 211,813 202,070
Flight kilometres 1,000 139,835 155,300 147,094 133,890 125,410
Available seat kilometres mull 26,260 29,101 26,878 23,846 23,038
Revenue passenger kilometres rmill 19,935 21,896 20,304 17,923 16,735
Passenger load factor % 759 752 755 752 726
Available tonne kilometres mull 3,920 4,485 4,074 3,602 3,400
Revenue tonne kilometres mull 2,298 2,545 2,365 2,100 1,940
Overall ioad factor % 586 567 580 583 570
Passengers 1,000 7,433 8,270 8,653 8,792 8,517
Cargo and mail 1,000 kg 89,234 102,144 98,684 93,807 90,242
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Board of Director’s Report for the Financial
year 1 January—31 December 2009

Market and General Review
The strongly neganive trend 1n air transport
demand 1n 2009 began to level off rowards
the end of the year The result level for the
sector remains negative, however, and the In-
ternational Air Transport Association IATA
estimates that airlines’ rotal loss for 2009
will reach 11 billion US dollars

Finnair’s operational result for last year
was a loss of 180 nulhen euros Turnover
declined sharply due to falls 1n both de-
mand and prices Profitabihty weakened, as
costs could not be adjusted quickly enough
to match dechining fhghr nicker and cargo
price levels

The Finnair Group’s turnover fell last year
by 18 5 per cent Falling demand has affected
both scheduled passenger and leisure trathe
‘The development of scheduled traffic prices
was particularly affected by a reduction of
business travel by more than 30 per cent from
the previous year

A cautious recovery of business travel de-
mand has been percepuble from the end of
last year, particularly outside Finland Over-
capacity 1n the sector 1s, however, continuing
to keep ucker prices low, irrespective of the
customer segment Cargo demand was on
a strongly downward trend throughout the
yeat until the final quarter, but overcapacity

kept cargo prices clearly below their 2008
level

Due to capacity cuts, the passenger load
factor of Finnair’s flights has remained
good

To strengthen 1ts balance sheer, Finnair
1ssued 1in Seprember a 120 mullion euro hy-
brid bond, which reduced the level of gearing
In addinion, the company has obtained debt
funding from a number of parties Many air-
lines are encountering cash flow and financ-
ing problems Compared with che sector,
however, Finnair's gearing 1s moderate

To improve rapidly deteriorating profic-
ability, Finnair Group has under way an ef-
ficiency programme totalling 200 million
euros, which delivered just over 100 million
euros in savings last year Of the programme,
a savings target of around 120 million euros
is allocared to personnel costs A sigrificant
propornon of planned efficiencies and cost
savings will be achteved through collective
employment and stabihisation agreements
concluded with personnel, while some wiil
be found via temporary lay-offs and redun-
dancies Finnair has also made structural
changes and has sought partnerships i a
number of business areas

Last year’s result was also adversely affect-
ed by industnal action, including rurnover

lost and extra costs resulung from the chreat
of such action Dunng long collective em-
ployment agreement negotiations, the Finn-
1sh Arrline Pilots’ Associanon (SLL) threatr-
ened a strike in February 2009 and imple-
mented a two-day strike in November

Further industrial action took place in
ground handling operattons, when a part-
nership arrangement was reached in respect
of baggage handling and loading operations
At the beginning of December, around 500
employees, who had been wansferred toa
new employer, held a four-day illegal strike A
knock-on effect of the tndustrial action was
a host of irregularnities in Finnair’s baggage
handling services 1n an otherwise challeng-
ing traffic situation during the Christmas
and New Year traffic peak period and poor
weather conditions

In European comparison, Finnair’s ser-
vice quahty and traffic puncerualicy remained
at 2 high level and improved clearly compared
to the previous year

Fnancial Result,

1 January-31 December 2009

1In 2009 the Finnair Group’s turnover totalled
1,837 7 mullion euros (2,255 8), which1s 18 5
per cent lower than the previous year The
Group’s operanonal result, excluding capual

Revenue tonne kilometers

MILL TNKM

3ooc —_—

Number of passengers

MILL PASSENGERS

Passenger load factor

100
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gains, changes in the fair value of dervatives
and non-recurring items, fell to aloss of 180 2
mullion euros (0 8 profit) Adjusted operaung
profit margin was -9 8 per cenrt (0 0) The re-
sult before taxes was a loss of 133 7 milhion
euros (62 2)

Changes in the fair value of derivatives
had a §5 5§ million euro improvement effect
on the full-year resulc The corresponding
1tem n the previous year weakened the re-
ported result by 57 4 million euros

In January-December, Finnair’s passen-
ger traffic capacity contracred by 9 8 per cent
and revenue passenger kilometres fell by 9 0
per cent Asian traffic declined by 99 per
cent Passengerload factorrose 0 7 percent-
age points from the previous year to 75 9 per
cent The amount of cargo carried fell by 12 6
pet cent from the previous year

In Group passenger traffic, total umz rev-
enues per passenger kilometre fell by 11 5 per
cent Yield per passenger fell by 10 4 per cent
Unut revenue per tonne kilometre for cargo
traffic declined by 29 4 per cent Weighted
unit revenue for passenger and cargo traffic
fell by 12 8 per cent

Euro-denominared operanional expenses
fell during 2009 by 10 5 per cent as turnover
dechned by 18 5 per cent Unit costs per avail-
able ronne kilomerre for flight operatons

rose by 0 B per cent, and by 4 2 per cent ex-
cluding fuel costs Unirt costs per revenue
tonne kilometre fell by 2 4 per cent

All of the sigrificant costirems fell due to
lower operaning levels as well as implemented
effictency measures A fall in world marker
prices and new fuel-efficient avrcraft also con-
tributed to the decline in fuel costs

In non-recurning items, capital gains were
balanced by arrangement expenses and im-
patrment losses

For the full year, net operational cash
flow was -120 6 mullion euros The nega-
tive cash flow arose mamly in the firse half
of the year

Earnings per share for 2009 amounted
to -0 81 euros (-0 36)

Investment, Fmmancing and
Risk Management
Balance sheet cash and cash equivalents to-
talled 607 4 mullion euros (392 t) at the end
of the year Gearing stood at 25 9 per cent
(-12 0) Gearing adjusted for leasing liabili-
ues was 86 9 per cent {65 1) The equiry ratio
was 35 5 percent (36 9) Finnair’s solidity 1s
good i comparison with the secror
Investment in 2009 totalled 347 6 millron
euros (232 8) Including advance payments,
the cash-flow impact of fleet and auxiliary

nvestments in 2009 was around 265 million
euros and the estimate for 2010 15 around
200 mullion euros

Bilateral arrcraft financingloans totalling
94 mullion euros were ratsed during 2009 A
long-term TyEL pension fund loan amount-
ing to 105 mullion euros was raised dunng
2009 Torelease capital, in August-Septem-
ber Finnair made sale and leaseback agree-
ments for certain properties located in the
area of Helsinki-Vantaa Airport, as well as
for one Airbus A330 aircraft spare engine
The cash-flow impact of the agreements to-
talled around 90 million euros

In September, Frnnair 1ssued a 120 mul-
lien euro hybrid bond, which was oversub-
scribed The hybrid bond reduced adjusted
gearing by 29 5 percentage points

In December Finnair waithdrew 178 mul-
hon euros in credit from the European In-
vestment Bank and made a 55 mullion euro
finance leasing arrangement with the export
credit insutunions of the Airbus owner states
to finance an Airbus A330 aircraft Thenten-
ton 1s also ro make corresponding arrange-
ments for two A330 aircraft to be delivered
in early 2010

Finnair stll has the option of a loan-
back of employment pension fund reserves
from Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance

Turnover

EUR MILL

EBIT*

* EXCLUDING CAPITAL GAINS CHANGES
IN FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES AND
NON RECURRING ITEMS

EUR MILL % OF TURNOVER

EBITDAR*

* EXCLUOING CAPITAL GAINS CHANGES
Iy FAIR YALUE OF DERIVAT'WES AND
NON RECURRING ITEMS

W 2008
W 2009

EUR MILL




Company amounting to around 330 million
euros, the withdrawal of which requires a
bank guarantee

In addition, Finnair has agreed an as et
unused 200 million euro syndicated credit
facility, intended as reserve financing Finan-
cial flexibility 1s also achieved through a 200
mullion euro shorr-term commercaal paper
programme, of which 121 mullion euros was
1 use ar the closing date

According ro the financial risk manage-
ment policy approved by Finnair’s Board of
Directors, the company has hedged 73 per
centof scheduled traffi¢’s jet fuel purchases
during the next six maonths and thereafter
forthe following 24 months with a decreas-
ing level of hedging In Finnair’s charter traf-
fic, fuel consumption 15 price hedged 1n ac-
cordance with a traffic programme agreed
with tour operators within the framework
of the hedging palicy Dervatives linked to
jet fuel and gasoil prices are mainly used as
fuel price hedging instruments

The change during the year in the far
value of derivanives that mature 1n future is
recogmsed 1n the Finnair income statement
The change 1n question 1s a valuatton resulr,
in accordance wich IFRS reporung pracuce,
which has not been realised It has no cash

flow 1mpact, nor is 1t included in the opera-
uonal result In 2009 the change in the fair
value of derivanives improved the resulr by
55 5 million euros (-57 4), and 1n the final
quarter by 4 2 rmulhion euros (-43 8)

The operanonal result for 2009 includes
realised losses of 133 7 million euros on de-
rivanives resulaing from fuel price hedging,
which appear in the fuel item of the income
staternent In the final quarter, the losses to-
talled 19 1 million euros The figure includes
both foreign exchange and fuel derivatives

Shareholders’ equity includes a fair value
fund relared to hedge accounung, the value
of which 1s affected by changes in the ail price
and foreign exchange rates The size of the
item on the closing date was -25 0 mullton
euros, after deferred taxes, which includes
foreign exchange and fuel derivarives as well
as, to lesser degree, other financial items

Thanks to the currency hedging policy, the
strengthening of the US dollar in relaton to
the euro compared 10 the previous year did
not significandy influence Finnair's opera-
nonalresult forlastyear At theend of theyear,
the degree of hedging fora dollar basker over
the next 12 months was 66 per cent

TheIFRS accountng pracuce for frequent-
flyer programme bonus points changed from

Financial Report

the beginning of 2009 The points hability 1s
now valued at fair value based on the selling
price tnstead of an earlier valuation based
on marginal cost The valuation princple
lowers shareholders’ equity by more than 20
rmithion eurcs

A rise in value of Norwegian Air Shuttle
shares in 2009 had a positive impact on Fin-
natr’s shareholders’ equity of around 122
mullion euros after deferred taxes Finnar
owns just over five per cent of Norwegian
Arr Shutdle shares

Organisational Change
As part of its operational efficiency pro-
gramme, Finnair changed the strucrure of
ws Group organisation as of 1 October 2009
The change centrahsed the Group's sched-
uled traffic and leisure flight operations into
an mntegrared Atrline Bustness organisarion
under the President & CEO and also seeks
to achteve closer cooperation between opera-
trons and Group Admimstration

Finnair’s business actvities are now di-
vided into five operational entities Sales &
Marketing, Operations, Customer Service,
Travel Services and Aviation Services The
support functions are Economucs and Fi-
nance, Human Resources Management,

Operating profit, EBIT

== % OF TURNOVER

EUR MiLL %

«150 -12

Financial income and expenses

== % OF TURNOVER

EUR MILL %

Result before taxes

EUR MILL
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Corporate Communicattons and Public Af-
farrs, Resource Management, Business De-
velopment and Legal Affairs

In the new structure, Sales & Marketing
15 led by Mika Perho, Operations by Erno
Hilden, Customer Service by Timo Ruhimaka
and Travel Services by Kaisa Vikkula The
Resource Management Urnit 15 led by Ville
Tho

Avianion Services, comprising Finnair Ca-
tering, Finnair Technical Services and che
ground handling company Northport Qy,
as well as the cargo companies belonging
to Airhne Business segment, will conanue
within Deputy CEO Lasse Heinonen'’s area
of responsibility

Adnumstranive support funcuons, such
as Informanon Management, Human Re-
sources Management and Finanaial Manage-
ment have been centralised in Group Adrmun-
istration Moreover, Resources Management
and Long-Term Operational Planning have
been transferred to become part of Group
Admtniscracton

Through the change, scheduled and lei-
sure traffic are no longer externally report-
ing business areas of the Finnair Group As
of 1 October 2009, the primary operational
segments according to IFRS reporting are

Airline Business, Aviation Services and Trav-
el Services Finnair’s scheduled and charrer
traffic, cargo business and the fleet company
Finnair Aircraft Finance are included in the
Airline Business segment Aurinkomatkat-
Suntours 1s part of Travel Services The 2009
result1s reported 1n 1ts encirery according to
the new segment division

Senior Management
President & CEO Jukka Hienonenannounced
hus resignation on 7 August 2009 Hienonen
left the company on 31 January 2010 Mika
Vehvilainen M Sc (Econ } became Finnait’s
new President & CEQO on 1 February 2010
Vehvilainen joined Finnair on 5 January 2010
from his position as Chief Operazing Officer
of Nokia Siemens Networks

Finnair Pic’s Board of Directors extends
its warm thanks to Jukka Hienonen, who
relinquished the dunies of President & CEC
at the end of January 2010, for the valuable
work he has done for the good of the com-
pany 1n a difficult operaning environment
and duning an upheaval 1n the sector Un-
der Hienonen's leadership, many essennal
reforms were made in Finnair’s strucrures
and operating culture, and an extensive in-
vestment programme in the long-haul fleet

was implemented ar a difficult time 10 the
financial markets As Mika Vehvilainen is
taking over, Finnair 1s a financially solid and
high quality airhine operaning in a challeng-
Ing environment

Changes took place in Finnasr Plc’s Cx-
ecutive Board on 1 Ocrober 2009 as a con-
sequence of the structural changes The Ex-
ecutive Board compnises, 1n addrtion to the
President & CEO, Deputy CEQ and Chief
Financial Officer Lasse Heinonen, SVP Pub-
lic Affairs and Corporate Communications
Christer Haglund, SVP Aurline Business Erno
Hilden, SVP Resources Management Ville
Tho, SVP Human Resources Anssi Komu-
lainern, SVP Sales & Marketing Mika Perho,
SVP Customer Service Timo Ruhimaki and
SVP Travel Services Kaisa Vikkula, who 1s
responsible for the Group's tour operators
and travel agencies

SVP Erno Hilden also serves as the Ac-
countable Manager referred toin the Airline
Operator’s Certificate (AOC)

The Board of Management includes, tin
addition to the members of the Executive
Board, Northport Oy’s Managing Director
Jukka Hamalainen, SVP Catering Kristuna
Inkilainen, SVP Cargo Antero Lahtinen and
SVP Technical Services Kimmo Somm

Capital expenditure (gross)

B FLIGHT EQUIRMENT
B BUILDINGS
[ OTHER CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

EUR MILL

Interest bearing habilities and
hquad funds

I INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES
I L10UID FUNDS

EUR MILL

Cash ﬂow from operating
actiities

EUR MILL




A Corporate Governance Statement and
a review of management salaries and remu-
neration principles are presented i the Cor-
porate Governance section of the Finanaal
Report

Personnel
During 2009, the Finnair Group had an av-
erage number of 8,797 employees, which was
8 3 per cent fewer than a year earlier The Aur-
line Business segment had 3,925 employees
The total number of personnel 1n techmical,
catering and ground handling services was
3,347 and 1n travel services 1,289 A rotal
of 236 people were employed 1n other func-
uons At the end of 2009, the Finnair Group
had 7,945 employees, which was 1,650 fewer
than a year earlier

At the end of the year, Finnair Group had
around 738 employees ourside of Finland,
of which 258 worked 1n sales and customer
service dunes for Finnair’s passenger and
cargo traffic There area rotal of 480 employ-
ees working for travel agencies and tour op-
erators based 1n the Baluc states and Russia,
and as guides at Aurinkomartkac-Suntours’
holtday destinations Foreign personnel are

included in the total number of Group em-
ployees

Full-time staff accounts for 96 per cent of
employees Around halfof part-time staffare
employees on partial child-care leave Some
97 per cent of staff are employed on a perma-
ntent basis The average age of employees was
43 years More than 25 per cent were over 50
years old and one in ten under 30 years old

Employees’ average number of years in
serviceis 16 One thurd of Finnair’s person-
nel have been 1n the service of the Group for
more than 20 years Some 12 per cent have
served for more than 30 years

Of the Finnair Group’s personnel, 54 per
cent are women and 46 per cent are men
Of the 12 members of the Finnair Group’s
Board of Management, two are women
Three of the etght members of Finnair Pic’s
Board of Direcrors are women

Finnair has collective employment agree-
ments valid with four personnel organisa-
tions, namely the Finmsh Aviation Employ-
ees Association (SLV), the Finmsh Flight At-
tendants’ Association (SLSY), the Finnatr
White-Collar Employees Assocranion (FYT)
and the Finnair Engineers’ Association

Financial Report

(FIRY) unnil spring 2010, and with the Finn-
1sh Airline Pilots’ Association (SLL) until 31
December 2011

Collective employment agreements with
the Finnish Aviation Unuon (1AU) and the
Finnair Technical Employees’ Association
expited on 30 September 2009, because no
agreement could be reached on a pay rise
adjustment under the agreements Negotia-
tions are continuing to reach new collective
agreements with both orgamsations

Temporary lay-offs and personnel reduc-
uons decrded on at the end of 2008 and 1n
2009 have been implemented As a conse-
quence of the organisational change imple-
mented on 1 Ocrober 2010, around 200 po-
siions have been or will be cur from general
staff and support funcrions

To date, stabilisation agreements with
personnel organisations have been agreed
1n Finnasr Technical Services, the Cabin Ser-
vice Department and Finnair Catering The
agreements nclude an addsnonal bonus
model which allows for the return of sav-
ings made as the operational result improves
In connection with the collective employ-
ment agreement negonations, permanent

Egquity ratio

0~ e e e

Gearing

%o

Adyusted gearing
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strucrural savings were agreed with pilots
that will, together with other adjustment
measures directed ar pilots, amount to
around 20 milhion euros

Through concluded stabilisation agree-
ments and personne] adjustments, around
80 million euros of the total personnel sav-
ings rarget of 120 mullion euros 1s expected
to be achieved by the end of 2010 The re-
maming 40 million euros of the rarger s as
yer umdentified

In the final quarter of the year, two sig-
nificant episodes of industrial action ook
place In mid-November, the pilots were
on strike for two days 1n connection with
collective employment agreement negoti-
anons In late Novernber/early December,
the Northport subsidiary’s baggage handling
and apron staff held a four-day illegal strike
when operations and staff were transferred
to Finnair’s partmer Barona Handling A cor-
responding arrangement 1n respect to cargo
warehouse operations implemented at the
same iime with Suomen Transval Oy did not
cause disrupnion

Including indtrect employee costs, just
over five milhion euros of incentive bonuses,

based mainly on quality indicarors, are ex-
pected to be paid to personnel for 2009 The
criteria based on the Group result for the
personnel profit bonus and the share bo-
nus scheme for key individuals were not ful-
filled for 2009, and no 1ncentive payments
will be paid

Fleet Changes
The Finnair Group's fleet 1s managed by Fin-
nauir Aircraft Finance Oy, a wholly-owned sub-
sidiary of Finnair Ar che end of the year, the
Finnatr Group had a total of 68 aircraft in
fight operations The average age of Finnair’s
enure fleet 1s around six years Finnair’s fleet s
one of the most medern in the world

In the first quarter of 2009, two new 100-
seat Embraer 190 aircraft joined Finnair’s
fleet In late 2009 and early 2010 Finnair
leased rwo Embraer 170 aircraft ro s feed-
er traffic partner FinnComm Airlines Two
other Embraer 170 atrcraft are on sale

Five new Airbus A330-300 arcraft jomed
Finnair’s wide-bodied fleec last year In the
first quarter of 2010, when the Boeing MD-
11 arrcraft have been decommussioned and
two new Airbus A330-300 aircraft have been

accepted, Finnair witl have a total of 12 long-
haul asrcraft in service

In 2010 a total of three new Airbus A330
will be acquired, two in the firse quarcer and
one in the final quarter The last remaining
Boemng MD-11 aircraft will be withdrawn
from Finnaur’s fleet at the end of February
Two Atrbus wide-bodied aircraft are ordered
for 2012-2014, buc che final delivery timeta-
ble 1s sull to be confirmed

Two MD-11 arreraft owned by Finnair are
currentdy on sale The aircraft were sold n
2007 to Aeroflot Cargo on a forward sale
agreement, bur due to collapse of carge
markets the deal was cancelled by mucually
agreed rerms

Thisspring, as part of the harmonisation
of us fleet strucrure, Finnair will withdraw
from service three of 1ts leisure traffic Boeing
757-200 asrcraft Finnair will sull have four
Boeing 757 aircraft

Environment

Finnasr takes the environment into consid-

erarton in all of its actions and decisions
Finnair has been systematically modern-

1sing 115 fleer since 1999 The long-haul eraffic

Return on capstal employed

%

Return on equity

Cash flow/share

EUR




fleet modermsation was completed and Fin-
nair currently flies with one of the world’s
most modern fleets New aircraft are signifi-
cantly more economic tn fuel consumption
and produce less emissions and noise com-
pared with the previous generation’s tech-
nology In addition, emissions as well as con-
sumption of energy and materials are mini-
mised through operational measures both
on the ground and in the air

Finnair 1s actrvely involved 1n social re-
sponsibility work and in discussions with
1ts nterest groups Finnair reports its sus-
tainable development principles and indi-
carors in accordance with the internanonal
Global Reporning Imnaave (GRI) guidelines
and also parncipates i the Carbon Disclo-
sure Project (CDP)

Last year the EU approved a model for the
implementation of emuissions trading 1n arr
transport starting 1n 2012 Finnair has co-
operated with the authorities and has pre-
pared for the future when the first ermssion
trading obligations will begin In addition,
Finnair will strive in cooperation with van-
ous actors to argue successfully for the sys-
tem to be worldwide and nort distort com-
pettion n the secror

Arr transport ermussions trading will be-
ginin European Union in 2012 Air crans-
port ermussions trading will apply to all fighes
arriving and departng from EU airports
National legislation will come 1nto force
on 1 February 2010 Finnair has delivered
1ts monitoring, reportng and verification
plan for approval to the Transport Safety
and Security Agency, which acts as the su-
pervising authonity

Free emission rights for the period 2012-
2020 will be granted based on traffic per-
formance tn 2010 The rules for the first pe-
riod 2012 are clear Details for the second
period (2013-2020) currently remain open
whuch 13 hindering preparations for emis-
sions trading Achieving aninternational sec-
tor agreement, mstead of regional schemes,
would also be desirable

Business Area Development

The primary segment reporting of the Fin-
nair Group’s financial statements 1s based
on business areas As of 1 Ocrober 2009,
the reporung business areas have been Air-
line Business, Aviation Services and Travel
Services

Financial Reporr

Airrline Business
This business area 1s responsible for sched-
uled passenger and charter traffic as well as
cargo sales, service concepts, flight opera-
tions and acovity connected wath the pro-
curement and financing of arrcraft The Arr-
line Business segment comprises the Sales
& Marketing, Operations, Customer Service
and Resource Management units as well as
the subsidiaries Finnair Cargo Oy, Finnair
Cargo Terminal Operations Oy and Finnair
Aircraft Finance Oy

Finnait’s rraming centre operations wetre
incorporated from the beginning of 2010
1into 2 new company Finnair Flight Acade-
my Ltd, which 1s part of the Airline Business
segment The Finnair Flight Academy’s task
15 to provide Finnair, tes biggest customer,
with top quality traiming and competence
development services The majority of the
trainng services on offer will be certifica-
tion maintenance and aircraft type training
for flight personnel Flight raimng will also
be sold to external customers

In 2009 the busintess area’s turnover fell
by 19 9 per cent to 1,537 9 muillion euros
(1,920 7) The operanional result was a loss
of 170 5 mullion euros (19 4 loss) The key

Unit revenue and costs,
Arrline Business
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factors tn the sigmificanty reduced turnover
arelower demand and a signuficantly poorer
average price The adjustment of costs to
lower velumes has succeeded fairly well On
the other hand, it has not been possible to
make the adjustment required by the decline
tn turnover due to the detetioranon of the
average price

Scheduled traffic passengers numbers in
2009 totalled 6 3 rullion Inscheduled traf-
fic, revenue passenger kilometres fell from
the previous year by 8 5 per cent as capacity
contracted by 10 3 per cent, which improved
the passenger load factor by 1 4 percentage
points to 73 4 per cent

Unut revenues for scheduled passenger
traffic fell 14 1 per cent in 2009 In cthe final
quarter, umt revenues fell by 12 7 per cent
The shifting of busimess travel demand o
cheaper price classes contributed to the de-
cline in unit revenues The change was partic-
ularly marked 111 the Finnish marketplace

Cargo revenues account for around 10
per cent of all of the Airline Business seg-
ment’s revenues In 2009 cargo unic reve-
nue declined by 29 5 per cent The number
of cargo kilos carried in scheduled rraffic
declined from the previous year by 12 6 per
cent and 1n the final quarter rose by 2 9 per
cent In Asian traffic, the amount of cargo
carried declined from the previous year by
121 per cent, but grew 1n the final quarrer
by 10 3 per cent

In Finnair Cargo Termunal Operations
Oy, which maintains Finnair’s cargo terma-
nal activity, a transfer of busmess 1o terms of
warehouse functions was made A coopera-
tion agreement was made with Suomen
Transval Oy

In international scheduled passenger
traffic, Finnair’s marker share relative to 1ts
main competitors has fallen some percentage
points, burt is still more than 50 per cent In
domesuc traffic, Finnair’s market share has
fallen, mainly due to cthe disconunuanion of
shortroutes This has, however, improved the
passenger load factor and proficability

Despite a host of craffic irregulanites ar
the end of the year, the arrival punctuality of
scheduled fhights improved during 2009 from
the previous year to 86 7 per cent (80 8)

In 2009 Finnair's charter flights carried
more than 1 1 million passengers, which 1s
around 15 per cent fewer than previous year

In January-December 2009, the volume of
available passenger kilometres fell by 7 7 per
cent,n October-December by 24 3 per cent
Performance 1n revenue passenger kilome-
tres fell in January-December from the pre-
vious year by 10 5 per cent and in the final
quarter by 25 5 per cent The passenger load
factor of charter flights weakened shightly to
85 5 per cenr

Inaddition to its own Boeing 757 fleer used
in charter flight traffic, Finnair leased from
Air Europe a 299-seat Arbus 330 wide-bodied
arrcraft with crew for flights to Phuket, Thai-
land in cthe winter season 2008/2009 Corre-
sponding traffic in the current winter season
ts betng flown with Finnair’s own aircraft, al-
though at lower capaaty

Finnair enjoys marker leadership in lei-
sure travel flights and all of Finland’s largest
rour operators are its customers For therr
package tour production, tour operators buy
the flight series they need to hohiday destina-
uons for the summer and winter seasons

Finnair has agreed fixed prices with tour
operators for charter flights and provided for
the fuel risk with price hedging in accordance
with the Group’s financial pelicy

Aviation Services
Thus business area comprises aircraft main-
tenance services, ground handling and the
Group's catering operations In addition, the
Group’s property holdings, the procurement
of office services, and the managemenr and
maintenance of properties related to the
Group's operational activities also belong
to the Aviatton Services business area. Avi-
anon Services’ business consists mainly of
intra-Group service provision Of the busi-
ness area’s rurnover, one fourth consists of
business outside of the Group

In 2009 Aviauon Services’ turnover fell
by 5 § per cent to 421 3 mullion euros The
operational profit halved from the previous
year and was 7 3 milhion euros (13 8)

Catering business 1s the most proficable
of the Aviation Services Operauons are di-
vided into meal production and related lo-
gistics as well as travel retail functions, which
include inflight sales plus advance order ser-
vices and arrport shops in Helsinki, Tampere
and Turku

Finnair Catering’s turnover has fallen as
passenger numbers have dechined The umit

i1

has implemented adjustment measures by
which labour has been dimenstoned to the
level of demand for meals A stalnlisation
agreement was also reached with white-collar
workers in Finnair Catering

Finnair Techmcal Services’ operanional
result was loss-making last year, due main-
ly to a dechine in houtly-based 1nvotcing for
the Group’s own traffic External turnover
grew by around 10 per cent from rhe previ-
ous year

For Finnair Technical Services’ long-term
funcuional capacity and proficability, 1o 1s
important that the umit also has customers
from outside the Group The stabilisation
agreement reached 1n Finnair Technical Ser-
vices 1 August will increase the umt’s cost
compenuveness, which enabled a 20 million
euro three-year maintenance agreement ro
be concluded wath the leisure flight arrhne
Condor

Finnair Technical Services was divided at
the beginning of financial year 2010 into two
subsidiaries, Finnair Technical Services Oy
and Finnair Engine Services Oy This con-
version into separare companies will create
strucrural flexability from cooperation ar-
rangements 1n the future

The ground handhing company North-
port Oy s stiil loss-making To achieve op-
erational flexability, a partnership arrange-
ment was agreed for baggage handling as
well as loading and apron activities by which
funconons and personnel were transferred to
Barona Handling Oy frorm the beginning of
December

Travel Services
(tour operators and travel agencies)
The business area consists of the Group’s tour
operators,1 e Aurinkomatkat-Suntours and
1ts Estontan substdiary Horizon Travel, the
subsidrary Calypso, operating in St Peters-
burg, and the Matkayhryma Oy/takeOFF
brand, operating 1n Finland, as well as the
travel agencies Matkarosmusto Area, Finland
Travel Bureau (FTB) and 1ts subsidiary Estrav-
el, operating in the Baluc states In addition,
the business area includes Amadeus Finland
Oy, which integrates travel agency systems and
sells cravel reservanon systems

In 2009, the business area’s turnover fell
10 2 per cent to 346 5 million euros (385 9)
As a result of the recession, business travel
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contracted in Finland by 30-35 per cent from
previous year, which was reflected 1n turnin
travel agencies’ sales and results Consumers’
uncertamnty about the future of their own fi-
nances was apparent tn their delaying travel
decisions unuil closer to the date of travel
Demand for letsure travel clearly began ro
weaken at the end of the year Travel declined
very strongly 1n the Baluc scates and 1in Rus-
sia. The operational result fell toa loss of 4 3
nmullion euros (12 3 profit)

In 2009 some 961,000 (989,000) pack-
age tours where made from Finland using
fhights abroad Included in the sector’s over-
all total for the first time are the dynamic
flight-horel packages, which customers as-
semble themselves at the travel agency’s in-
ternet service

The number of package tours produced
by traditional tour operarors fell by around
7 per cent Aurinkomarkar-Suntours ts Fin-
land’s leading tour operator, with a market
share of 36 per cent As demand weakened
from the previous year’s peak figures, the
company cut 1ts summer production by 10
per cent

Sales of winter 2009/10 packages began
cautiously, as travel decisions were made
closer to the date of travel Sales of winter
packages will also fall significantly short of
the cyclical peak level of winter 2008/2009
Capacity has been cut correspondingly Au-
rinkomatkat renewed 1ts reservation system,
which had been use for more cthan 30 years
Introduction of the new preduction system
went well

In 2009 Aurninkomatkat’s passenger num-
bers declined in Finland from previous year
by 5 2 per cent to 327,000 The load factor
and result clearly weakened from the 2008
record level Profitability was weakened by
sales of last minute holidays at a discountas
well as by packages unsold due to strikes

In Estomia the package tour market col-
lapsed by around 40 per cent Hornzon Travel
succeeded, however, in difficult circumstanc-
es to adjust 1ts operanions to correspond with
the demand situation

Establishing Aurinkomartkar in Rus-
sia conanued in a difficult market climarte
Aurmnkomartkar produced 13 000 package
tours abroad for customers flying from St
Petersburg Demand for summer packages
fell scrongly, but due to flights shared with

other tour operators, production could not
be correspondingly adjusted The company
did nor recerve any fhghts to 1ts main win-
ter destination

Target load factors were achieved, buc
discounts and weak selling prices increased
the operational loss Aurinkomarkat strives
to stand out from its competitors through
quality The company’s customer sansfac-
tion 1s high in Russia, but the problem s low
producnon volume resulting from the poor
economuc condinions Sales of Calypso’s VIP
packages also suffered from the economic
downturn

Finland Travel Bureau (FTB) and Area
are Finland’s leading travel agencies, and
Estravel 1s one of the leading travel agen-
cies m the Baltic states The collapse inbust-
ness travel pushed the result to a loss, even
though remporary lay-offs of several weeks
were implemented 1n travel agencies and 160
permanent job cuts were made The head-
count 1s now 18 percent less than in the pre-
vious year Business travel 1s expected to re-
mamn permanently on a lower level Lower
travel volumes will pressurnise margins The
companes were highly rared in a customer
sausfaction survey of business cravellers in
the Nordic countries

Travel sales are shifting strongly to the
internet In 2009 the Area fi website became
Finland’s leading location for the purchase
of independent travel packages, and 85 per
cent of lewsure trips sold by Area are sold via
Areafi In business travel, the focus was on
developing productisation and electromic
services An exceptional situanon through-
out the world means that travellers will in-
creasingly value a rel:able travel management
partner and a 24-hour service

Travel Services’ Amadeus Frnland, a pro-
vider of travel reservanon and informaucn
systems to travel agencies, brought to the
marker many new services relating to com-
pantes’ and travel agencies’ travel manage-
ment A hotel booking service was added to
the Amadeus reservarton system A decline
in flight travel by Finns of around 10 per
cent had an adverse impacr on the compa-
ny’s turnover and result

Azrr Traffic Services and Products
In the summer season, Finnair has a rotal
of 55 and 1n the winter season a total of 57

Financaial Report

direct flights per week to nine Asian destina-
tions Finnair’s Astan destunations are Bang-
kok, Delht, Hong Kong, Nagoya, Osaka, Bei-
jing, Shanghai, Seoul and Tokyo

Fhights covering 33 Europeanrand 11 do-
mestic destinations connect mnto Finnair’s
Asian network At the same time, 3 wide se-
lection of direct connections s offered from
Finland to the rest of Europe In long-haul
traffic, Delh1 was served by a daily flighr
schedule from mid-September to the end
of January, after which the number of weekly
flights has been six In june-Seprember, Fin-
nair flew to Tokyo daily instead of is normal
four flights per week schedule, and to New
York ten tmes per week

The Finnaiwr Plus frequent-flyer pro-
gramme has been reformed to enable more
versatile use of points Last year more than
100 new partners 1n 30 countries and differ-
ent service product areas joined the points
programme Through the reform, Finnar
Plus members gained the opportunity to
combine points and money when redeem-
ing awards Finnair has opened a web shop
to facilitare access to benefits

In connection with the reform, the

points limits of the frequent-flyer pro-
gramme ciers will change Customers will
now move onto a hugher tier with a smaller
number of points than before On the oth-
er hand, points will exptre more quickly
Potnts will be vahd for three years instead
of five Flexibihty wall also be increased by
offering the possibility to transfer points
among family members

In July Finnair launched a user-friendiy
service by which companies can produce for
themselves an environmental report on their
overall travel The environmental report tool
has been added to Finnair’s brand experience
website hrep //feel finnair com On the sire,
one can easily compare the environmental
impact of fught routes when flying via if-
ferent transit aseports

In August Finnair centralised us trafhe
and customer service in Helsinki-Vanraa's
Terminal 2, where oneworld and Finnair’s
other cooperation partner awrlines are also
located. The divisien into domestic and in-
ternatonal terminals also ended

In wanter season 2009-2010 Finnair1s us-
ing for lessure fights long-haul rraffic Airbus
A330-300 arrcraftin addition to Boeing 757
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aircraft The 271-seat wide-bodied aircraft
flies non-stop leisure flights from Helsinki
to Phuket in Thailand 3-4 days a week from
November to April Last winter, an Aitbus
A330-200 aircraft leased from outside the
Group was used for the corresponding les-
sure flight series, six days per week

In addition to leisure traffic, the Airbus
A330-300 awrcraft 1s also used on Finnair’s
scheduled flights to New York, Delhi, Nagoya
and Osaka, as a result of which the aircraft
has a 42-seat business class secuon On ler-
sure fhights, business class 1s renamed Com-
forrt class, which offers, in addition o lie-
flat seats, a more comprehensive service than
economy class

In December Finnair opened the Via Spa
and the modern Via Lounge at Helsinki-Van-
taa Airport, 1n a terminal extension thar
opened at the same nume The lounge and spa
offer umque wellness and comfort services,
particularly for Finnaur's transit passengers
rravelling berween Europe and Asia.

The business class of Finnair’s latest Aar-
bus A330, which arrived before Christmas,
has a new type of full-flar sear thar rechines
to horizontal as well as a new configuratuon
thar allows more seats to be offered while
at the same time providing more privacy
At the end of 2009, a pick-up was percep-
tible in Europe-Asia traffic, so the new air-
craft and thewr hugher service level have ful-
filled a need

The cabin of the new Arrbuses thar ar-
rived from April 2009 onwards has a new,
brighter look, and rechnically high-level so-
luzions also signihcantly enhance passenger
comfort in economy class Every passenger
has an indiwidual display screen wich diverse
entercanment options, and e 1s also possible
1o send rext messages and work with a laprop
dunng flights Scenario ighting simulates
the movement of the sun according to a daily
cycle, helping passengers adjust to new ume
zones whale on the arrcraft

Short-term Risks and Uncertainty
Factors

Globally, the airline industry 1s one of the sec-
tors most sensitive to cyclical changes in eco-
norme condinons The developmentof GDP,
investment and international trade scrongly
affect the development of air transporre pas-
senger and cargo demand

Aweakening of domesti¢ consumer confi-
dence also has an adverse impact on demand
for non-business travel in both leisure and
scheduled traffic services In Finland, busi-
ness travel might also recover more slowly
than 1n other markets The financial diffi-
culues of ¢customers will increase the bad
debt nisk in the future Due to the short
booking horizon in passenger and cargo
traffic, 1t 15 difficulre to forecast demand far
into the future

A change of one percentage pointin the
passenger load factor affects the Group’s op-
eranng result by nearly 15 million euros A
change of one per cent in the average yield
of passenger traffic services also affects the
Group’s operational result by around 15 mil-
hon euros

Aniskin the acquisition of new aircraft s
that weak demand will not enable the aircrafi
to be operated fully and profitably in 2010

Fuel costs constiture around one fifth of
the Group’s costs and are one of the most sig-
nificant uncercainry factors where costs are
concerned Foreign exchange rate changes
also representa nisk Finnair provides hedg-
ing against fuel price and foreign exchange
rate volatility by entering into option and
furure concracts The rising costs of hedg-
ing arrangements also pose a risk

A 10 per cent change in the world mar-
ket price of fuel affects Finnair’s operation-
al result by around 18 million euros after
hedging A 10 per cent change 1n the euro-
dollar exchange rate effects Finnair’s oper-
anonal result by around 17 mullion euros
after hedging

The hedging policy practised by Finnair
dampens fuel price fluctuanons Finnair’s
relative compenitive position in terms of costs
ts also influenced by competitors’ fuel price
hedging policies The company’s main com-
peators adhere to the same principles as Fin-
narir in their hedging policies

Outlook
There are weak signs in the secror thar the
decline in travel demand 1s coming o anend,
but due to overcapacity, increasing pnices wall
prove difficulr Business travel is recovering,
above all outside Finland

Aur cargo demand 15 beginming o pick up
modestly Parucularly in che Asian marker,
cargo demand has strengthened, which will

also improve prospects for Finnair’s cargo
operations

Theimplementation of the Europe-Asia
strategy will be purposefully continued, bur
taking into consideranon marker-specific
fluctuanions of demand

Adjustment measures to lower unit costs
will contmnue 1n all units The goal 1s to re-
duce unirt costs to correspond with falling
average ytelds The Finnarr Group’s objec-
uve, according to a programme announced
earhier, 15 to implement efficiency measures
totalling around 200 milhon euros Just over
aquarter of the efficiency and result improve-
ment targets are asyer unidennified Person-
nel cost savings include personnet reductions
and temporary lay-offs as well as partner-
ship arrangements for cerrain operanons to
achieve flexibiliey

To boost sales, the Finnair Plus frequent-
flyer programme has been developed by im-
proving service and diversifying the product
range The programme facthitares more rar-
geted and effecuve marketing

Demand for package tours in the current
winter season and the corming summer season
1s expected to be lower than last year To avoid
a weakening of price level due to oversupply,
Aurinkomatkat-Suntours has adjusted 1ts ca-
pacity Charter flight capacity wall fall when
three of the seven Boeing 757 arrcraft are with-
drawn from Finnair’s fleec when leasing agree-
ments expire this coming summer

Finnair’s fuel costs are expecred ro be low-
er during the current year than last year due
to the improved fuel economy of the arrcraft
At the present price level and hedging policy,
fuel costs this year are expected to be around
one fifth of Finnair’s turnover

Finnair's passenger traffic capacity 1s ex-
pected to be around 10 per cent below the
previous year n the first quarrer of 2010
Finnair’s scheduled traffic suffers from low
unit revenue, but the passenger load factors
of aircraft are expected to rematn art a sanis-
factory level This will lead to a further fall
in turnover in the first quarter

The first quarter of 2010 1s expected to re-
man difficult and to be clearly loss-making
Due 1o the efficiency measures being imple-
mented, the Finnair Group’s profitabihity 1s
expected to improve gradually towards the
end of the year
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Shares and Sharebolders

Shares and Share Capital

On 31 December 2009 the company’'s regis-
tered share capital was 75,442,904 30 euros
and number of shares 1ssued was 128,136, 115
Each share has one vote at the Annual Gen-
eral Meetung

Share Quotations
Finnair Plc shares are quoted on the
NASDAQ OMX Helsink: Stock Exchange

Diwnidend Policy

The aim of Finnair's dividend policy 1s 10
pay on average at least one-third of the earn-
ings per share as dividend during an econom-
1¢ eycle, taking into account the company’s
earmngs trend and outlook, financang posi-
non and capiral needs for any given period

Incentive Schemes for Key Personnel

On 22 March 2007, Finnair Plc’s Board of
Dhrecrors approved a share bonus scheme
2007-2009 directed ac key individuals of the
Group Details of the scheme are presented
in Note 26 of thisannual report The scheme
does nort affect the total number of shares
The amount of share bonuses 1s determined
on the basts of the Finnair Group’s financial
development

Board of Directors’ Authonsations

On 27 March 2008 the Annual General
Meeting granted the Board of Directors new
auchorisations to purchase the company’s
own shares up to a maximum of 5,000,000
shares and dispose of the company’s own

Financial Report

shares up to a maximum of 5,500,000 shares
The authorisation to purchase was valid un-
ul AGM 2009 and the authonisation to dis-
pose the shares 1s vahid at the end of March
2011 The authorisation applies to shares
amounting to less than five per cent of the
company’s share capiral Under the authon-
sation, it 2009 Finnar has not purchased
nor disposed any shares

At the end of 2009, Finnair held 387,429
of 1ts own shares, namely 0 30 per cent of the
total number of shares outstanding on the
last day of the year

The Board of Directors has no other au-
thorisanions, such as authorisations for share
1ssues or for the 1sstng of convertible bonds
or share oprions

Share-related key figures 2009 2008 2007
Earnings/share EUR -0 81 -0 36 104
Equity/share EUR 6 67 5 87 770
Dwidend/share EUR 000 000 025
Dividend-to-earnings ratio % 090 00 N5
P/E ratio -4 61 -13 46 779
P/CEPS -40 52 26
Effective dwvidend yeld % Q0 00 31
Number of shares and share prices 2009 2008 2007
Average number of shares adjusted for share 1ssue pcs 128,136,115 127,969,796 98,032,358
Average number of shares adjusted for

share 1ssue (with diluted effecr) pcs 128,136,115 127,969,796 98,032,358
The number of shares adjusted for share

issue at the end of financial year pcs 128,136,115 127,969,796 98,032,358
The number of shares adjusted for share 1ssue at

the end of financial year (with diluted effecr) pcs 128,136,115 127,969,796 98,032,358
Number of shares, end of the financial year pes 128,136,115 128,136,115 128,136,115
Trading price highest EUR 524 8 49 14 35
Trading price lowest EUR 352 350 751
Market value of share capital Dec 31 EUR mill 481 627 1,037
No of shares traded pcs 13,846,917 64,783,468 37,672,530
No of shares traded as % of average no of shares % 10 80 50 55 25 40
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Finnair Plc largest shareholders as at 31 December, 2009

Number Changes
of shares % 2009
1 State of Finland, Office of Counsil of State 71,515,426 558 0
2 Skagen Global Verdipapirfonds (I-1i-111-Vekst) 7,161,748 56 188,605
3 Local Government Pensions Institution 5,597,681 44 3,991,106
4 Suomi Mugual Life Insurance Company 3,534,701 28 -62,523
5 limaninen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 3,025,564 24 -700,000
6 Odin Norden 2,783,972 22 -6,446
7 Mandatum Life Insurance Company 2,400,000 19 0
8 Tapiola Insurance Company Group 2,276,444 18 0
S State Pension Fund 2,100,000 16 0
10 OPFunds 1,595,724 12 211,990
1 Nordea Funds 1,432,322 11 300,703
12 Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 608,246 05 39,708
13 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 600,000 a5 0
14 Etera 400,000 03 -201,747
15 Finnair Plc (own shares) 387,429 03 0
16 City of Turku, Claim Fund 341,407 03 45,500
17 Ciry of Turku 319,134 02 -68,300
18 Gyllenberg Funds 302,904 02z -54,500
19 Finnair Ple Staff Fund 280,411 02 49,429
20 EQ Funds 250,000 02 150,000
21 Norvestia Plc 234,387 02 7,000
22 SR Sampo Bank Funds 223,714 02 -223,714
23 Pohjola Insurance Company Plc 216,668 02 0
24 Ingman Finance Oy Ab 200,000 02 80,000
25 Finnaw Pension Fund 136,842 01 0
26 Kotimaa Saving Bank Fund 121,700 01 1]
27 Aro Olaw Sakan 110,000 01 0
28 Neste Oil Pension Fund 105,826 01 0
29 Fenma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 105,000 01 5,000
30 Kamprad Ingvar 100,000 01 0
Nominee registered 11,002,150 86 3,957,513

Others 8,666,715 68

Total 128,136,115 100 0
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Shareholders by type at 31 December 2009

Number Shares, Number of Shareholders,
of shares % shareholders %
Public bodies 86,704,247 68 22 0
Registered in the name of nominee 11,002,150 9 7 0
Financial institutions 10,291,972 8 30 0
QOutside Finland 10,133,342 8 53 1
Households 7,390,597 6 10,438 95
Private companies 2,037,585 1 437 4
Associatons 556,283 o} 50 0
Not converted into the book entry system 19,939 0 0 0
Total 128,136,115 100 11,037 100
Breakdown of shares at 31 December 2009
Shares, Number of Shareholders,
Number of shares Number of shares % shareholders %
1-200 500,307 0 5,581 51
201-1,000 1,926,868 1 3,762 34
1,001-10,000 4,171,174 3 1,540 14
10,001-100,000 2,456,960 2 1m 1
100,001-1,000,000 7,364,246 6 25 0
1,000,001~ 100,694,471 79 11 0
Registered in the name of norminee 11,002,150 9 7 0
Nat converred into the book entry system 19,939 0 - -
Total 128,136,115 100 11,037 100
Acquisition and delivery of own shares
Number Acquisition Average
Period of shares value, EUR price, EUR
2004 422,800 2,275,666 49 538
2005 -37,800 -209,838 54 555
2005 150,000 1,516,680 00 10N
2006 -383,097 -2,056,847 88 537
2007 0 000 0
2008 235,526 1,538,956 35 653
2009 0 000 0
31 Dec 2009 387,429 3,064,616 42 7.9
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Government Ownership

Atrthe end of the financial year, on 31 Decem-
ber 2009, the Finnish Government owned
55 8% of the company’s shares and votes
On 20 June 1994, the Finnish Parliament,
while giving 1ts consent to reduce the Gov-
ernment’s holding to less than two-thirds,
deaded that the Government must own
more than half of Finnair Plc’s shares

Share Ownership by Management

On 31 December 2009, members of the com-
pany’s Board of Directors and the President
& CEO owned 78,480 shares, representing
0 06% of all shares and votes

Share Prices and Trading

On the last day of the financial year, the Fin-
nair Plc share was quoted at 3 75 euros on the
NASDAQ OMX Helsink: Stock Exchange

The market value of the company’s shares
was 480 5 million euros (626 6) The high-
est trading price during the finanaal year
was 5 24 euros (8 49), the lowest 3 52 euros
{3 50) and the average price 4 15 euros (6 10)

A total of 13 8 mullion shares (64 8), with a
total value of 57 5 million euros (395 2) were
traded on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Stock
Exchange during 2009
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Board of Directors’ Proposal

on the Dinndend

The distributable equity of Finnair Ple
amounts to 393 0 million euros The Board
of Directors proposes to the Annual General
Meeting that no dividend be diseribuced
for 2009

FINNAIRPLC
Board of Directors

Finnair share trade development
and trade 2005-2009
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Financial Indicators 2007-2009

2009 2008 2007
Turnover EURmil 1,838 2,256 2,481
- change % 18§ 3s 96
QOperavonal result, EBIT EUR milt -180 1 87
- relation to turnover % 98 a0 44
Operaung profit/loss, EBIT EUR mdt -124 58 142
-n relawon to turnover % 67 26 65
Profit before taxes EUR mill 134 62 139
- in relaton to turnover % 73 28 64
Consolidated balance sheet
Mon-current assers ELIR mil 1,586 1,405 1,245
Short-term recevables EUR mitl 842 659 864
Non-current assets held for sale ELR mill 19 1% 35
Assets total ELR mill 2447 2,084 2144
Shareholders equity and minorty interests EUR mill 854 750 587
Liabalives, total EUR mill 1,593 1,333 1,157
Shareholders’ equity and habilives, total ELR mdl 2447 2,084 2,144
Gross capital expenditure EURmIl 3ag 233 326
Gross capizal expenditure in relavon 10 wurnover % 1889 103 150
Return on equity (ROE) % A27 53 129
Return on capital employed (ROCE) % 84 30 142
Average capital employed EUR mill 1,367 1,179 1,122
Dwidend for the financial year?) ELJR mull 4] 0 32
Earnings/share EUR -081 -0 36 104
Earnings/share adjusted for option nghts {with diluted effect) EUR -0 Bl -036 104
Result / share (number of shares at the end of financial year) EUR -0 81 -036 079
Equity/share EUR 667 587 770
Pmwidend/share" EUR 000 009 025
Diidend/earmings % 00 00 315
Effective dwndend yield % 00 00 31
P/ CEPS -40 52 26
Cash flow/share EUR 09 09 31
P/E rano -4 61 -13 46 779
Equity ratio % 355 69 471
Ner debt-to-equity (Gearing) % 259 -120 225
Adjusted Gearing % B69 651 351
Interest bear: ng debt EUR mill 829 302 318
Liquid funds EURmill 607 392 540
Ner interest bearing debt EUR mill 221 90 -222
- 1n relation to turnover % 120 -40 102
Net financing income {+) / expenses (-} EUR mill -10 5 3
in refation to turnover % 05 02 <01
Nerinterest expenses EUR mull -6 2 S
-0 relation to turnover % 03 01 02
Qperavonal cash flow EUR mall 121 120 302
Operational cash flow in refabion to turmover % 66 53 138
Average number of shares adjusted for the share 1ssue number of 128,136,115 127,969,796 98,032,358
Average number of shares at the end of the financial year {with diluted effect) number of 128,136,115 127,969,796 98,032,358
Number of shares adjusted for the share 1ssue at the end of the inancial year number of 128,136,115 127,969,796 98,032,358
Number of shares at the end of the Anancial year {with diluted effect) nurmber of 128,136,115 127,969,796 98,032,358
Number of shares at the end of the financial year number of 128,136,115 128,136,115 128,136,115
Personnel on average 8,797 9,595 9,480

The number of personnel are averages and adjusted for part-time employees
" The dividend of year 2009 1s a proposal of the Board of Direcrors o the Annual General Meeting
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Calculation of Key Indicators

EBITDAR

Operating profit from operations

Return on equuity mn per cent (ROE)
Capiral employed

Recurn on capital employed
tn per cent {ROCE)

Earnings per share, (euro)

Equuty per share, (euro)

Dividend per earmings in per cent

Effective dividend yteld 1n per cent

P/CEPS

Cash flow per share, (euro)

Price per earnings, P/E

Equity ratio, %

Gearing, %

Adjusted gearing, %

Operating profit + depreciation + arcraft lease rentals

Operating profit excluding capital gamns, farr value changes of
dertvauves and non recurring irems

Result

100
Equiry + minority interests (average of beginming and end of financial year) )

Balance sheer roral - non interest bearing habilitzes

Result before raxes + inrerest and other financral expenses

x 100
Capital employed (average of beginming and end of financial year)

Result for financtal year

Adjusted average number of shares during the financal year

Equuty
Number of shares at the end of the inancial year, adjusted for the share 1ssue

Dividend per share

% 100
Earmmgs per share

Dividend per share
Adjusted share price at the end of the financial year

% 100

Share price at the end of the financial year

Cash flow from operations per share

Cash flow from operanons
Adjusted average number of shares during the financial year

Share price at the end of the financial year

Earntngs per share

Equity + minonity interests
Balance sheet total - advances received

* 100

[nterest bea.rm_g lhiabilities - iquid funds

= 100
Equity + munority interests

Interest bearing debr +7 x annual aircraft leasing payments — hquid funds

% 100
Equity + munority interests
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Consolidated Income Statement

Financial Report

EUR mill 1 Jan-31 Dec 2009 1 Jan-31 Dec 2008 Ncte
Turnover 1,8377 2,255.8 3
Work used for own purposes and capitalized 47 16 6
Other operating mcome 478 271 7
Matenals and services -9215 -1,044 5 8
Employee benefit expense -487 9 -5410 9
Depreciation and imparment -132 8 -110 2 10
Other operaung expenses -472 0 -646 7 N
Operaung profit/loss -124.0 -579
Financial income 89 221 12
Financal expenses -18 7 267 i3
Share of result in associates 01 03 18 |
Profit/loss before taxes -133 7 -62.2
Income taxes 38 161 14
Profit/loss for financial year -1019 -46.1
J
Earnings to shareholders of the parent company -102 0 -46 3 |
Minanty interest 01 02 !
|
Earmings per share calculated from profit attnbutable i
to shareholders of the parent company
Earnings per share (diluted and undiluted) 081 -0 36 15

The notes 1-38 form an essennial part of the finanaal statements
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~ Consolidated Statement of
Comprebensive Income

' of the comprehensive income statement

EUR mil 1 Jan-31 Dec 2009 1 Jan-31 Dec 2008
Profit for the penod -1019 -46 1
Qther comprehensive income items |
Translaton differences 05 01
Change n available-for-sale financial assets after raxes 120 137
Taxes -4 2 48
Change in fair value of hedging instruments after taxes 733 -123 6 |
Taxes -257 434
Other comprehensive incormne items, total 85.8 -137.2
Comprehensive income for the finanaal penod -16 1 -183.3 |
|
Earrungs 1o shareholders of the parent company |
of the comprehensive iIncome staterment -16 2 -1835 |
Earnings to mmority of the parent company .
01 02 |
l

The notes 1-38 form an essential part of the financial starements
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Financial Report

EUR rmll 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008 Note .
ASSETS |
Non-current assets f
Intangible assets 461 481 16 !
Tangible assers 1,469 0 1,272 1 17
Investments in associates companies 83 61 18 !
Recevables 205 215 19 |
Deferred tax recewables 420 577 20
1,585 9 1,405 5
Short-term receivables !
Inventories 368 351 21
Trade recewvables and other recevables 197 5 2318 22 |
Orher financial assets 598 2 3738 23 !
Cash and cash equivalents 92 18 3 24 |
841.7 6590 |
Non-current assets held for sale 194 19 4 5
Assets total 2,447.0 2,083.9 i
SHAREHOLDERS * EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attnbutable to shareholders of parent company
Shareholders “equity 754 754
Other equity 7772 674 0 !
852.6 749.4 i
Minonty interest 09 1.1 |
" Equty, total 853.5 750 5 25 |
' i
Long-term lhabilities
Deferred tax habiliry 991 120 6 20
Interest bearing habidives 637 4 2611 29 °
Pension cbligations 040 61 27 ¢
736.5 387.8
Short-term habilites
Current income tax liabilities 040 15 14
Reserves 730 615 28
Interest beanng liabilives 2018 48 5 29
Trade payables and other habilities 582 2 8341 30
8570 945 6
Liabilities total 1,593.5 1,333 4 |
Shareholders' equity and habilites, total 2,447.0 2,083 9

The notes 1-38 form an essennal part of the financial statements
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

EUR mill

1 }an-31 Dec 2009

1 Jan-31 Dec 2008

Cash flow from operating actiity

Profit/-loss for the financial year -101 ¢ -461
Operauons for which a payment is not included ) 747 174 6 |
Interest and other finanaial expenses 187 267 |
Interest iIncome -8 6 -189 |
Other financial ncome 2 -0 2 -32
Didend income -01 00
Taxes -318 -16 1 !
Changes in working capirtal ‘
Change in trade and other recevables 327 -27
Change in inventories -17 10
Change in accounts payables and other habilives -94 6 -118
' Interest pard 127 -131
Orther financral expenses paid -23 -13
Receved interest icorne 70 15 4
¢ Recewved financial income 02 32
Taxes pad 00 125
. Net cash flow from operating actmties 120 6 120.2
' Cash flow from investing actvity !
. Acquisitions of subsidiaries 00 -32
Investments in intangible assets -94 -127
Investments in tangible assets -3161 -215 3
, Net change of financial interest bearing assers
at fair value through profit or loss * 2791 1831
' Net change of shares classified as available for sale -167 0o
Sales of tangible fixed assets 619 69 0
Recewved dividends g1 00
+ Change in non-current receivables -1 6 -78
Net cash flow from investing activities -560.9 13.1
Cash flow from financing activities
Loan withdrawals 6111 49
Log~ repayments -129 % -500
Hybrid bond 119 4 00
" Purchase of own shares 00 -4 7
Dwidends paid 00 -319
Net cash flow from financing actimity 601 0 -81.7
|
, Change in cash flows -80 5 51.6
Change in iquid funds
! Liquid funds, at the beginning 343 4 2918
! Change in cash flows -80 5 516
Liquid funds, in the end ¥ 262.9 343.4 |

The cash flow statement analyses changes 1n the Group’s cash and cash equivalents during the financial year The cash flow
statement has been divided according to the IAS 7 standard into operating, investing and financing cash flows
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Notes to consohdated cash flow statement:

" Operations for which a payment is not included

EUR aull 2009 2008
Depreciation 1328 110 2
Employee benefits -110 -103 !
Fair value changes of dervauves 555 574 !
Qther adjustments 84 173
Total 747 174.6

* Fair value changes of shares recogmsed at Finanaial assets ac farr value through profit or loss are ehminaced from cash flow from
operating actvities Shares recogmsed at Financial assets at fasr value through profit or loss are wrenused i notes 23 and 32

" Net change of financial interest bearing assets ar fair value through profit or loss maturing after more than 3 months including
changes i fair value

¥ Financial assets include cash and bank equivalents and investments, which have been rold in the separarte accounts of the bal-
ance sheet The balancing of the cash flow financial assecs below

| EUR mill 2009 2008 |
Balance sheet item (short-term)
Other financial assets 598 2 3738

. Cash and bank equivalents 92 18 3
Short-term cash and cash equwvalents in balance sheet 607 4 3921 |
Maturing after more than 3 months -3187 -39 6

' Shares available for sale -258 -9 1

1 Total 262.9 343.4

Cash and cash equivalents encompass cash and bank deposits as well as other highly liquud financial assers whose term to maturity
15 a maximum of three months Such items are e g cernficares of deposits and commeraial papers Balance sheet items are irerused

in notes 21 and 22

The notes 1-38 form an essential part of the financial srarements
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“Consolidated Statement of |

Changes in Equity

Equity attnbutable to shareholders of parent company

Share

Unre-  Transla

Share prermum Bonus Farvalue strcted uon  Retamed Minonty  Hybnd ;
EUR rmull capital  account msue  reserve  equity difference earmings Yotal inzerests bond Toral |
Shareholders’ equity 1 1.2008 754 204 147.7 26.8 2449 -01 4521 9672 1.7 00 968.9
Dmdend payment -319 319 05 -324
Change of minonty 00 03 03 |
Purchase of own shares -47 -47 47 !
Disposal of own shares/ !
Share-based payment expense 23 23 23 |
Shareholders’ equity related |
to owners 31 12 2008 754 204 1477 268 2472 -01 4155 9329 09 00 9338 |
Statement of comprehensive income i
Cash flow hedges 00 |
Fair value change of hedging instruments -215 4 215 4 -215 4
' Fairvalue change of hedging
instruments, net of raxow« 20 561 561 561
' Recognised in income starement ™o« 2% 517 517 s17
,  Nert of tax from Recognised
. inIncome statement ("= 20} -134 -13 4 -13 4 1
' Recogmised in balance sheet -34 -34 -3 4
" Net of tax from Recogrused
. in balance sheet (=20 09 09 09
Change of fair value in available-for-sale financial assets -18 5 -18 & -185 |
Net of tax of change of fair value in
. avallable-for-sale financial assets 48 48 48
Translanion difference 00 00 00
Profit for the period -463 -46 3 02 461 |
. Comprehensive income for
the financial period 00 00 00 -1373 00 01 -463 -183 5 02 00 -1833
Shareholders equity 31 12 2008 754 20.4 147.7 -110.5 247.2 0.0 3692 749.4 11 00 750.5 1

The notes 1-38 form an essential part of the financial statements
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Equity artnbutable to shareholders of parent company

Share Unre- Transla-
Share premium Bonus Farvalue  stmcred won  Retaned Minonty  Hybnd
EUR mill capital  account ssue  reserve  equity difference  earmings Total nterests bond Total
Shareholders’ equity 1 1.2009 75.4 20.4 1477 -110.5 247.2 0.0 3692 749 4 11 00 7505
Dividend payment 00 00 -03 -03
Change of minonty 00 00 00
Purchase of own shares 00 00 00
Disposal of own shares/
Share-based payment expense 00 00 00
Shareholders’ equity related
o owners 31 12 2009 754 204 1477 -1105 2472 00 3692 7494 08 00 7502
Hybnd bond 00 1194 1194
Staternent of comprehensive income I
Cash flow hedges 00 !
Fair value change of hedging instruments 1730 1730 1730
Fair value change of hedging
instruments, net of tax o9 -45 0 -450 -45 0
Recogrised in income statement (*o* %) 740 -740 740 |
Net of tax from Recogrused in I
rncome statement o 20 192 19 2 192 i
Recogrised in balance sheet 02 02 02 !
Net of tax from Recogrised i
In balance sheet!™= " -01 01 01
Change of fair value in available-for-sale financial assets 16 2 16 2 162 |
Net of rax of change of fair value in
available-for-sale financial assets -4 2 -42 42
Translagon difference 05 05 05 |
. Profit for the penod 1020 1020 01 EERE
Comprehensive income for
the financial penod 00 00 00 853 00 G5 -1020 -162 01 00 -161
Shareholders equity 31.12 2009 754 204 1477 -252 2472 0.5 267.2 7332 0.9 1194 B53.5
Equity attnbutable to shareholders of parent company !
Share Unre-  Transta !
Share premum  Bonus Farrvalue  stncted ton  Retaned Minonty  Hybnd
EUR mill capital  account issue  reserve equity difference  earnings Total interests bond Toral |
Shareholders’ equity 1.1 2008 754 204 1477 268 2449 -01 470.2 9853 1.7 0.0 9870 .
Change of aceounting |
principle (IFRIC 13) 181 <181 00 00 -181 !
Adjusted equity 11 2008 754 204 1477 26.8 2449 -01 4521 9672 1.7 0.0 9689

The notes 1-38 form an essenual part of the financial statements
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BASIC INFORMATION ABOUT
THE COMPANY

The Finnair Group engages in worldwide air transport opera-
uons and suppornng services The Group’s operations are
divided 1nito the Scheduled Passenger TrafTic, Leisure Traf-
fic, Avianion Services and Travel Services business areas The
Group’s parent company 1s Finnair Plc, which isdormiciled in
Helsinks at the registered address Tierore 11 A, Vanraa. The
parent company is isted on the Helsinki Stock Exchanges The
Board of Dhrectors of Finnair Plc has approved these finan-
cial stacements for publication ar 1ts meeting on 4 February
2010 Under Finland’s Compantes Acr, shareholders have the
opuon to accept oz reject the financial statements 1n a meeting
of shareholders, which wili be held after the publication of
the financial starements

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The accounung principles of the consolidared financial stare-
ments are presented below The accounnng principles have
been followed 1n the periods presented in the consohidated
financial staternents unless otherwise stared

Bass of preparation
Finnair Plc’s consolidated financial statements for 2009 have
been prepared according to the International Financial Re-
porung Standards {({FRS) and 1n their preparation the 1AS and
IFRS standards as weil as the SIC and IFRIC interpretations in
effect on 31 December 2009 have been followed By Interna-
nonal Financial Reporung Standards 1s meant the standards
accepred for apphcationin the EU and interpretations issued
about them 1n accordance with the procedure laid down in
Finrush law and provisions 1ssued by virtue chereof in the EU
Regulanon (EC) No 1606/2002 The notes to the consolidat-
ed Ainancial staternents also comply with Finnish accountng
and corporare law

The 2009 consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared based on enginal acquisition costs, except for financial
assets recogmisable chrough profit and loss at fair value, finan-
cial assets which are avallable-for-sale, and derivative contracts,
which have been valued at fair value Financial statement dara
1s presented in mullions of euros, rounded to the nearest one
hundred thousand euros

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with
IFRS standards requires Group management ro make certain
estumates and to exercise discretion in applying the account-
ing principles Informarion abour the discrerton exercised by
management in applying the accounning prinaples followed
by the Group and that which has most impact on the figures
presented 1n the financial statements has been presentedin the
1tem “ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES THAT REQUIRE MAN-
AGEMENT DISCRETION AND MAIN UNCERTAINTY FAC-
TORS RELATING TO ESTIMATES”

Notes to the Financial Statements

Principles of consolidation

SUBSIDIARIES
Finnair Plc’s consolidared financial statements include che
parent company Finnair Plc and all us subsidianies As sub-
sidiaries are deemed ro be those companies in which the par-
ent company directly orindirectly owns more than 50% of the
votes or in which tr otherwise exeraises the nghrto determine
the company’s financial and business policies in order to ben-
efit from 1ts activities

The book value of shares in undertakings included in consol-
idation has been eliminated using the acquisinion cost method
Subsidiaries that have been acquired are consolidared from
the date on which the Group has acquired control, and sub-
sicharies that have been disposed of are no longer consolidat-
ed from the date that control ceases All of the Group’s inrer-
nal transactions, recetvables, habilinies and unrealised gains
as well as internal distribution of profit are eiminated n the
consolidated financial statements Unrealised losses are not
eliminated in the event that a loss results from impairment
The financial statements of subsidtaries have been amended
to correspond with the accounting principles 1n use within
the Group

ASSOCIATED UNDERTAKINGS
Associated undertakings are undertakings in which the Group
generally has 20-50% of the votes or in which the Group has sig-
muficant influence bur in which 1t does nor exercise control
Holdings in associated undertakings have been included in
the consolidated financial stacements by the equity method
The Group’s share of earnings after the ume of acquisition 1s
recognised in the ncome statement If the Group's share of
the loss of an associated undertaking exceeds the book value of
the investment, the investment 15 entered in the balance sheer
at zero value unless the Group has incurred obligations on be-
half of the associated undertaking Unrealised gains berween
the Group and associated undertakings have been elimtnated
to the extent of the Group's holding The Group's share of an
assoctated underraking includes goodwill anising from its ac-
quisittont Associared undertakings’ financial statements have
been converted to correspond with the accounting principles
m use in the Group

MINORITY INTEREST AND TRANSACTIONS
WITH MINORITY
Minornity interest 1s presented 1n the balance sheer separately
from habilines and the parent company’s shareholders’ equury
as its own 1eem as part of shareholders’ equuty In the income
statement 1s presented che distnibunon of profit for the finan-
cial year to the parent company’s shareholders and minonry
ncerest Minority interest of accrued losses are recogmised in
the consolidated financial starements up ro a maximum of
the amount of the mvestment

The Group applies the same accounting principles ro trans-
actions made with minonnes as with shareholders Inacqusi-
vons of munority interests, the difference berween acquisiion
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cost and the acquired equiry ts recognised directly tn share-
holders’ equity

Translation of foreign currency stems
Items included m each subsidiary’s inancial statements are
valued 1n the foreign currency thar i1s the man currency of
operanng environment of each subsidary (“operanional cur-
rency”) The consolidared financral statements have been pre-
sented 1n euros, which 1s the parent company’s operational
and presentation currency

Monetary items denominaced in foreign currency have been
translated into the operanng currency using the mid-markec
exchange rates on the closing date Advance payments made
and received are entered at the exchange rate of the operatung
currency on the dare of payment Non-monetary items have
been translated into the operaning currency using the exchange
rate on the date of the transacnion  Translacion differences on
operations are included in the income statement’s operating
profir, and translation differences on foreign currency loans
are included in financial items

The tncome statements of foreign substdiaries have been
cranslated into euros using the exchange races on dare of oc-
caston Balance sheets of foreigm subsidianes have been trans-
lated 1into euros using the exchange rartes on the closing dace
Translation differences of shareholders’ equity items arising
from eliminations of the acquisition cost of foreign subsidi-
ares are recogmsed 1n shareholders’ equity When a foreign
subsidiary s sold, these translation differences are recogmsed
tn the income statement as part of the overall profic or loss
ansing from the sale Translation differences thar have arisen
since the IFRS rransition date are presented as a separate itemn
in shareholder’s equipment when preparing the consolidared
financial statements

Goodwill arising from foreign acquisitions 1s treated as a
foreign exchange asset of the foreign umt and 1s translated tnto
curos using the exchange rate on the closing date

Derivative contracts and bedge accounting
According to its financial policy, the Finnawr Group uses foreign
exchange, interest rate and commodity derivatves to reduce
the exchange rate, interest rare and commodity risks which
arise from 1ts balance sheet items, foreign exchange purchase
contracts, anucipated purchases and sales as well as future
jet fuel purchases

The derivatives are recognised at the cume they are made in
the balance sheet ar original acquisiiion cost and are subse-
quently valued at fair value 1n each financial statement and
tntenim report Gains and losses arising from changes in the
fair value are presented in the financial statements according
to the original classification of the derivauve Gains and loss-
es on dervatives qualifying for hedge accountung are recog-
nised 1n accordance with the underlying asset being hedged
Dervative contracts are designated at inception as hedges for
future cash flows and binding purchase contracts (cash flow
hedges or fair value hedges) or as derivatives not meening the
hedge accounung enitenia or to winch hedge accounting 1
not applied (economic hedges) Hedging of the fair value of

Financial Report

the net investment of foreign units or embedded derivatives
have not been used

At the mceprion of hedge accounung, cthe Finnair Group
documents the relanonship berween the hedged stem and the
hedging instrument as well as the Group’s risk managerment
objectives and the strategy for the inception of hedging The
Group documents and assesses, at the inception of hedging
and at least 1n connectuon with each financial statemencs, the
effectiveness of hedge relanionships by examining the capacity
of the hedging instrument to offset changes in the fair value
of the hedged 1cem or changes in cash flows The values of de-
rivativesin a hedging relationship are presenred in the balance
sheet item short-term financial asser and habilines

The Finnair Group implements in accordance with 1AS 39
hedge accounting principles the hedging of furure cash flows
(cash flow hedging) in terms of the price and foreign curren-
cy risk of jet fuels as well as foreign currency hedging of lease
payments and aircraft purchases

Farr value hedging 1s implemented in Finnair in respect of
firm orders for new Airbus aircrafts These binding purchase
agreements are treared under IAS 39 as firm commirments
whose fair value changes of hedged part ansing from foreign
currency movements 1s recogmsed wn the balance sheer as an
asset 1tem and any corresponding gains or losses recognised
through profitand loss Similarly the fair value of instruments
hedging these purchases are presented in the balance sheet as
a hiability or recewvable and the change in fair value 15 recog-
rused through profic and loss

The change in the fair value of effective pornon of derva-
tive instruments that fulfil the terms of cash flow hedgng are
entered directly in a fair value reserve in equity to the extent
that the requirements for the applicanon of hedge account-
ing have been fulfilled The gains and losses recogmsed in eq-
uity are rransferred to the income statement in the period in
which the hedged item 15 entered 1n the iIncome sratement
When an instrument acqured for the hedging of cash flow
matures or1s sold or when the critena for hedge accounting
are no longer fulfilled, the gamn or loss accrued from hedging
instruments remain 1n equity untl the forecast transacton
takes place However, 1f the forecast hedged rransaction is not
longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accrued tn equity 1s
released immediately to the income starement

The effectiveness of hedging ts tested on a quarterly basis
The effective portion of hedging 1s recogmised in the fair value
reserve of shareholders’ equity, from which 1t1s transferred to
income statement when the hedged item 15 realised or, 1n terms
of ivesrments, as an acquisition cost adjustment

To hedge the interest rate and foreign exchange nisks of for-
eign currency loans the Finnair Group uses foreign exchange
and 1nrerest-rate swap contracts The translation difference
ansing from foreign exchange and interest-rate swap contracts
that fulfil the condinions of hedge accounnng s recognised
concurrently againsr the translanion difference arising from
the loan, while other changes 1n fair value are recognised 1n
terms of the effective portion 1n the fair value reserve of share-
holders’ equity Interest income and expenses are recogmsed
in financial income and expenses
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The Frnnair Group concludes jet fuel swaps (forward con-
tracts) and options 1n order to even out future price fluctua-
tions in jet fuel purchases Changes in the fair value of jet fuel
hedging dervarives are recognised directly in the fair value re-
serve tn respect of dervatives defined as cash-flow hedges that
fulfil the requirements of IAS 39 hedge accounung Accrued
gamns and losses on dervatives recogmsed 1n shareholders’
equuty are recogmsed 1n the inmcome statement as tncome or
expenses for the financial period 1n which the hedged trem 1s
recognised 1n the income sratement 1f a forecasted cash flow
15 no longer expected to occur, the accrued gamns and losses
reported 1n che shareholder’s equity are presented directly as
other mcome and expenses for the financial period Changes
in the fair value of derivative conrracts, (n so far as the IAS
39 hedge accounting critera are not fulfilled, are presented
mn other operating mncome and expenses during their term
O marurity

The change in the fair value of dervatives not qualifying for
hedge accounung and which are arranged to hedge operational
cash flow are recogmsed 1n the income statement rem other
operaung expenses Changes in the fair value of interest race
denvantives not qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised
in the income statement’s financial income and expenses

Principle of revenue recognition
Revenue from services 15 recogmsed as revenue in the finan-
aal period in which the services are provided for the customer
Revenue from the sale of goods 13 recogmised when sigmficant
risks and rewards of owning the goods are transferred to the
buyer In such cases the Group has no longer any supervision
of control over the products

Airhine Business sales are recognised as revenue when the
fhight 1s flown 1n accordance with the flight traffic programme
The recogmuon as revenue of unused flight tckets 1s based
on the expiry dates of the tickets

Finnarr Plus ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes' transactions
will recognize according to the IFRIC 13 The interpretanion
clanfies that where goods or services are sold together with
a customer loyalty incentive, the arrangement 1s a mulciple-
element arrangement and the consideranion recewvable from
the customer 1s allocated between the components of the ar-
rangement using fair values

Aviation Services’ sales are recogmsed as revenue when the
service 1s completely performed Travel Servaces’ sales are rec-
ognised as revenue when the service has been conveyed. Dus-
counts granted and idirect taxes, among other things, are
deducred from sales as adjustment stems

Interest income

Interest income 15 recogrused on a nme-proportion basis us-
g the effective interest method When a recewvable 1s 1m-
paired, the Group reduces the carrying amount 1o its recover-
able amount, being the esumared furure cash flow discounted
at the onginal effective 1nterest of the instrument, and con-
unues unwinding the discounr as interest income Interest
mcome on unpaired loans is recognised using the orniginal
effective interest rate

Dundend mcome
Dwidend income 1s recogrused when the company has acquured
a legal righr ro receive the dividends

Operating profit

ThelAS 1 Presentanion of Financtal Statements standard does
not define the concepr ‘operating profit’ The Group has de-
fined 1t as follows operating profirts the ner sum thacis formed
from turnover plus other operating tncome, less purchase costs
adjusred by change in inventories of work in progress as well
as costs arsing from production for own use, less costs, de-
prectation and possible impairment losses arising from em-
ployee benefits as well as other operating expenses All income
statement ttems other than chose mentioned above are pre-
sented below the operaung profit Translanon differences and
changes 1n fair values of derivatives are included 1n operanng
profit if they arise from 1tems relared ro business operanions,
otherwise they are recogmsed in financial items

Income taxes
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax Tax is recogrised 1n the income statement, except to the
extent that 1t relates to 1tems recogmised directly in equuty In
thus case, the tax 1s also recogmised in equity

A deferred tax hability or asset 1s calculated for all tempo-
rary dsyfferences between accounting and taxanon using the
tax rates prescribed at the closing date

The largest temporary differences arise from sales of tang-
ble assers, depreciation, revaluaucns of derivatve contracts,
defined-benefit pension schemes, unused tax losses, and val-
uarions at fair value made in connection with acquisiuons
Deferred tax 1s not recognised for subsidiaries’ undistribured
earnings where 1t 1s probable thar the difference will not re-
verse 1n the foreseeable future

A deferred rax asser is recognised to rhe exrent thar it will
probably be available to taxable profir of future financial years,
against which the deductible temporary difference can be ut-
hised

The Group’s main business takes place in Finland Taxes
based on raxable income for the financial year have been cal-
culated with a tax rate of 26 per cent Taxes based on the rax-
able income of foreign subsidiaries for the financial year have
been calculated at tax rates of 0 - 26 per cent

Public grants

Public grants, for example government aid for simulator tratn-
ing, has been recogrused in other operating income Public
grants that the Group may recewve, for example, for fixed as-
set acquusinons are recognised as a reducnion in onginal ac-
qusition cost Grants are recogrised in the form of smaller
depreciations over the useful life of the asset The Group has
not recerved during the financial year or the companison pe-
rtod any public grants for fixed asser acquisitions

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are recognised 1n the balance sheet when
the financial benefitis longer than one year, in acquisition cost,
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including the direct costs arising from the acquisinon Tang-

ble fixed assets are valued at original acquisition cost less ac-

cumulated depreciation and write-downs
Atrcraft and their engines as well as flight simulators are
depreciated on a straighe-line basis over their expecred useful

Iives The acquisition cost of aircraft 1s allocared ro the amr-

craft fuselage, engines and heavy maintenance and these are

depreciated as separate assets Residual value deprectarions
or straight-line basis over their expected useful lives are made
for buildings and residual value depreciations for other fixed
assets Land areas are not depreciared

Other equipment 1ncludes office equipment, furnishings,
cars and transportation vehscles used at airports

Deprecianon 1s calculated using the following prinaples,
depending on the type of asset

+ Buldings, 50 vears from time of acquistion toa

restdual value of 10% or 3-7 % of expenditure residue

Anteraft and their engines on a strasght-line basis as

follows

- Awrbus A320 famuly arrcraft, over 20 years to a residual
value of 10%

- Embraer fleet aircraft, over 20 vears to a residual value
of 10%

- New A330 fanuly arrcraft, over 18 years ro a residual
value of 10%

- New A340 farmuly arrcraft, over 15 years to a residual
value of 10%

- Used jet aircraft more than six years old, over 10 years
to a restdual value of 10%

- New turboprop aircraft, over 12 years to a residual
value of 10%

- Turboprop aircraft acquired as used, over 10 yearstoa
restdual value of 10%

- Arrcraft to be withdrawn from use, fully on a scraighe-
line basis according to their useful hfe outlined in the
fleer modermusation plan

* Heavy mamtenance of aircraft, on a siraighe-hne basis
during the maintenance period

* Embraer components, over 20 vears to a residual
value of 10%

+ Arrbus components, vver 13 years to a residual value

of 10%

Fhight ssmulators are depreciated as per the

corresponding type of arcraft

 Depreciauan of other tangible fixed assets, 23% of the

undepreaiated residual value

The residual values and estimated useful Lives of assets are

adjusted at each closing date and 1f they differ significantly

from previous estmates, the deprecianion periods and residual
values are changed accordingly

Crdinary repair and mamtenance expendrrure 1s recogmsed

as an expense in the financial period in which itanses Expendi-

ture of modermisanon and improvement projects that are sig-

nificant in size (mainly aircraft modifications) are capicahised

n the balance sheet 1f 1t 15 probable thar an addirional finan-

cial reward will arise to the Group in future Modermsation

and improvement projects are depreciated on a straight-line
basts over therr expected useful lives The carryingamount of
the replaced part 1s derecogmsed

Financaial Reporc

Depreciation of a tangible fixed asset 1s discontinued when
the tangible fixed asser 1s classified as being held for sale in ac-
cordance with IFRS § scandard Non-Current Assets Held for
Sale and Disconninued Operations

Gains arsing from the disposal and withdrawal from use
of tangible fixed assets are included in the income statement
in the item other operating income, and losses in the ttem
other operatng expenses

Intangible assets

Intangible fixed assets are recogrused in the balance sheer,
when the financial benefit1s longer than one year, ar acquisi-
uon cost, including the direct costs ansing from the acqui-
simon Depreciation and impatrment of intangible assets are
based on the following expected economic lifetimes

Gaoodwill impairment testng
Computer programs 3-8 years
Other intangible assets,

depending on their nature 3-10 years

GOODWILL
Goodwill corresponds to the portion of acquisition costs that
exceeds the Group’s share of the fair value of the net assets at
the tme of acquisiion of the subsidiary, associared under-
taking or joint venture

Goodwill 1s tested annually for possible impairment For
this purpose goodwill has been allocated o cash generating
units  Annual impairment testing 1s performed on the basis
of discounred cash flows This method 1s based on expected
cash flows thar have been updared by revenue growth rare
and the cost of capital If the present value of the expecred fu-
ture operanonal cash flow of some business operarion 1s low-
er than the corresponding balance sheet value that includes
goodwill, the impairment 1s recognsed as an expense i the
Income statement

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE
Research and development on awrcraft, systems and opera-
tions 15 conducted primarly by the manufacturers Research
and product development expenditure relating ro marketing
and customer service 1s recognised as an expense at the nime
arwhich it1sincurred because the capiralizacion criterion will
notfill Expensesare included in the consolidated income staze-
ment 1n a cost 1tem according to the nature of the expense
Development expenditure is recognised in the balance sheet
as an intangible asset when 1t 1s probable that the develop-
ment project will succeed both commercrally and rechnucaily
and the project expenses can be reliably assessed The Group
has no capitalisable development expenditure

COMPUTER SOFTWARE

Computer software maintenance costs and expendature on the
research stage of software projecrs are recognised as expenses
at the time they are incurred Software projects’ mnor devel-
opment costs, moreover, atre not capitalised, they are recog-
nised as an expense
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User rights and licences acquired for IT software are pre-
sented 1n the caregory intangible rights and 1n other respects
i otherintangible assets Acquired user nghis and licences are
entered 1n the balance sheet ar acquusition cost, plus the costs
of making the Licence and software ready for use Capiralised
expenses are depreciated over a useful hfe of 3 - 8 years

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Ocher intangible assets, such as e g patents, trademarks and
licences, are valued at acquisition cost less recogrused depre-
ciation and impawrment Intangible assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over 3-10 years

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISPOSAL
GROUPS
Non-current assets or asset groups and their related liabili-
ties (disposal groups) thar have a high probability of being
sold within a year of classificarion are classified as assers held
for sale

Immediately before classificacion, assets held for sale or as-
sets and ltabilinies of disposal groups are valued according to
the IFRS standards applicable to them From the moment
of classification, assets held for sale (or disposal groups) are
valued ar the lower of the carrying amount or ther fair value
less cost of sale Depreciation of these assers s discontinued
at the moment of classification

Lease agreements

THE GROUP IS THE LESSEE
Tangible fixed asset lease agreements where a substannal part
of the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
Group are classified as finance leases The asset item acquured
with a finance lease 1s entered at the start of the agreement
as an asset 1n the balance sheet ar the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value of the mmmimum
lease payments A corresponding sum 1s recogrused as a fi-
nancial asset The lease payments payable are allocared be-
tween firance experses and debr reduction The correspond-
mng rental obligations, ner of finance charges, are included in
other long-term interest-bearing liabilities Financing inver-
est1s recogrused in the tncome statement during the lease so
as to achteve a constant interest rate on the finance balance
outstanding in each financial period. Asset items leased under
a finance lease are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s
useful hife and the term of the lease

Tangible fixed asset-related lease agreements where a sub-
stantial part of the risks and rewards of ownershap are retamed
by the lessor are classified as other leases Payments made un-
der other leases are charged to the income statement over the
term of the lease

The operaung lease liabilities under other leases of Fin-
nair Group atrcraft have been treared as rental expenses in
the income statement Lease payments due in furure years
under agreements are presented in the notes to the financial
statements

Impairment
On every clostng date the Group reviews asset items for any
indication of impairment losses If thete are such indicanions,
the amount recoverable from the said asset 1rem 15 assessed.
The recoverable amount s also assessed for the following asser
wems irrespective of whether chere are indicanions of impair-
ment goodwilland intangible assets which have an indefinite
useful ife The need for imparrment s examuned on the cash
generaung umt level

The recoverable amount 1s the higher of the asset 1tem’s
fair value, less the cost ansing from disposal, and 1cs value
in use By value int use 1s meant the expected future net cash
flows obtainable from the said asset 1tem or cash generanng
unit, discounted to their present value The value of the re-
coverable amount of financial assets 1s either the fair value
or the present value of expecred furure cash flows discount-
ed at the ongnal effective interest rate An impairment loss
1s recogmsed when the carrying amount of an asset item 15
greater than the recoverable amount The impairmenc loss 1s
recogmsed 1n the iIncome statement The impairment loss 1s
reversed :f a change in conditons has occurred and the recov-
erable amount of the asser has changed since the dave when
the impairment loss was recognised The impairment loss 15
not reversed, however, by more than that which the carrying
amount of the asset would be withour the recogmruion of the
imparrment loss Imparrment losses recogmsed for goodwill
are not cancelled under any circumsrances, neicher are impair-
ment losses on equity investments classified as available for
sale financial assets cancelled through profit and loss From
recetvables included according to IAS 39 in the allocated ac-
GuISIELON price, inferest income 1 recovered after imparrment
using the interest rate that has been used as rhe discount rate
when caleulanng the tmpatrment

Inventortes
Inventories are asset items that are intended for sale in the nor-
mal course of business, are handled 1n the producuon process
forsale or are raw materials or supplies intended for consump-
ron in the production process

Inventories are valued at the lower of their acquisttion cost
and probable net realisable value Acquusttion cost 1s deter-
muned using the average cost method The acquisition cost
of inventories includes all acquisinon-relared costs, produc-
tton costs and other costs that have arisen from the transfer
of the tnventory item to the locanon and space where theitem
ts situated art the me of inspection The production costs
of inventores also include a systemaucally allocated propor-
tion of variable and fixed production overheads Net realisa-
ble value 1s the esnmated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less the costs required to complete the product
and selling expenses

Trade recervables

In trade recervables are recognised assets received on an ac-
crual basis for the products and services of the company’s
operations Trade receivables are recognised iminially at farr
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value and subsequently measured ar amornsed cost using the
effective interest method

When the Group has objective evidence thacuncertaincy 1s
artached to the collection of trade recesvables, then chey are
valued ar their lower probable fair value Public financial prob-
lems thar indicare that a customer 15 going into bankruprcy,
sigmficant financial restructuring or substancial delays in pay-
ments are examples of objecnive emdence chat might cause trade
recervables to be valued ac probable fair value Imparrment of
trade recervables 1s recognised 1n other operaring expenses

Trade receivables denominated 1n foreign currency are val-
ued art the exchange rate on the closing date

Expences of habihities
Expenses of habilities are matnly recognized in income state-
menr art the period when they are occurred

The amendment of IAS 23 (Revised) standard requires char
the borrowing costs directly artriburable to the acquisitton,
construction or production of a qualifying asset shall be cap-
1talized as part of the cost of the asser These costs wall not
recognize as an expense tmmediarely The standard changes
the Group’s accounting policy and after 1 January 2009 che
Group capitalises borrowing costs directly actnbutable to a
quahfying asset Such Borrowing Costs are expected to be most
it the Airline Business segment

LOANS
Initially loans are valued ar ther fair value Loans tharare due
for payment within 12 months are presented in short-term li-
abilities Foreign currency loans are valued at che mid-market
exchange rate on the closing date and translanion differences
are recognised in financial wems

The Group’s fixed-interest USD-denommated arrcraft f-
nancing loans have been hedged with long-term cross cur-
rency tnterest rate swaps Fixed-interest derivative contracts
and their correspondtng loans form a hedging relanonship
The dervanve contracts in question are valued ac farr value
Change of fair value 1s recognised in the shareholder’s equuty
fair value reserve Correspondingly, loans in the hedging rela-
nonship are valued at the allocated acquisition cost

Other USD-denominated loans and cheir corresponding
variable interest derivanive contracts are valued ar fair value,
and the change 1n fair value 1s recogmised in the sncome state-
ment’s financial 1tems Euro-denominated loans and bonds
are valued at allocated acquisition cost

Financial assets and financial liabilitres

In che Group, financial assets have been classified according
to the IAS 39 srandard “Financial Instruments Recogmnion
and Valuanon” into the following categories financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (assets held for trading),
held-to-maturity investments, loans and other recevables, as
well as available-for-sate financial assees The classificanon 1s
made on the basis of the purpose of the acquisirion of the
financial assets in connection wich the original acquisition
All purchases and sales of financial assets ate recogrsed on
the trade date

Financial Report

The financial asset category recognised at fair value through
profit orloss includes assets held for trading purposes and as-
sets measured at far value through profic or loss on inital rec-
ognition Financial assets at fair value through profir and loss
have mamly been acquired to obtamn a gain from shore-rerm
changesn market prices All those dervarives thardo not ful-
fil the conditions for the apphication of hedge accounting are
classified as Financial assets at fair value through profir and
loss and are valued 1n each financial statement at fair value
Realised and unrealised gasns and losses anising from changes
1 faur value are recogrused 1in the income statement (either in
other operating income and expenses orn financial iems}) in
the period 1n which they arise Financial assets at fair value
through profic and loss as well as those maturing withun 12
moncths are included 1n current assets

Held-te-matunty investments are financial assets not belong-
1ng to denvative contracts which mature on a specified date
and which 2 company has the firm 1ntenr and abidicy ro hold
to marurity They are valued at allocared acquistion cost and
they are included in long-term assers On the closing date the
Group had no assets belonging to the said group

Investments which do not have a maturicy date and whose
dare of sales has not been decided are classified as available-
for-sale financial assets Avatlable-for-sale financial assets are
presented in the balance sheerin non-current financial assets
A change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assers
1s recogmsed 1n the shareholders’ equity fair value reserve,
from which 1t 1s cransferred to the income statement in con-
necrion with a sale

Finnatr Group assesses on each closing date whether there
1s any objective evidence thart the value of a financial asser irem
or group of irtems has been impaired If there 1s objective evi-
dence thatan impairment loss has ansen for loans and other
recetvables encered at allocated acquisition cost 1n the balance
sheer or for held-to-maturity investments, the size of the loss s
determuned as the difference the book value of the asset item
and the present value of expected future cash flows of the said
financial asset 1tem discounted at the original effecuve interest
rate The loss s recogmsed through profir and loss

Financial habilities are recognised ar fair value on the ba-
s1s of the oniginal consideranon recewved Transacuions costs
have been included 1n the onginal carrying amount of the fi-
nancial liabilities Later, all financtal liabilivies are valued at
allocated acquisinion cost using the effective yield method
or at fair value through profir or loss Financial habilities are
mncluded in long- and short-rerm habihities and they can be
nrerest-bearing or non-interest-bearing

Unquoted shares are valued 1n the Finnair Group at their
acquisitton price in the absence of a rekable faur value

Loan recewvables and other receivables are recogmsed atam-
ortised cost using the effective interest method Loans and
other recervables include rrade receivables, deferred charges,
other long term receivables and secunty deposits for aircraft
operational lease agreements,

Trade payables ate recogrused intnally ac fair value and sub-
sequently measured at amornised cost using the effectve 1n-
rerest method




Derecogmtion of finanaal habilities takes place when Group
has filled the conrractual obliganons

Derecogmuion of financial assets takes place when the Group
has lost a contractual right to recewve the cash flows or when
1t has rransferred substantially the risks and rewards ourside
the Group

Faur vatues of financial habilinies are based to discounted cash
flows Interest rate arises from risk free portion and company
tisk premuum Fair value of Finance lease contracts s evalu-
ated by discounting cash flows wath interesr, which complies
with interest frem other simtlar lease contracts Other than
derivanve recetvables are in balance sheer ar cheir original val-
ue, because discounting them 1s irrelevant considering short
matutity Accounts payable and other loans are recognised at
their onginal value, because discounting them 1s irrelevant
considening short matunity

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents constst of cash reserves and short-
term bank deposits whose term to maturity 1s a maximum
of three months Foreign exchange-denominared tcems have
been converted into euros using the mid-marker exchange
rates on the closing date

Dertative nstruments
Denivative instruments are valued 1n the balance sheet at fair
value, which 1s deterrmuned as the value at which the instru-
ment could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing and
independent parties, with no compulston 1n the sales situ-
anon to sell or buy The fair values of derivauves are deter-
mmuned as follows

The farr values of all derivarives are calculared using the ex-
change rates, interest rates, volatilirtes and commodity price
quotanons on the closing date The fair values of currency
forward contracts are calculated at the present value of fu-
ture cash flows The fatr values of currency opuions are calcu-
lared using generally accepred opuon valuation models The
farr values of interest rate swap contracts are calculared ar
the present value of furure cash flows The fair values of 1n-
terest rate and currency swap contracts are calculated at the
present value of future cash flows The fair values of incerest
rate opuions are calculared using generally accepred option
valuation models The fair values of commodity contracts are
calculated ar the present value of future cash flows The fair
values of options are calculated using generally accepted op-
uon valuanion models

Shareholders’ equ:ty
The nominal value of shares has been recognised in the share
capital before an amendment ro the Articles of Associanion
registered on 22 March 2007

Share 1ssue gamns thar arose tn 1997-2006 have been recog-
rused in the share premium account, less transacnion expenses,
reduced by tax effect, relating to increases in share capiral Ad-
ditionatly, costs of the company’s share-based payments are rec-
ogmsed 1n the share prermium account as per the IFRS 2 stand-
ard Posstble gains from the sale of treasury shares, reduced by

tax effect, have been recognised 1n the share premium account
before the new Companies Act came into effect on 1 Seprem-
ber 2006 Gains from the sale of treasury shares char cake place
after the change in legislarion are recognised, reduced by tax
effec, 1n the invested unrestricted equity fund

The share 1ssue gain from the 2007 share issue, less trans-
action expenses, has been recogrused in the invested unre-
stricted equity fund.

Gains from share 1ssues arising before 1997 have been rec-
ogmised in the general reserve

The fair value teserve includes changes tn che fair value of
dervative instruments used 1n cash-flow hedging, less deferred
taxes and presented in the consolidared statement of compre-
henstve income

Retained earnings include profic from previous financal
years, less dvidends distributed and acquisiuions of own shares
In connection with the sale of own shares (treasury srock)
the original acquisition cost is rerurned to recained earmings
Under the IAS 8 standard, changes in accounung principles
and errors are also recogmised in the results of previous fi-
nancial years

The transfauon differences are the exchange rates in con-
nection of consolidation of the foreign compantes and the
will presented in the consohidated statement of comprehen-
sive Income

Ahybnd bond on equity terms1s recogrused 1n shareholders”
equury (after equuty belonging to shareholders) The bond has
no maturity date, but the company has the night to redeem1c 4
years after the dare of 1ssue The hybrid bond 1s unsecured and
15 in a weaker preference position than promssory notes Its
preference postuion 1s, however, better than other items listed
in the company’s shareholders’ equity A holder of a hybrid
bond note has no shareholder rnighes, nor does the bond di-
lure the ownership of the company’s shareholders The bond
1s entered originally 1n the accounts at fair value Transac-
tions expenses have been tncluded n the original carrying
amount of the bond.

Dividend
The dsvidend lLiabiliry to the company’s shareholders 1s rec-
ogrnised as a hiability in the consclidated financial statements
when a meenng of shareholders has dectded on the dividend
distribution

Treasury stock (own shares)

When the company have acquired 1ts own shares or subsidiar-
1es have acquired the parent company shares, the company’s
shareholders’ equity 1s deducted by an amount consisting of
the consideration paid less transacnion costs after raxes un-
less the own shares are cancelled. No gain or loss 1s entered in
the itncome statement for the sale, 1ssue or cancellation of own
shares, the consideration received 1s presented as a change of
shareholders’ equity
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Employee benefits

PENSION LIABILITIES
Pension schemes are classified as defined-benefit and defined-
contribution schemes Payments made into defined-contribu-
tion penston schemes are recogmsed tn the income statement
i the pertod to which the paymencapplies In defined-benefic
pension schemes, obligations are calculared using the projected
umt crechit method Pension expenses are recognised as an ex-
pense over the employees’ period of service based on calcula-
nons made by authorised actuaries Acruanal gains and losses
are recogrused in the income statement over the employees’
average remaining term of service to the extent that they ex-
ceed the greater of the following 10% of pension obligarions
or 10% of the fair value of assets When calculaning the present
value of pension obligations che interest rare on government
securtties 1s used as the discount rate The terms to matunity
of government securities approximate to the terms to matu-
rity of the related pension habihities

The Group’s foreign sales offices and subsidiaries have van-
ous pension schemes that comply with the local rules and prac-
fices of the countries in question All of the most significant
penston schemes are defined-contribution schemes The stat-
utory pension cover of the employees of the Group’s Finnish
companies has been handled by a Finnish pension insurance
company The pension cover 1s a defined-contribution scheme
The pension schemes of the parent company’s President &
CEO and members of the Board of Management as well as
those of the managing directors of subsidiaries are individual
schemes, and the reurement ages under these schemes vary
from 60 to 65 years All of these pension schemes are also de-
fined-contribunion schemes

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
All of the Group’s post-employment benefics are defined-con-
tribution benefits

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Duning the financial year the Group has had 2 share bonus
scheme to which the IFRS 2 standard apphies

The Board of Directors deaides annually the targets to be
set The targets are determined on the basis of the Group’s fi-
nancial and/or operational development Achieving the rargets
set for the performance pertod determmines howlarge a propor-
tron of the maximum bonus will be paid The fair value of the
granted shares on the date they are granted 1s recognised 1n
personnel expenses and as an increase 1n shareholders’ equi-
ty during the financtal pertod according to how the degree of
fulfilment of the targets 15 assessed. The cash bonus 1s recog-
nised on the basts of the fair value of the shares at each pont
in fime wn personnel expenses and as a liabtlity The expense
impact on the period in question 1s allocated in the mnterim
reports Own shares for the share bonus scheme have been ac-
quired in the marker, so the granting of these shares does not
dilute share ownership
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Provisions
Provisions are recogrused when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as the result of a past event, the ful-
filment of the payment obligation 1s probable, and a reliable
estmate of the amount of the obligation can be made Ifiris
possible to receive compensanon for pare of the obligation from
a third party, the compensanon s recogrused as an asset 1tem
when 1t1s 1 practice certain that the compensation will be re-
cetved Provisions are valued at the net present value of the ex-
penses required to cover the obliganon The discount factor used
w hen calculaning present value 15 selected so that 1t describes
the market view at the time of examination of the tme value of
the money and the nisk relating to the obligation

Restructuring provisions are recogmised when the Group
has prepared a detailed restructuring plan and has begun o
implement the plan or has announced it will do so A reseruc-
turing plan must include ac least che following informarion
the operattons affected, the main operating pornts affected,
the workplace locanions, working rasks and esimared number
of the people who will be paid compensation for the ending
of their employment, the [tkely costs and the date of imple-
mentation of the plan

The Group 1s obliged to surrender leased asrcraft at a cer-
tasn mantenance standard. To fulfil these maintenance obli-
gations the Group recogruses heavy maintenance provisions
The basis for the provision 1s flight hours flown during the
maintenance pertod.

Segment reporting
Segmenrt informanion 1s presenred according to the Group’s
business and geographical segment diviston The Group’s pri-
mary form of segment reporring ts according to business seg-
ments Business segments are based on the Group’s mrernal
orgamsarional strucrure and finaneal reporting of manage-
ment The business segments are Artline Business, Aviarion
Services and Travel Services

The Atrline Business segment 1s responsible for sales, ser-
vice concepts, fhighe operanons and funcnons relared to the
procurement and financing of aireraft In 2009 the units be-
longing the Airline Business segment were Finnair scheduled
route and letsure traffic, Finnair Cargo Oy and Finnair Cargo
Terminal Operanions as well as Finnair Asrcraft Finance Oy,
which manages the Group’s fleet

The Avianion Services segment comprises arrcraft mainte-
nance services, ground handling and the Group’s catering
operations as well as real-estare management and facility ser-
vices for Finnair’s operational premises In 2009 the following
compantes belonged ro the Aviation Services business segment
Finnair Catering Oy, Finncarering Oy, Finnair Facilities
Management Oy and Northport Qy

The Travel Services segmertt consists of the Group's domes-
tic and foreign travel agency operations as well as the opera-
nions of the reservanions systems supplier Amadeus Finland
Oy In 2009 che followsng companies belonged to the Travel
Services business segment Package tour compantes Oy Au-
rinkomatkat Suntours Ltd Ab, Matkayhtyma Oy, Towvelomat
Qy, OU Horzon Travel, Calypso, Finland Travel Bureau Lid,
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Markatoimusto Oy Area and A/S Estravel

Pricing between segments takes place at the going market
price

The assets and habibities of segments are business wems
which the segment uses 1n 1ts business operations or which on
sensible grounds are attriburable to the segments Unatnbut-
ableitems include tax and financial items as well as items com-
mon to the whole company Investments consist of increases
m tangible fixed assets and intangible assets which are used
in more than one financial year

Although the Group’s four business segments are managed
from Finland, they operate 11t five geographical areas Finland,
Europe, Asia, North America and Ochers

The turnover of the geographical segmencts is presenred ac-
cording to sales destnation, and assets according ro che lo-
carion of the asset

Accounting principles requiring management
discretion and the mam uncertainty factors
relating to estimates

The preparation of finanaal statements requires the use of
esttmaces and assumptions relating to the future, and the ac-
tual outcomes may dsffer from the esumates and assumptions
made Inaddition, discretton has to be exercised in applying the
accounting principles of the financial starements Estmares
are based on management’s best view on the closing dare Pos-
sible changes 1n estimates and assumptions are entered inro the
accounts 1n the financial pertod durning which the esumates
and assumpuions are adjusted and 1n all subsequent financial
periods The main irems requining management discrenon are
as follows impairment testing and deferred raxes

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been
determined 1n calculanons based on value 1n use The prepa-
ranon of these calculations requures the use of esttmates Es-
timates are based on budgets and forecasts, which inherently
contain some degree of uncertamnty The matn uncertatnry
factors 1n calculations ate the USD/CUR eachange rate, unit
revenue and load facror Further informanion on impairment
testing 1s presented in Note 16 and 17

Deferred taxes
Unlising deferred raxes, ansing parncularly from losses, re-
quires a management assessment of the future trend of busi-
nessoperancns Further information on deferred taxes s pre-
sented 1n Note 20

Application of new and amended IFRS
standards and IFRIC interpretations

The IASB has published the following standards and inrerpre-
tanons In 2009 or earlier adopted has followed in financal
statements 2009 The Group has decided not to adapt those
standards and interpretarions which wall be mandarory1n 2010
orlarer The Group has not early adopred these standards, but
will adopt them in later periods

IN PREPARING THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, THE
GROUP HAS FOLLOWED THE SAME ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AS IN THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR
2008 EXCEPT FOR THE EFFECT OF CHANGES REQUIRED BY
THE ADOPTION OF THE FOLLOWING STANDARDS,
INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS ON 1 JANUARY
2009

IFRIC 13, Customer loyalty programmes The interpreration
clartfies char where goods or services are sold together with
a customer loyalty incenuve, the arrangement 1s a multiple-
element arrangement and the considerarnion receivable from
the customer 135 allocated berween the components of the
arrangement using fair values The Group operates loyalty
programmes as defined by the interpretanion in the scheduled
traffic sesgment The adopuon of the interpretatton wall result
1n reclassification of about 20 mullion euros from the reramned
earmings of prior years to deferred credits on 1 January 2009
when tc will changes the turnover, deferred taxes and equity
of the previous year

1AS 1 (Revised), Presentation of financial statements The
revised standard prohibits the presentarion of items of income
and expenses (that 1s, ‘nen-owner changes in equity’) in che
statement of changes tn equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes
in equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes in
equuty 1n a statement of comprehensive income As a result
the Group presents in the consohdated statement of changes
in equity all owner changes tn equiry, whereas all non-owner
changes in equity are presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income The revised standard also requires
an entity to present a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period when the entiry
applies an accounnng policy retrospectively or makes a retro-
spective restatement or when the ennry reclassifies items in
the financial statements The change 10 accounting policy only
IMPacts presentarion aspects

1FRS 8, Operanng segmenrs The new standard replaces 1AS 14
The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under
which segment informaton 15 presented on the same basis
as thar used for internal reporung purposes The segments
reported by the Group will also 1 the furure be the same as
the business segments under IAS 14, but the manner in which
the segments are reported, will change shightly ro be consistent
with the internal reporting

1AS 23 (Revised), Borrowing costs Revised IAS 23 changes
the accounung policy 1n respect of berrowing costs relating
1o qualifying assets for which the commencement date for
capitalisation 15 on or after 1 January 2009 The borrowing
costs directly artriburable to the acquisition, constructien or
production of a qualifying asset shall be capitalised as part of
the cost of that asser Previously all borrowing costs could be
tecogmsed as an expense tmmediately The revised standard
does not have an impact on the consolidaced financial srace-
ments The standard changes the Group’s accounting policy
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and after 1 January 2009 the group capitalises borrowing costs
directly attributable to a qualifying asset In accordance with
the transition provisions of the standard comparanve figures
have notbeen restared Such Borrowing Costs are expected to
be most in the Aicine Bustness segment In fscal year 2009
there have not been any expenses according to the standard
IAS 23 (Revised)

IAS 1 and IAS 32 (Amendments), Financial instruments
puttable at farr value and obligations arising on hquidation

The amendments classify the puttable financial instruments
financial instruments as equuty, provided they have particular
features and meet specific condittons Before the amendment
these mstruments were classified as liability The amendment
does not have a marerial impact on the consolidared finan-
aial statements

IFRS 2 (Amendment), Share-based payment - vesting condi-
ttons and cancellanons The amendmence clarifies that vesting
condinions are service conditions and performance conditions
only Other fearures of a share-based payment are non-vestung
conditions These features would need ro be included in the
grant date fair value for transactions with employees and others
providing surmslar services, they would not impace the number
of awards expected to vest or valuation there of subsequent to
grantdate All cancellations, whether by the entity or by other
parues, should receive the same accounting treatment The
amendment does not have a material impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements

IFRIC 11 and IFRS 2, Group and rreasury share transactions

The1nterpretation provides guidance on whether share-based
transactions involving treasury shares or involving group ent-
ties should be accounted for as equity settled or cash-settied
share-based payment transactions in the stand-alone accounts
of the parent and group compantes The interpretation does not
have any impact on the consolidated financial starements

IFRIC 14 and IAS 19, The imut on a defined benefit asset,
mummum funding requirements and their interaction The
interpretation 1 apphied to post-employment defined benefic
plans and other long-term defined benefit plans under 1AS
19,1f the plan includes munimum funding requirements The
inrerpreranion also clarifies the crizenia for recognition of an
asset on furure refunds or reductions in furure contributions
The interpretatton does not have any wapact on the consoli-
dated financial statements

IFRS 1 and IAS 27 (Amendments), Cost of an investment 1n
a subsidiary, jointly controlled enurty or associate in adop-
tion of IFRS The amended standards allow firse-time adop-
ters to use a deemed cost of etther fatr value or the carrying
amount under previous accounting practice 1o measure the
mmrtal cost of investments 1n subsidiaries, jointy controlled
entities and associates in the separate finanaal statements The
amendment also removes the defiminion of the cost method
from 1AS 27 and replaces it with a requirement to present
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dividends as mncome 1n che separate financial statements of
the investor The amendments do not have any impact on the
consolidated financal stacements as the Group 1s noc a firsc
ume adoprer of IFRSs

1AS 39 (Amendment), Financial instruments Recegmition
and measurement - Eligible hedged 1tems The amendment
prohubits destignatung inflation as a hedgeable component of
a fixed rare debt It also prehubits including cume value in the
one-sided hedged risk when designaung options as hedges The
amendment does not have a material impact on the consoli-
dared finanaial statements

IFRS 7 (Amendment), Enhancing disclosures on financial
instruments The amendment requires enhanced disclosures
about fair value measurement and Lkiquidity nisk In parric-
ular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair value meas-
urements by levels of a fair value measurement hierarchy
The change 1n accounting policy only results 1n addinional
disclosures the in consolidated financial statements

1ASB PUBLISHED CHANGES TO 34 STANDARDS 1N MAY 2008
AS PART OF THE ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS IFRSS PROJECT
THE FOLLOWING PRESENTATION INCLUDES THE MOST
RELEVANT CHANGES THE GROUP ADOPTED IN 2009

1AS 1 {Amendment), Current assets and current habiliies The
amendment clarifies that some rather than all financial assets
classified as held for trading 1n accordance wach IAS 39 are
current assets or habilines Before the amendment some entities
classified all derivanives in held for rrading category as current
The held for trading category in paragraph 9 of 1AS 39 1s for
measurement purposes and includes finanaal assets and habihi-
ties that may not be held primarily for rrading purposes The
amendment does not have any materral impace on the consoli-
dated financial statements As a result of the amendment the
Group reclassified derivatives 1n held for trading category as
non-current n case they mature after 12 months and the Group
does not hold them primanly for trading purposes

IAS 16 and IAS 7 (Amendments), Rentung and subsequent
selling of assets Ennties whose ordinary actvities comprise
rentng and subsequently selling assets present proceeds from
the sale of those assets as revenue and should cransfer the
carrying amount of the asset to inventories when the asset
becomes held for sale A consequennal amendment to IAS 7
states that cash flows arising from purchase, rental and sale of
those assets are classified as cash flows from operating activi-
ues The amendment does not have any material impacron the
consohdated finanaal statements , while any Group company
does not have this kind of activities

1AS 19 (Amendment), Employee benefits The amendment clars-
fiesamongothers things that a plan amendment that results in
achange in the extent to which benefit promises are affecred by
future salary increases 1s a curtailment, while an amendment
that changes benefits artriburable to past service gives rise to
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a negative past service cost 1f 1t results in a reduction in the
present value of the defined benefit obligation Management
assesses thar the amendment will not have a matenial impact
on the financial statements of the Group

[AS 20 (Amendment), Accounting for government grants and
disclosure of government assistance The benefit of a below
market rate government loan is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount 1n accordance wicth 1AS 39 and
the proceeds recerved with the benefit accounted for 1n accord-
ance with IAS 20 Management assesses thar the amendment
will not have a marenial impact on the financral starements
of the Group

IAS 23 (Amendment), Borrowing costs The defimition of
borrowing cests has been amended so that interest expense
15 calculared using the effecuve interest mechod defined tin [AS
39 Management assesses that the amendment will not have a
matenal impact on the financal statements of the Group

1AS 27 (Amendment), Consohdated and separace finan-
aal starements Where an mvestment 1n a subsidrary that 1s
accounted for under 1AS 39, ‘Financial instruments recog-
nition and measurement’, 1s classified as held for sale under
IFRS 5, ‘Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued
operations’, IAS 3% would continue to be applted Manage-
ment assesses that the amendment will not have a material
tmpact on the financial statements of the Group

1AS 28 (Amendment), Investments tn assoctates (and conse-
quential amendments to IAS 32, ‘Financial instruments Presen-
tation’ and IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments Disclosures’) Where
aninvestment 1n associate 1s accounted for in accordance wath
IAS 39, only certain rather chan all disclosure requirements
i [AS 28 need to be made 1n addinon to disclosures required
by IAS 32 and IFRS 7 The Group will not reduce the amount
of information presented 1n the notes to the financial srate-
ments of the Group 1n the way allowed by the amendment,
bui will continue the cui rent presentanon

1AS 28 (Amendment}, Investments 1n associates {and conse-
quential amendments to 1AS 32, ‘Financial instruments Pres-
entation’, and IFRS 7, ‘Financial inscruments Disclosures’)
An investment tn an assoclate 1s treated as a single asset for the
purposes of impairment testng Any tmpasrment loss ts not
allocated to spectfic assers included within che investment, for
example, goodwill Reversals of impairment are recorded as an
adjustment to the invescment balance to the extent thar che
recoverable amount of the associate increases Management
assesses that the amendment will not have a material impact
on the financial statements of the Group

1AS 31 (Amendment), Interests 1n joint ventures {and conse-
quenual amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7) Where an invest-
ment in joint venture 1s accounted for in accordance with 1AS
39, only certaun rather chan all disclosure requirements n
1AS 31 need to be made 1n additton to disclosures required by
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[AS 32 and IFRS 7 The Group will not reduce the amount of
informacion presented 1n the notes to the finanaal statements
of the Group in rhe way allowed by rhe amendment, bur will
continue the current presentation

[AS 36 (Amendment), Imparment of assets Where fair value
less costs to sell s calculated on the basis of discounted cash
flows, disclosures equivalent to those for value-in-use calcula-
uon should be made The change to the standard wall increase
the amount of information presented on impairment testung
in the notes to the finanaal statements of the Group

[AS 38 (Amendment), Intangible assets A prepayment may
only be recogrused in che event that payment has been madein
advance of obtaining right of access to goods or receipt of serv-
ices Management assesses that the amendment will not havea
material tmpact on the financial statements of the Group

IAS 38 (Amendment), Intangible assets The amendment
deletes the wording thart states that there 15 ‘rarely, if ever’
support for use of a method that resules 1n a lower rave of amor-
tisatton than the strarght-line method Management assesses
that the amendment will not have a marenal tmpact on the
financial statements of the Group

IAS 40 and IAS 16 (Amendments), Classificauion of property
Property that 1s under construction or development for furure
use as investment propertyis wichin the scope of IAS 40 Where
the fair value model 1s applied, such property 1s, therefore, meas-
ured at fair value However, where fair value of investment prop-
erty under construction is not reliably measurable, the property
1s measured ar cost unoi the earher of the date construcnion
ts completed and the date ac which fair value becomes reli-
ably measurable The amendment does not have any material
impact on the consolidared financial statements

IN ADDITION TO THE NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS PRESENTED IN THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTE FOR 2008, THE FOLLOWING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETAIONS ISSUED DURING THE
YEAR 20609 WILL BE ADCPTED BY THE GROUP IN 2010

IFRS 3 (revised), Business combinatons The rewvised standard
conunues to apply the acqusinon method to business combu-
natons, with some sigmficant changes For example, all
payments to purchase a business are to be recorded ar fair
value at the acquisition dare, with contingent payments clas-
sifted as debt subsequently re-measured through the income
statement There is a choice on an acquisinon-by-acquisition
basis to measure the non-controlling interestin the acquuree at
fair vale or ar the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share
of the acquiree’s ner assets All acquisiion-relared costs should
beexpensed The revised standard will affect the accounungof
all business combinanions from 1 January 2010 Management
1s assessing the impact of this interpretation on the financial
statements of the Group
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IAS 27 (revised), Consolidated and separate financial state-
ments The revised standard requires the effects of all trans-
acnions with noncencrolling interests to be recorded 1n equuity
if there is no change 1 control and these transactions will no
longer resultin goodwill or gains and losses The standard also
spealfies the accounting when controlis lost Any remaimng
interest in che entity 1s remeasured to fair value, and a gam or
loss 15 recognused in profit or loss The Group will apply IAS
27 (revised} prospecuvely to transactions with non-control-
ling tnrerests from 1 January 2010 Management is assessing
the impacr of this interpretation on the financal statements
of the Group

IFRIC 17, Distribution of non-cash assets ro owners This inter-
pretanon provides guidance on accounnng for arrangements
whereby an enury distribures non-cash assets to shareholders
eicher as a distribution of reserves or as dividends IFRS 5 has
also been amended to require chat assets are classified as held
for diseribution only when they are available for distribution
1n their present condition and the distribution 1s highly prob-
able Management is assessing the tmpact of this interprera-
tron on the financial statements of the Group

IFRIC 18%, Transfers of assets from customers The interpre-
tation clarifies the requirements of IFRS standards for agree-
ments in which an enrtity recerves from a customer an irem
of property, plant and equipment or cash to be invested 1n
such an 1item thar the entity must then use either to connect
the customer to a nerwork or to provide the customer wich
ongoing access to a supply of goods or services The interpre-
tation does not have an impacr on the consohdated financial
statements

IFRIC 9 and 1AS 39 (Amendment)*, Reassessment of embedded
dertvatives on reclassification The amendments to IFRIC 9
and 1AS 39 clanfy that on reclassificanon of a financial asser
out of the “at fair value through profit or loss' cazegory all
embedded derivatives have ro be assessed and, if necessary,
separately accounted forn financial statements Management
15 assessing the umpacr of this interpretation on the financial
statemnents of the Group

IFRS 2 (Amendment)*, Share-based payment - Group cash-
settled share-based payment transacnons The amendment to
TFRS 2 clarifies thar an entiry that receives goods or services
from 1ts suppliers muscapply IFRS 2 even though the entity has
no obligation to make the required share-based cash payments

Management s assessing the impact of this interpretanion on
the financial statements of the Group

IFRS 1 (Amendment)*, First-time adopnon of financial imstru-
ments - Addittonal exempuions for first-tume adopters The
amendment sets our additional exernpnons for ennnies that
apply IFRS for the first ime The interpretanion does not have
an impact on the consolidared financial statements as the
Group 1s not a first ime adopter of IFRSs
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IASB PUBLISHED CHANGES TO 12 STANDARDS OR
INTERPRETATIONS IN APRIL 2009 AS PART OF THE ANNUAL
IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRSS PROJECT, WHICH WILL BE
ADOPTED BY THE GROUP IN 2010 THE FOLLOWING
PRESENTATION INCLUDES THE MOST RELEVANT
CHANGES TO THE GROUP*

IFRS 2 (Amendment), Scope of IFRS 2 - Share-based payment
The amendment s to confirm that in addiuen to business
combinations as defirred by [FRS 3 (revised)} ‘Business combs-
nacions’, contributions of a business on formauon of a joint
ventureand common control transactions are excluded from
the scope of IFRS 2, ‘Share-based payment’ Management ts
assessing the impact of these changes on the financal state-
ments of the Group

IFRS 35 (Amendment), Non-current assets held for sale and
disconunued operations The amendment to clanfy char IFRS
5, ‘Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued opera-
uong’, specifies the disclosures required tn respect of non-
currentassets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or
disconnnued operanions The amendment also clarifies that
the general requirements of TAS 1 sull apply, particularly para-
graph 15 (to achieve a fair presentanion} and paragraph 125
(sources of esumation uncertainty) of IAS 1 Management 15
assessing the impact of these changes on the financial srate-
ments of the Group

IFRS 8 (Amendment), Operating segments Minor textual
amendment to cthe standard, and amendment to the basis
for conclusions, to clarify thar an entry 1s required ro disclose
a measure of segment assers only if that measure 1s regularly
reported to the chief operating decision-maker Management
15 assessing the impacr of these changes on the financial state-
ments of the Group

1AS 1 (Amendment), Presentarton of financial sratements The
amendment clarifies that the potential sertlement of a habadiy by
theissue of equity 1s not relevant to 1ts dassificanon as current
or non-curtent By amending the definition of current liabilicy,
theamendment permuts a iability to be classified as non-current
(provided that the enury has an unconditional right to defer
sertlement by transfer of cash or other assecs for ar leasr 12
months after the accounung period) norwithstanding the faet
thar the enuty could be requured by the counterparty to settlen
shares atany ime Management s assessing the smpact of these
changes on the fRnancial statements of the Group

1AS 7 (Amendment), Statement of cash flows The amendment
o tequire that only expenditures that result in a recognised
asset sn the statement of financial position can be classified
as investing activities Management 1s assessing the impact of
these changes on the finanaal statements of the Group

1AS 17 (Amendment), Leases The amendment deletes speafic
gutdance regarding classificanion of leases of land, so as to
eliminace inconsistency with the general guidance on lease
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classification As a result, leases of land should be classified
as eicher finance or operating using the general principles of
1AS 17 Management s assessing the tmpact of these changes
on the finanaal statements of the Group

IAS 18 (Amendment), Reveriue Addittonal guidance added
to the appendix to IAS 18, Revenue, regarding the determu-
naton as to whether an ennty 15 actung as a principal or an
agent Management 1s assessing the impact of these changes
on the financial statements of the Group

1AS 36 (Amendment), Impairment of assets The amendment
clarifies that the largest cash-generating unie (or group of unues)
to which goodwill should be allocated for the purposes of
impairment testing 1s an operating segment as defined in IFRS
8, ‘Operating segments’ (that 13, before the aggreganon of
segments with sioular economic characteristies permutced by
IFRS 8) Management is assessing the impact of these changes
on the financial statemencs of the Group

IAS 38 (Amendment), Incangible assets The amendment clan-
fies the requuirements under IFRS 3 (2008) regarding accounting
for intangible assets acquired m a business combination
Management 1s assessing the impact of these changes on the
finaneial staterments of the Group

IAS 38 (Amendment), Intangible assets The amendment clari-
fies the description of valuation techniques commonly used
by enaties when measuring the fair value of intangible assets
acquired in a business combinanon that are not traded 1n
active markets Management s assessing the impact of these
changes on the financtal sratements of the Group

IAS 39 (Amendment), Financial instrumentes recognirion and
measuremnent The amendment clarifies that pre-payment
options, the exercise price of which compensates the lender
for loss of interest by reducing the economuc loss from remn-
vestment risk should be considered closely related to the host
debr conrract Managemenr s assessing the impact of these
changes on the financial statements of the Group

1AS 39 (Amendment), Finanaial instruments recogrunion and
measurement The amendment to the scope exemprion 1n para-
graph 2(g) of IAS 39 to clanfy thar {a)1conly applies to binding
(forward) contracts between an acquirer and a venderina busi-
ness combination to buy an acquiree at a future date, (b) the
term of the forward contract should nor exceed a reasonable
period normally necessary to obrain any required approvals
and to complete the transaction, and (c} the exemption should
not be applied to option contracts {whether or not currently
exercisable) that on exercise will result in control of an enniry,
nor by analogy to investments 1n associates and ssimular rrans-
actions Management 1s assessing the impact of these changes
on the finanaial statements of the Group

1AS 39 (Amendment), Financial instruments recogmtion and
measurement The amendment clarifies thar gains or losses
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should be reclassified from equity to profitor loss in the period
in which the hedged forecast cash flow affects profit or loss
Management is assessing the impact of these changes on the
fnancial statements of the Group

IFRIC 9{Amendment), Reassessment of embedded derivatives

The amendment to the scope paragraph of IFRIC 9 clarifies
that it does not apply to possible reassessment, at the date of
acquisition, to embedded derivatives 1in contracts acquired tn
a combinatton berween entities or businesses under common
control or the formation of a jount venture Management 1s
assessing the impact of these changes on the financial stare-
ments of the Group

IFRIC 16 (Amendment), Hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation The amendment scates that, in a hedge of a net
investment in a foreign operation, qualifying hedging instru-
ments may be held by any entity or entities wichin the group,
including the foreign operatton iself, as long as the designa-
tion, documentation and effectiveness requirements of IAS
39 that relare to a net investment hedge are satisfied Manage-
ment 15 assessing the tmpact of these changes on the finanaial
statemerts of the Group

THE FOLLOWING STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND
AMENDMENTS WILL BEADOPTED IN 2011 OR LATER

IAS 32 (Amendment), Finanaial Instruments presentation
- Classificanion of nights 1ssues The amendment addresses
the accounung for rnghts issues (rights, oprions or warrants)
tharare denominarted in acurrency other than the functional
currency of the issuer Previously such rights 1ssues were
accounted for as derivative liabihines However, the amend-
ment requires that, provided certarn conditions are met, such
rightsissues are classified as equity regardless of the currencyin
which the exercise price 1s denominated The Group will adopt
the amendmentin its 2011 financial statements Management
15 assessing the impact of this interpretation on the financial
starements of the Group

1AS 24 (revised)*, Related party disclosures The revised standard
simphifies the disclosure requirements for government-related
enuties and clanfies the definition of a related party The revised
standard snll requures disclosures that are tmpertant to users
of financial statements butelumnates requirements to disclose
informanon thatis costly to gather and of less value to users It
achieves this balance by requiring disclosure about these trans-
acntions only :f they are indvidually or collecuvely signsficant

The Group will adopt the revised standard in 1ts 2011 finanaial
statements Management is assessing the impacr of this inter-
pretanion on the financial statements of the Group

IFRIC 19*, Extinguishing financial habilines with equity mstru-
ments The interpretauon clarifies the accounting when an
ennty renegoniates the terms of 1ts debr wath the result that
the habiliry 1s exungmshed by the debtor issuing its own equity
mstruments to the creditor IFRIC 19 requires a gain or loss
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to be recognised in profit or loss when a hability 1s sertled
through the 1ssuance of the entiry’s own equity instruments
The amount of the gain or loss recogrused 1n profir or loss will
be the difference between the carrying value of the finanaal
hiability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued
The Group will adopt the mterpretation i 1ts 2011 financial
starements Management s assessing the impact of this ineer-
pretanion on the financial statements of the Group

IFRIC 14 (Amendment)*, Prepayments of a minimum funding
requirement. The amendment1s aimed at correcung an unin-
tended consequence of IFRIC 14 As a result of the mterpre-
tation, entities are in some CIrcumstances not pern‘utted o
recogmse some prepayments for mintmum funding contribu-
tions as an asset The amendment remedies tius urintended
consequence by requiring prepayments in appropriate circum-
stances to be recogmsed as assets The Group will adept the
amendment in its 2011 finaneaial statements Managementis
assessing the impact of this interpretation on the financial
staternents of the Group

IFRS 9*, Financial assets - Classification and measurement The
srandard represents the first rmlestone 1n the IASB’s planned
replacement of IAS 39 Itaddresses classification and measure-
ment of financial assers The next steps involve reconsideration
and re-exposure of the classification and measurement requure-
ments for financial habihines, impairment testing methods
for financial assets, and development of enhanced guidance
on hedge accounung The Group will adopr the standard 1n
1ts 2013 financial staternents The standard will have major
impacts on accounting for financial instruments, and the
management 1s currently starting to assess them

THE FOLLOWING NEW STANDARDS, CHANGES TO
STANDARDS AND THE APPLICATION OF
INTERPRETATIONS WHICH ARE PERCEIVED TO BE
ESSENTIALFOR THE GROUP HAVE BEEN INTRODUCED
FROM THE BEGINNING OF 2009

IFRIC 13, Customer loyalty programmes The interpretanion
clarifies that where goods or services are sold together with
a customer Joyalty incentive The arrangement 1s a multiple-
element arrangement and the considerartion recervable from
the customer 1s allocated berween the components of the
arrangement using fair values The Group operates loyalry
programmes as defined by the interpretation (Finnair-Plus
program) in the arrline business segment After the adoption
of the interpretation the correspondence of deferred credits,
equity and deferred raxes of the previous year reported balance
sheet and rurnover, marketng expenses and deferred credits of
the previous year income and loss statement has been made

‘The adopnion of the interpretanon will resule in reclassification
of about 20 million euros from che retained earnings of prior
years to deferred credits on 1 January 2009 1t affects turnover,
deferred taxes and equuty of the previous year

Financial Report

* 1AS 1 {revised), Presentanion of financial statements The rewised
standard 1s aimed ar improving users’ ability to analyse and
compare the informanon given i financial statements by sepa-
ratng changes m equity of an entty ansing from transacnons
with owners from other changes in equity Non-owner changed
i equuty will be presented mn the statement of comprehen-
swve income The Group has been reported the income state-
ment and statement of comprehensive income and made the
correspondence of the previous year income statement and
statement of the comprehensive income according to the IAS
1 (Revised)

IFRS 8, Operating segments The new standard replaces1AS 14
The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under
which segment information 1s presented on the same basts
as thar used for internal reporung purposes The segments
reported by the Group will also in the future be the same as
the business segments under IAS 14 The manner in which the
segments are reported, will change slightly to be consistent
with thenternal reporung

IAS 23 (Amendment), Borrowing costs The amended standard
requires an enity to capitalise borrowing costs directly artrib-
urable to a qualifying asset as part of cthe cost of that asser

The option of immediately expensmng those borrowing costs
will be removed The Group will commence capitalisation of
borrowing cost refated to such undertakings as well as projects
to be accounted for under the stage of completion merhod
embarked i 2009 Such borrowing costs are expected to be
most 10 the airline business segment In 2009 there have not
been any borrowing costs according to 1AS 23 standard

* The standard, mterpretation or amendment to published stand-
ard or mterpretation 15 stll subgect to endorsement by the European
Unmion

A copry of the consolidated financial statements can be obtained at the
mternet address www finnarr com or from the bead office of the Group's
parent company at the address Tretotie 11 A, Vantaa The full finan-
cial statements containing the financial statements of both the Group
and the parent company can be obtamed from the bead office of the
Group’s parent company at the address Tietotie 11 A, Vantaa

These financial statements do not contan all of the parent company’s
Sfinancal statement mformanon under the Fmnish Accountng Act
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Annual information

Segment information 1s presented according to the Group’s business and geographical segmentdivision The Group’s primary form
of segment reporting 1s according to business segments Business segments are based on the Group’s internal orgamisational structure
and financial reporting of management The business segments are Aurline Business, Aviation Services and Travel Services Pricing
berween segments takes place at farr value The assets and hiabilities of segments are such business stems which the segment uses in
1ts business operations or which on sensible grounds are attriburable to che segments Unartributable iems include tax and finan-
ctal 1rems as well as items common to the whole company Investments consist of increases in tangible and intangible assets which
are used tn more than one financtal year Although the Group’s three bustness segments are managed from Finland, they operate in
five geographical areas Finland, Europe, Asia, North America and Others The rurnover of the geographical segments 1s presented
according to sales destination, and assets, habilities, depreciation and investments according to their location

Pnmary reporting format - business segment data 1 Jan-31 Dec 2009

{ Airhne Awiation Travel Group Unallocated
EUR mill Business Services Services eliminations items Group
' External turnover 1,387 2 1058 344 7 1,8377
Internal turnover 1507 3155 18 -468 0 00
Turnover 1,537 9 4213 346 5 -468 0 00 1,8377
i Operating profit -1912 298 -4 3 M7 -124 0
Share of results of associated undertakings 01 01
Financial income 89 89
Financial expenses -187 -18 7
Income tax 38 318
' Minority interest -01 -01
Profit for the financial year -1020
Segment assets 1,554 4 3313 144 2 -2516 660 4 2,4387
" Holdings in associated undertakings 83 83
Assets, total 1,554 4 3396 144 2 -2516 660 4 2,447 0
+ Segment habilives 1,476 4 173 6 19 7 -266 1 899 1,593 5
I
Other items
Investments 3251 176 40 00 09 3476
Depreciation 99 3 306 13 00 16 1328
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Primary reporting format - business segment data 1 Jan-31 Dec 2008

Airline Aviauon Travel Growp  Unallocared
EUR mull Business Services Services  ehminations ems Group
External turnover 1,765 4 106 & 3836 2,255 8
Internal turnover 1553 3390 23 -496 6 0o
Turnover 1,9207 445 8 3859 -496 6 00 22,2558
Operaung profit -16 9 109 120 -63 9 -579
Share of results of associated undertakings 03 03 .
Financial income 221 221
Financial expenses -267 -267
Income tax 161 161
Minority interest -02 02
Profit for the financaial year 46 3
i
Segment assets 1,410 4 3355 1721 -3537 5135 2,0778 |
Holdings in associated undertakings 60 a1 61
. Asserts, total 1,410 4 Nns 172 2 -3537 5135 2,0839 :
. Segment habilities 1,249 4 150 5 143 5 -438 4 2284 1,333 4
{
QOther items
Investments 196 1 342 12 a0 13 2328
Depreciation 774 305 19 Q0 Q4 1102
Employees (average) by segment ]
1Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
2009 2008
Airline Business 3,925 4,280 {
Aviation Services 3,347 3,650 |
Travel Services 1,289 1,419
Qther operations 236 246 |
Total 8,797 9,595
i}
|
Employees at end of year 7,945 9,617 !
|
Secondary reporting format - geographical segments
Turnover outside the Group by sales segment |
1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mull 2009 2008
Finland 358 8 4328 |
Europe 7822 962 5
Asia 5515 708 8
North Amenica 559 676
Others 893 841
Total 1,837.7 2,255 8
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Segment assets accordlng to country of location i
31 Dec 31 Dec |
EUR mill 2009 2008 |
Finland 2,403 3 1,956 8 |
Europe 319 777 |
" Asia 46 408 |
North Amenca 10 15 !
QOrthers 62 71
. Total 2,447 0 2,083.9
]
' Segment liabilities according to country of location
31 Dec 31 Dec
" EUR mill 2009 2008
Finland 906 1 1,094 0
. Europe 6321 2052
¢ Asia 24 4 267
North America 156 17
I Others 153 58
{ Total 1,593.5 1,333.4 |
, |
! Capital expenditure by country of locaten |
‘ 1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
| EUR mutl 2009 2008
Finland 347 5 2325
Europe 01 03
v Asia 00 00
North America 00 00
. Others 00 00
1 Unallocated wtems 00 00
+ Total 3476 232.8
|
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QUARTAL INFORMATION

Consohdated income statement

93] Q2 Q3 Q4 Q Q2 Q3 Q4
EUR mull 2009 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008 2008 |
Turnover 515.7 427 4 436 9 457 7 572.9 545.2 558 7 579.0 |
Production for own use 04 05 06 32 01 05 05 05
Other operating income 37 42 344 55 59 83 43 86 '
Operating income 519.8 4321 4719 4664 5789 554.0 563.5 5881 '
Operating expenses
Employee benefit expense 1352 66 1210 1151 140 5 128 2 1293 143Q ¢
Fuel 131 8 109 3 1080 1012 134 9 1337 150 9 1381
Lease payments for acraft 193 189 179 18 3 204 207 207 20 8
Other rental payments 267 181 16 3 203 180 172 13 3 208
Fleet matenals and overhauls 263 251 320 299 197 231 214 319
Traffic charges 450 42 2 43 9 40 0 43 6 471 48 6 492
Ground handling and
catering expenses 334 301 307 360 352 365 381 368 |
1 Expenses for tour operanons 455 253 259 344 446 255 27 4 414 |
Sales and marketing expenses 204 201 14 3 22 4 26 8 24 6 237 278 |
Depreciation and impairment 267 294 404 363 277 242 301 282 |
Other expenses 338 29 5 456 556 587 531 855 M4
Total 5441 464.6 496.0 509.5 5701 533.9 589.0 6494 |
Operating profit -24.3 -325 -24,1 -43.1 8.8 201 -25.5 -61 3
'_Financial ncome 31 09 27 22 54 72 54 41
' Financial expenses -38 -37 -66 -4 6 -9 9 -8 8 -29 -51
Share of result of
associated companies 00 60 00 a1 00 00 00 03
* Profit before taxes -25.0 -35 3 280 -45.4 43 18.5 =230 -62.0
' Income taxes 64 93 73 88 -12 -51 52 172 |
Profit for the financial year -18.6 -26 0 -20.7 -36 6 3.1 13 4 -178 -44 8 |
i
Share artriburable to parent i
' company’s shareholders -18 6 -26 1 -207 -36 6 31 134 -17 8 -45 0 |
Minonity interests 00 01 00 00 00 00 00 02 |
l
Earnings per share calculated from profit attnbutable to shareholders of the parent company |
Basic earnings per ‘
share, EUR/share -015 -0 20 -0 16 -0 30 003 012 -015 036 |
Dituted earnings per ,
share, EUR/share <015 -0 20 -016 -0 30 003 012 -015 036 |
|

Comparison year figures have been converted to correspond with the presentarion practice of the year ended
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Consohdated balance sheet |
31 Mar 30)Jun 305¢p 31 Dec 31 Mar 30)Jun 305ep 31 Dec 31 Dec |
EUR mull 2009 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008 2008 2007 |
ASSETS |
Non-current assets [
Intangible assets 477 46 9 44 3 461 490 48 9 477 489 466
Tangible assets 1,3735 1,5240 11,4572 1,4690 1,234 7 1,2320 11,2427 1,2721 11689 '
Holdings in associated ‘
companies 58 58 58 83 58 58 58 61 57 [
Recewables 233 213 211 205 129 199 215 215 138
Deferred tax assets 64 2 63 6 636 420 28 2 308 199 577 104 |
1,5145 16616 1,520 1,5859 1,330 6 1,3374 1,3376 11,4055 1,2454
Current assets
" Inventories 363 374 302 36 8 401 383 376 351 361
| Trade recewvables and
" other recevables 2814 2221 3355 197 5 3676 4778 3585 2318 2873
Otcher financial assets 3596 2485 2991 598 2 443 6 418 5 3577 3738 5186
' Cash and cash equivalents 152 16 5 53 92 175 18 6 16 3 18 3 215
6925 5255 6701 8417 8688 9532 7701 6590 863 5
Non-current assets held for sale 19 4 194 194 194 328 162 353 19 4 347
Assets, total 2,226.4 2,206 5 2,2815 2,4470 2,232.2 2,306.8 2,430 2,0839 2,943 6
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Consolidated balance sheet

31 Mar 30Jun 30 Sep 31 Dec 3 Mar 30jun 30Sep 31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mull 2009 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008 2008 2007
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND LIABILITIES
Equity attnbutable to
shareholders of parent company
Share capital 754 754 754 754 754 754 754 754 754
Other equity 668 2 678 2 784 7 7772 869 8 9570 866 2 674 0 209 9
743 6 753.6 8601 852.6 945.2 1,032 4 9416 7494 985.3
Minonity interest 07 07 07 09 11 08 08 11 17
Shareholders’ equity, total 744 3 754.3 860.8 8535 946.3 1,033.2 9424 7505 9870
Non-current habiities B
Deferred tax liabilinies 122 3 1216 1057 991 1501 176 3 1491 120 6 144 5
Finangal habilines 2718 4211 4360 637 4 258 9 226 9 242 8 2611 2696
Pension cbhganions 19 00 00 0o 14 0 122 22 61 158
Total 396 0 542 7 5417 736 5 423 0 415 4 3941 3878 4299
Current habihties
Current income tax habihity 00 00 00 00 75 133 00 15 121 |
Provisions 607 60 2 599 730 538 543 533 61 5 536 |
Financial habilinies 22272 181 4 177 4 201 8 552 532 519 48 5 545 !
Trade payables and ‘
other habilines 803 2 6679 6417 582 2 746 4 7374 7013 8341 606 5
Total 1,086 1 S09 5 8790 8570 8629 858 2 8065 9456 726 7
Liabilities, total 1,4821 1,452.2 1,420.7 1,593.5 1,285.9 1,2736 1,2006 1,333 4 1,156.6
Shareholders’ equity !
and habilites, total 2,226.4 2,206 5 2,281.5 2,4470 2,232,2 2,306 8 2,143 0 2,083 9 2,143.6 .
|
Segment information !
Turnover by quarter )
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Qi Q2 Q3 Q4 !
EUR mull 2009 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008 2008 !
Airline Business 4256 3626 378 8 370 9 477 2 4717 4871 484 7
Aviation Services 1128 1016 958 1111 109 9 1M s 108 6 1158 J'
Travel Services 114 8 719 65 8 940 1209 76 3 768 1119 |
Croup eliminations -1375 -108 7 =103 3 -18 3 -1351 -114 3 -113 8 -1334
Total 5157 427.4 436 9 457.7 572.% 545 2 558.7 579.0 |
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Operating profit excluding the disposal of the capital assets, farr value
changes of denvatives and arragement expenses by quarter

8]l Q2 Q3 Q4 (8] Q2 Q3 Q4

EUR mull 2009 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008 2008 !
Airline Business -44 0 -511 -28 3 -471 31 10 05 -230 |
Awviation Services 23 -02 -4 7 99 25 44 19 501
Travel Services 23 -2 8 04 12 47 -08 31 53 |
Unallocated items 35 -28 -30 34 25 00 -24 -10 |
Total -47 5 -56.9 -36 4 -394 78 46 21 -13.7 |
|

ACQUIRED BUSINESSES

The Finnair Group’s Oy Aurinkomarkat - Suntours Ltd Ab has purchased on March 2009 100% of the share stock of Towvelomart
company which has been earlier as associated company and the company has been consolidarted to the Group since purchase date
The purchase price 0 1 million euros has been patd cash The company’s year 2009 profit, 0 0 millton euros, 1s included 1n the con-
sohidated income statement for 2009 The company’s turnover 2009, 0 3 mullion euros, 1s included 1n full in the Group’s turnover
The company is consclidated from the beginning of April 2009 to the group

+ Values of habilines and acquired assets at the acquisition date:

Book values
: Recognised before
EUR mill fair values consohdation
' Trade and other receivables 01 01
Cash and cash equivalents 01 02
_Total 02 0.3
Other financial babilites -01 -02
Net assets 01 01
+ Bought net assets 01
|
I Acquisition cost 01
 Acquisiion price paid in cash 01
Cash and cash equivalents of acquired subsidiary -0 1

Cash flow effect 00
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ASSET ITEMS SOLD AND NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets held for sale

Fiancial Repore

In the Airline Business segment the following have been classified as available fot sale one MD 11 aircraft, because the sum corre-
sponding to 1ts carrying amount will accrue from the sale of the asser itern instead of operarional use The company managemenr

has decided on 1ts sale, wath the tnrention of implementing it during 2010 The aircraft vo be sold 1s for sale in 1ts present condition

on the industry’s general and customary terms and conditions Depreciation of the aircraft and engines in question was discontin-

ued ac the ume of classificaton

Impairments totalling ¢ 0 million euros have been recogrused for the fleet 1n 2009 (0 0), as the asset was valued at selling prices less
costs of sale Impatrments are presented in the income statement group ‘Depreciation’

The book value of the non-current assets held for sale

EUR milt 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008
Atrcraft 194 19 4
Total 194 19 4
r
PRODUCTION FOR OWRN USE
1 jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec |
EUR mill 2009 2008 I
~ Component production 26 09 |
Heavy mantenance 21 07 f
Total 47 1.6 |
OTHER OPERATING INCOME
1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec |
, EUR mill 2009 2008
Capital gains on sales of tangible fixed assets 329 61 |
Capital gain from shares 00 01
Sell of subsidiaries 00 00
Rental income 44 40 !
i Others 109 16 9
Total 47.8 271

Other operaung income mncludes frequent-flyer mcome of 1 7 EUR million (7 0) and during the financtal year, grants amounning to
3 4 mulhon euros (1 7) The rest consists of several trems, none of which are individually significanc
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| 8 MATERIAL AND SERVICES
|
1 fan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec ;
| EUR mill 2009 2008 |
! Matenals and services '
' Materials and supplies for aircraft maintenance 42 0 397
| Ground handling and catering charges 130 2 146 6
Fuels for fighs operations 450 3 5576
Expenses for tour operanons 1311 138 9
' Aurcraft maintenance and service 713 564
: Data administranon sanaces 43 8 495 |
Other items 528 558 |
, Total 921.5 1,044 5
Ocher operating expenses do not include research and development expenses
i " Consists of several items, none of which are individually significant
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE '
I 1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR rrull 2009 2008
Employee benefit expense
Wages and salaries 393 5 4277
Pension expenses 76 9 805
Other social expenses 175 328
Total 487.9 5410

Personnel expenses included recogmition of a non-recurring personnel restructanng provision of 3 3 millton euros as agreed i the
Group's statutory employer-employee negotiations during 2009 (2 4 )
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Salanes and bonuses of Chief Executive Officer
and Members of the Board of Directors

Share-based

EUR Total Fixed salary  Other bonuses bonuses
Chief Executive Officer )
Jukka Hienonen 549,106 483,691 65,415 0
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Lasse Heinonen 284,315 252,728 31,557 0
Members of the Board of Directors
Chnistoffer Taxell 72,000 72,000 ‘
Kart jordan 43,200 43,200
Elina Bjorklund starung from 26 March 2009 27,032 27,032 !
Sigurdur Helgason 44,400 44,400 |
Satu Huber 38,400 38,400 \
Markku Hyvarnen unul 26 March 2009 10,500 10,500 )
Ursula Ranin 40,800 40,800 |
Vel Sundback 39,135 39,135 i
Pekka Timonen 40,800 40,800 |
!

Further information on the share-based bonuses of the Group management can be found 1n Note 26 and the prinaples of the other
bonuses in the corporate governance

Personnel incentive scheme
The Group operates an incentive scheme based on a balanced scorecard, defined separately for each business umre, which covers most
of the Finnair Group’s employees The roral amount of bonuses in 2009 was 5 1 EUR million (11 2)

Transfer to Personnel Fund

The Finnatr Group has a profit bonus scheme, which allows employees to patucipate in a profic bonus payable on the basis of the
Group's result and return on capital employed A profit bonus is paid int a Personnel Fund, which 1s obliged ro invest parr of the
bonus i Finnair Ple’s shares Other staff costs include 0 0 nmutlion euros of profit bonus (0 0)

1 Jan-31 Dec 1Jan-31 Dec |

EUR mull 2009 2008 |
Socal expenses F
Pension expenses - defined-contnbution schemes 705 747
Pension expenses - defined-benefit schemes, voluntary 64 53 |
Other defined-benefit expenses 00 05
Orther social expenses 175 328 !
Total 944 1133 '

Management pension benefits

The pension schemes of the parent company’s President & CEC and members of the Board of Management as well as those of the
managing directors of subsidiaries are individual schemes, and the renrement age under these agreements varies from 60 to 65 years
All of the management pension schemes are defined-contribution schemes
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10 DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

1

1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec !
EUR mill 2009 2008 |
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets l
Buildings 34 53
Aircraft 109 8§ 841
Other equipment B4 105
1216 999 |
Depreaaticn of intangible assets '
Other intangible assets 102 10 3
Impairment
Goodwall 10 00
Total 132.8 110.2
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
i Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mil 2009 2008
Other operating expenses
Lease payments for aircraft 74 4 826
Rental of cargo capacity 29 84
Orther rental of flight capacity 429 295
Office and other rents 356 314
Traffic charges 1711 188 5 |
Sales and marketing expenses 77 2 102 9
' IT expenses and booking fees 292 330
Orther items”) 387 170 4
| Total 472 0 646 7
"Consists of several items, none of which are indmvidually sigruficant
The auditor’s fees are included i1n the other items as follows |
1 Jan-31 Dec 1Jan-31 Dec |
EUR mull 2009 2008 |
Auditor's fees
PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Auditor's fees 02 02
Tax advising 02 01
Other fees oc 00
Total 04 03
02 01

Others
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12 FINANCIAL INCOME
1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec .
EUR mll 2009 2008
Interest income |
Interest income from financial assets classified as held for trading 86 89
Other interest ncome 00 00
8.6 18.9
Dmdend income 01 00
Other financial income 00 03 :
Exchange gains 02 29
Total 89 221
13 FINANCIAL EXPENSES
) 1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
i EUR mill 2009 2008
| Interest expenses
Interest expenses on financial habiliues recognised
at fair value through profit and loss 07 14
i Interest expenses for financial habilities valued
at amortsed acquIsSItion Cost 7 12 4
Interest on finance leases 26 29
150 16.7
Exchange losses 20 00
. Orther financial expenses 17 100
Total 187 26 7

Efficiency testing of the Group’s hedge accounung found thar both cash flow and fair value hedging are effictent Thus, as in the
companson year 2008, no inefficiency 1s included 1n financial wems for 2009 Financial income includes an identical amounr of
profits and losses for fair value hedging instruments and for hedging 1tems resulting from the hedged risk




The undiluted earmngs per share figure 1s calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year attmburable to the parent com-
pany’s shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during rthe financial year When calculaning rhe earn-

ings per share adjusted by dilution, the werghted average of the number of shares takes inro account the diluung effecr resulting

from changing mto shares all potentially diluting shares The fair value of the share 1s based on the weighted average price of the

shares 1n trading

1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec

‘ 2009 2008
¢ Result for the finanaal year EUR mill -102 0 -46 3
interest of Hybnd Bond -1 9 00

' Weighted average number of shares 1,000 pcs 128,136 127,970
" Undiluted and diluted earnings per share EUR -0 81 -0 36

Dividend

The dividend has not been paid 1n 2009 and 1n 2008 has been paid 31 9 million euros {0 25 euros per share) The Board of Directors

proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend from fiscal year 2009 will be pad
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14 INCOME TAXES
' Taxes for financial year
1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec |
EUR mill 2009 2008
Tax based on taxable income of financial year 00 15
Tax based on taxable income of previous financial years 40 -11
Deferred taxes -358 -16 5
' Total -31.8 -161
!
' The tax expense included in the consolidated income statement
, differs in the following way from the theoretical sum obtained by
] using the tax rate (26%) of the Group’s home country, Finland
1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
" EUR mill 2009 2008
Profit before taxes 133 7 622 |
' Taxes calculated using the Finmish tax rate 348 162 | X
' Different tax rates of foreign subsidianes 01 0o | '
Share of result in associates 00 01 |
Tax-free income 07 -01
Nondeductible expenses -02 04 |
Other temporary differences adjustement -22 00 | '
Deferred taxes from loss 00 03
Income taxes, total 318 161
Effecuve tax rate 23 8% 25 8% :
15 EARNINGS PER SHARE
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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Financial statement 31 Dec 2008

Caonnections

EUR mull fees Systems Goodwill Total !
Acquisition cost
Acguisinion cost 1 Jan 2008 21 105 5 Cc8 108 4
Additions 01 126 127
Subsidiary acquisitions 29 29 |
Disposals -02 -41 00 -43
Transfers between items 00 00 00
" Acquisiion cost 31 Dec 2008 20 114 0 37 197
Accumulated depreciation and impasrment
Accumulated depreciauon and imparrment 1 Jan 2008 00 -618 00 -618 |
Depreciauon -103 00 -103
- Accumuiated planned deprecianon of disposals 0s 00 05
Accurnulated depreciation and
impairment 31 Dec 2008 00 -716 00 716
.
Book value 31 Dec 2008 2.0 42 4 37 481
Book value 1 Jan 2008 21 437 08 45 6
' Financial statement 31 Dec 2009
Connections
EUR mull fees Systems Goodwill Total
Acquisition cost
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2009 20 1140 37 1oz
Additions 00 136 136 1
Subsidiary acquisitions co 00
Disposals -01 -4 3 00 -4 4
Transfers between items 00 00 00
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2009 19 123 3 37 128 9
:
Accumulated depreciation and impawment
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 jan 2009 00 -716 0o <716
Depreciation -10 2 <10 112
Accumulared planned depreciation of disposals 00 00
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment 31 Dec 2009 00 -818 -10 -82 8
Book value 31 Dec 2009 1.9 41.5 2.7 461
1
Book value 1 jan 2009 20 424 37 481 \
!
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|

|

! In connection of selling Flynordic 2007 was allocated goodwill of 0 5 mullion euros to airline business When the Group acquired
i more of the company Ou Horizon Travel, geodwill amounting to 0 4 milhion euros was recogmised for the acquisiion The toral
: goodwill of Ou Horizon Travel 1s 0 7 mullion euros When the Group acquired the shares of Calypso company, goodwill amount-
| ing 2 5 mullion euros was recognised for the acquisition After impairment testing 1t was found that 1 0 mullion euro of imparrment
{ lossess of Calypso goodwill has been recognised In impairment testing, the recoverable amount has been determined based on value
' it use Cash flow forecasts are based on management-approved budgets and forecasts, which cover a five-year period. The discount
i rate used 15 20 0% (Group WACC 8 25%) The main assumpuon in budgets and forecasts 1s 2% growth in revenue and expenses

|
i

Based on low value of goodwall, the tmpact of changes on variables in value determination for impartment are not essential

17 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Finanoal statement 31 Dec 2008 i

Other
EUR mill Land Buildings Aircraft equipment Advances Total
Acquisition cost
, Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2008 17 1841 1,495 6 2419 1087 2,0320
' Addwions 00 36 199 1 266 29 260 2
Disposals 00 -68 =156 § -09 -75 1717
i Transfers berween items 00 G0 00
' Transfer to a held-for-sale asset item -93 4 -93 4 '
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 17 208 9 1,444 8 2676 1041 2,0271
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment 1 Jan 2008 00 -111 2 -544 8 -2071 00 -8631
_ Depreciation -53 -841 -105 -99 9
Accumulated depreciation for
a held-for-sale asser item 740 740 ‘
Accumulated planned
+ depreciauion of disposals 68 126 8 04 1340
Accumulated deprecianion and
impairment 31 Dec 2008 00 -109 7 -428 1 -217 2 00 -755 0
Book value 31 Dec 2008 17 99.2 1,016.7 50 4 1041 1,272.1

Book value 1 Jan 2008 17 729 950 8 348 1087 1,168 9 |
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Financial statement 31 Dec 2009

Other
EUR mill Land Buildings Awrcraft  equipment Advances Total
Acquisition cost
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2009 17 208 9 1,444 8 2676 1041 2,0271
Addiuons 0¢ 02 3256 725 06 3989
Disposals -10 -529 -141 -10 -23 0 -92 0
Transfers between items 00 00 00
Transfer to a held-for-sale asset item 00 00
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2009 Q7 156 2 1,756 3 3391 817 2,334 0
Accumulated depreciatton and impairment
Accumulated depreciation '
and rmpairment 1 Jan 2009 00 -109 7 -4281 -217 2 00 -7550 |
Depreciation -34 -109 8 -84 1216
Accumulated depreciation F
. for a held-for-sale asset item 00 00 l

Accumulated planned i
deprecianion of disposals 91 19 06 16 |
Accumulated depreciation “
and impairment 31 Dec 2009 00 -104 0 -536 0 -2250 00 -865 0 i

|
Book value 31 Dec 2009 07 522 1,220.3 1141 az 1,469.0 |
Book value 1 Jan 2009 17 96 2 1,016 7 504 1041 1,2721 !

|

As surery for liabilities in 2009 1s the carrying amount of arrcraft pledged, namely 704 6 mullion euros (243 8)
Other equipment includes office equipment, furmishings, cars and transportauon vehicles used ar airports

Impatrment test
The impairment test of the aircrafts based on the fair value and value-in-use has been done on the closing date The test based on
value-in-use did not cause any need for tmpairment

The recoverable amount of a CGU 1s determined based on value-in-use calculations These calculations use pre-tax cash flow pro-
jections based on financial budgets approved by management covering an eight-year period The expenses are expected ro grow of 2
per cenc imflacion rate and revenues are expected ro grow of 3 per cent yearly As the residual value will be used escher che esnmared
value of aircrafts in 2020 or earhier year if che arrcraft type 1s expected to be divested The fair values of aircrafts are based on bulile-
uns of two independent arrcraft valuators

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows
WACC 8 25%
EUR USD 1 44 exchange rate
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2010 201 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

i Fuel, USD/ton 763 819 819 819 819 819 819 819

Yield (c/RPK) change, %

. Asia 37 52 37 18 10 090 00 00 |
Europe -6 2 30 25 20 -10 -20 -20 -20 |
Load factor % r
! Asia 787 810 810 820 820 820 820 820 !
! Europe 68 6 710 720 725 730 735 735 735 |
f

The value-in-use calculanion 1s sensitive to all materal key assumptions

‘Tangble fixed assets include assers acquired under finance leases

The value-in-use calculation of arrcraft 1s sensitve to USD exchange rate, the USD strenghtenuing of 10% will decrease the recover-
able amounr so thar the impairment should be made Howewer USD strenghterung of 10% will increase the farr value of aircrafts,
determuned by the arrcraft valuacors, above the bookkeeping euro value of aircrafts

Finanoial statement 31 Dec 2008

' Finance lease arrangements
|
|
'
|
|

Machinery

EUR mull Buildings and vehicles Total
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2008 24 0 302 542
Accumulated depreciation -57 -11 4 -171
Book value 18.3 18 8 374

' EUR mull 2009 2010-2013 2014-
Lease payments 74 254 312
Discounting 27 99 10 4
Net present value 47 155 208
Financial statement 31 Dec 2009 |

Machinery !

EUR mill Buildings and vehicles Total
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2009 24 0 302 542
Additions 00 64 2 642
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2009 240 94 4 118 4
Accumulated deprecianion and
impairment 1 Jan 2009 -57 -11 4 -171
Depreciation 15 27 -4 2

., Accumulated depreciation and

* aimpairment 31 Dec 2009 -72 -141 <213
Book value 16.8 80.3 971
EUR mill 2010 2011-2014 2015-

' Lease payments 112 46 1 711

! Discounting 23 112 213

" Net present value 89 349 49 8 .

|

Buildings in finance leasing arrangements are depreciated to plan 6-21 years and other equipment 1s depreciared according to plan
5-12 years In the financial year and 1n the comparison period no variable rents from finance leases have been recognised

VU U VU U |
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18 HOLDINGS IN ASSOCIATED UNDERTAKINGS

The Group’s share of the result, asset iterns and Labilities of associated companies, none of which are publicly listed, 1s presented below

EUR mull 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008 |
At the beginning of the financial year 62 62
Shares of results 00 00
Addituons 24 00 ¢
Disposals -03 00
At the end of the financial year 83 6.2

Information on the Group’s associated undertalangs
Financial statement 31 Dec 2008

Domucile Assets bLiabiliues Turnover Profit/Loss Holding, %
Suomen Jakeluner Oy Finland 08 01 03 01 4750 |
Towvelomat Oy Finland 03 01 03 00 4830 |
Amadeus Estonia Estoria 07 01 08 01 3325
Finrish Aircraft Mamtenance Oy Finland 62 26 36 04 5000
Kiinteisto Oy Lentajanue 1 Finland 322 243 14 00 28 33
Kinteisto Oy Lentajantie 3 Finland 109 90 06 00 3912
Total 511 362 7.0 0.6
Finanaal statement 31 Dec 2009 '
Domicile Assets  Liabilites Turnover Profit/Loss Holding, % i
Amadeus Estonia Estonia 07 02 06 02 3325 |
Finnish Aircraft Mamtenance Oy Finland 94 80 124 01 46 30 |
Kiinteisto Oy Lentajantie 1 Finland 312 230 14 00 28 33 !
Kinteisto Oy Lentajanue 3 Finland 106 88 05 00 3912 |
Total 51.9 40.0 14.9 0.3 |
!

The carrying amount of assoctated companies on 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 does not include goodwill

Amadeus Finland’s holding 1n Amadeus Estonia ensures the provision of consistent products and services to Finnish comparues
operanng it Estonia as well as in Finland and helps mncrease cooperanion between Estonta travel agencies and Finnish travel service
providers Finnawr Plc and Finncomm Aurlines have established a company 2008, Finnush Airceaft Maintenance Oy, which wall spectal-
1ze 1n regronal class arrcraft mamntenance services Towvelomat Oy has been as a subsidary company of Aurinkomatkat from the be-
ginming of April 2009 Suomen Jakelutiet, the assoctated company of Amadeus Finland, has finished 1ts operations 1n year 2009
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19 RECEIVABLES, LONG-TERM

EUR mull 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008

| Loan receivables 02 02
! Qther recervables 203 213 ¢
Total 205 215 |
| |

: Financial statement 31 Dec 2008

EUR mull Loan receivables Other receivables Total |
At the beginning of financial year 02 13 6 138 |
' Additions 00 77 77 |

Disposals 00 00 00

' At the end of financial year 02 21.3 21.5
l
Financial statement 31 Dec 2009 |

EUR mill Loan receivables Other receivables Tortal

©_At the beginning of financial year 02 213 215

" Additions 00 00 00

Disposals 00 -10 -10

At the end of financial year 0.2 203 205

Other recewvables are lease collarerals for aircraft operauional lease agreements

Balance sheer values correspond best to the sum which is the maximum amount of credit risk, excluding the fair value of guaran-
tees, in the event that other contractual parties are not able to fulfil their obhigations relating to finanaial instrumencs There are no
significant concentrations of credir risk relating co receivables The fair values of receivables are presented 1n Note 32
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20 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
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Cha.nges in deferred taxes dunng 2008

Recognised Recogmsed

1 Jan intheincome i shareholders’ 31 Dec

EUR mill 2008 statement equity 2008
Deferred tax assets :

Employee benefits 41 -25 00 16

Confirmed losses 00 37 00 37

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 05 -05 6o 00

Finance leasing 11 10 C0 21

Revenue recognition 03 -01 00 02

Capiahsanon of overhead expenses 04 -03 00 01
Heavy maintenance allocations 26 00 00 26

Share 1ssue 11 -11 00 00
COther temporary differences 03 04 00 ¢7
Finnair Plus 63 16 00 79 |
Valuation of derwvates at fair value Q0 Q40 3838 88 ,
Total 16 7 22 388 577 |
!
i
Deferred tax assers thar can be used [
after more than 12 months 14 6 136 '
l
Deferred tax habiities :
Accumulated depreciation difference 413 -181 00 232 |
Gains from sale of tangible fixed assets 925 38 00 963 |
Capitalisation of overhead expenses 01 -01 00 00 |
Recognition at far value 00 00 00 00
Other temporary differences 11 00 00 11 |
Valuation of derivates at fair value 95 00 -95 00 |
Total 144.5 -14 4 -9.5 1206
{
Deferred tax habiities payable after more than 12 months 133 8 195 !

No deferred rax hability 1s recogrused for undistributed profits of Finmish substdiaries and associated comparmues, because 1n most
cases these profits will be rransferred to the company without rax consequences
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Changes in deferred taxes dunng 2009:

Recogrised Recogrised !
1Jan in the income  n shareholders’ 31 Dec |
EUR mull 2009 statement equity 2009 |
Deferred tax assets :
Employee benefits 16 -16 00 Q0 |
Confirmed losses 37 167 00 204 |
Finance leasing 21 -09 00 12
Revenue recognition 02 00 00 02 !
Capitalisation of overhead expenses 01 00 00 01 |
Heavy maintenance allocations 26 05 00 21
Other temporary differences 07 22 00 29 ‘
Finnarr Plus 79 -16 00 63 | |
Valuation of denvates at fair value 388 00 -300 88
Total 57.7 143 -300 42.0
i
Deferred tax assets that can be used
after more than 12 months 136 112
Deferved tax habilities
Accumulated deprecianion difference 232 -208 00 24 |
Gains from sale of tangible fixed assets 96 3 -08 00 95 5
Employee benefits 00 12 00 12
Other temporary differences 11 -11 00 00
' Total 120 6 -21.5 0.0 99.1
|
Deferred tax liabilities payable

after more than 12 months 119 5 979 !

No deferred tax hability 1s recogmised for undistnibuted profits of Finnush subsidiaries and associated companies, because in most
cases these profits will be transferred to the company without tax consequences

If the foreign subsidiaries would pay out all retasning earnings as drndend to the parent company 1t would cause a0 3 EUR mil- ‘
lion tax effect (0 7)

The unlizavon of the deferred rax asser 1s based on the budgered future taxable profits during rhe next three years
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27 INVENTORIES

Financial Report

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mill 2009 2008
Materials and supplies 286 336
Work in progress 82 15
Total 36.8 351

In the financial period 0 1 onllion euros have been recognized based on the difference berween a carrying value and net realisable

value (0 2) This has been booked 1n materials and supplies for aircraft maintenance, Note 8

The carrying amount of tnventories recogrused at fair value 13 4 6 EUR mulkion (5 6) Inventories have not been pledged for Group

lLialihinies

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mull 2009 2008 !
Trade receivables 857 896 |
Recevables from associated undertakings 03 17 |
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 543 427 !
Recewvables based on derivative contracts 87 579 |
Other receivables 185 399 |
Total 197 5 231.8 |
Age distnbution of trade recevables |
31 Dec 31 Dec |
2009 2008
Not overdue 776 839
Overdue less than 60 days 56 55
Qverdue more than 60 days 25 02
Total 857 896

Debtlosses from trade receivables
The Group has recognised during the finanaal year credit losses from trade receivables of 1 0 nullion euros (1 9)

The recetvables not overdue and overdue do not consist any big credit nisk, because of good distribution of customer basis
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23 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS, SHORT-TERM

l
1
I'
|
|
|
|

| 31 Dec 31 Dec

EUR mull 2009 2008
Deposits, commercial papers and certficates !
+ of deposit, and government bonds 572 4 3647 ;

. Listed shares 229 62

Unlisted shares 29 29

Total 598.2 373.8

1

Ratmgs of counterpartles |

31 Dec 31 Dec

~ EUR mill 2009 2008

" Better than A 3027 2194

A 1514 49

BBB 249 49

BB 50 -

" Unrated 114 2 144 6

Total 598 2 3738

Listed foreign shares are valued ro closing quoration and mid-market exchange rates on the closing dare
In Note 31 15 told about investing of Groups’ short term assets and about group risk management policy

IFRS classificanon and fair values of finanaal assets are presented in Note 32

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 Dec 31 Dec
" EUR mull 2009 2008
Cash and bank deposits 9.2 18.3

Items tnclude cash and bank deposits realized on demand Foreign currency cash and bank deposits have been valued at mrd-mar-
ket exchange rates on the closing date
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Number Share premium Unrestricted i
of registered  Share capital, account, equity, Hybnd bond,
shares EUR EUR EUR EUR
1 Jan 2008 128,136,115 75,442,904 30 20,407,351 0% 244,880,581 34 000
Share-based bonus schemes expenses 2,267,230 49 000
31 Dec 2008 128,136,115 75,442,904 30 20,407,351 01 247,147,811 83 000 -

Hybrid bond 119,385,964 10

31 Dec 2009 128,136,115 75,442,904 30 20,407,351 247,147,811 83 119,385,964 10 '

Number Price, Average price, |

of own shares EUR EUR .

1 jJan 2008 387,429 3,064,616 42 791 i

Acquisition of own shares 0 000 000 |

. Disposal of own shares 0 000 000 |

" 31 Dec 2008 387,429 3,064,616 42 791

" Acquisition of own shares 0 G 00 000 |

 Disposal of own shares 0 0 00 000 |
Shares returned to company 0 000 000
31 Dec 2009 387,429 3,064,616 42 7N

All 1ssued shares are fully pard

Obligation to redeem clause

The Arncles of Association have no obligation to redeem clause

RESERVES INCLUDED IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share premium account

Share 1ssue gains arising during 1997-2006 have been recognised in the share premium account, less transaction expenses and the
profit for the disposal of own shares less taxes

General reserve

Gatns from share 1ssues ansing before Companues Acr of 1997 have been recogrused in the general reserve

Translaton difference

The translation differences include translation differences anising from the translation of foreign units’ financial statements

Unrestricted equuty

Share 1ssue November 29-December 17, 2007 gains less transaction expenses have been recognised in the unrestricred equty and

expenses of share bonus scheme

Fair value reserve

Fair value reserve includes che fair value of dervative instruments used in cash flow hedging and changes 1n fair values of available

for sale financial assets, less deferred rax




Farr value reserve !

EUR ml} 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008
Jet fuel price hedging -34 7 1531 !
Jet fuel currency hedging -30 1490
Hedging of lease payments -06 22
Hedging of irm aircraft purchase orders 00 -09
Loans hedging 00 03 j
Available for sale inancial assets 43 -118
Deferred tax asset (hability} 88 388
Total -25.2 -110.5

Matunty dates of fair values recogrised in the hedging reserve

. EUR mill 2010 201 2012 2013 2014 Larer Total
Jet fuel price hedging -36 9 13 09 -347

! Jet fuel currency hedging -18 -15 03 30 .

' Hedging of lease payments 07 01 06
Hedging of firm aircraft purchase orders 00 00
Loans hedging 00 00
Available for sale financial assets 43 00 43
Deferred tax asset (liability) 91 00 -03 00 g0 g0 88
Total -26 0 -01 09 0.0 0.0 0.0 -252

Derivatives in imncome statement

During 2009, 74 0 mullion: euros (-51 7} has been recogmsed from the fair value reserve as an increase tn expenses in the income
statement Of this, 76 9 million euros (-55 4) 1s an adjusement of fuel expenses and -2 9 milhion euros (3 7) an adjusrment of aircraft
lease expenses In addition, 0 2 mullion euros (3 4) has been recognised from the hedging reserve as an increase n fleer acquisition
expenditure in the balance sheet for financial year 2009

In accordance with its finanaial policy, Finnair hedges 1ts fuel purchases more than it can recognise in the fair value reserve accord-
ing to the mterprerarton of the IAS 39 standard For this hedging outside 1AS 39 hedge accounung, 56 8 mullion euros {-10 3) was
realised and recognised as an adjustment ro fuel expenses and -6 3 million euros (-11 0) 1n other operaning expenses in the tncome
statement durung 2009

Sensinvity analysie of farr value reserve

Ifthe price of Jet fuel CIF NWE had been 10 per cent hugher, the balance of the reserve w ould have been 28 million euroes (24) higher

Correspondingly, a 10 per cent weaker Jet fuel CIF NWE price would have reduced the reserve by 28 million euros (24) In terms of
the US dollar, a 10 per cent weaker level would have lowered the balance of the fair value reserve by 32 5 mullion euros (43 1) and a 10
per cent stronger dollar would have had a posiuve impact of 32 5 mullion euros {43 1) The effect of change 1n interests to fair value
reserve in own equity 15 not essential The enclosed sensivity figures do not take into account any change in deferred rax

liabrliry (tax assecs)

Own shares
The acquisition cost of own shares held by the Group s included i own shares For further mformanon on the share bonus scheme
see Note 26 Total amount of the acquisition cost of own shares held by the Group s 3 1 mullion euros (3 1)

Hybnd bond

Shareholders’ equity (after equity belonging ro shareholders) includes a 120 nullion euro hybnd bond issued n 2009 The bond
coupon 1s 9 per cent per year The bond has no maturity date, but the company has the right to redeem 1t 4 years after the dare of
1ssue The hybnid bond 1s unsecured and in a weaker preference posinon than promussory notes A holder of hybrid bond notes has
no shareholder rights
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Finnair Plc’s distnbutable equity

EUR rmill 31 Dec 2009 .
Retained earnings at the end of the financiat year 186 0
Unrestricted equity 2503
Result for the financial year -43 3 .
Distributable equity total 3930 '

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has share-based incentive scheme for personnel

FINNAIR PLC’S SHARE-BASED
INCENTIVE SCHEME 2007-2009
The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc approved a new share
bonus scheme 2007-2009 on 22 March, 2007 In the share bo-
nus scheme, key individuals have the possibility of receiving
shares as bonus for a three-year performance pertod accord-
ing to how targets set for the performance period have been
achieved In addition, the proportion payable as cashs 1§
umes the value of the shares

The Board of Directors decides annually the cargets to be
set for each performance period The targets are determined
on the basis of the Finnair Group’s financial development
Achieving the targets set for the performance period deter-
mines how large a proportion of the maximum bonus will be
paid. In a three-year period, the total of the three years’ share
bonuses, however, ¢an be at most a sum corresponding to three
years’ gross earnings

For the 2007 performance period, share bonus criterias were
Finnair Group earnings per share (EPS) 0 70-1 20 euros and
the return on capital employed (ROCE} 8% -14% Between
these values the bonus 1s deterrmined hineanly The actual out-
come of the share-based incentive scheme was 94 4% 1n 2007
and toral of 364,912 shares were given and the value of the
shares and payables as cash were total 5 7 million euros For
the 2008 performance period, share bonus critenas were EPS
0 50-1 0 euros and ROCE 8-14% The Board of Direcrors allo-
cated total 0f 395,977 shares to key personnel in 2008 While
the criterias were not fulfilled no sharebased payments were
paid for 2008 For the 2009 performance period, share bonus
critertas were EPS 0-0 50 euros and ROCE 4-10% The Board
of Directors allocated total of 531,569 shares to key personnel
in 2009 While the critenas are not fulflled, no share-based
payments were booked for 2009

Share-based allocations, number of shares

For performance period 2009
Chief Executive Officer 40,603
Deputy Chief Executive Officer 23,202 '
Other members of Group Management (7) 98,606
Members of the Board of Directors 0 |
Other key personnel 369,158
Total shares allocated 531,569
For 2009 no share bonuses will be paid, as the cnitenas were noz fulfilled
Share-based bonuses paid for, number of shares t
b
For performance period 2009 2008 2007 !
Chief Executive Officer 0 0 27,308
Deputy Chief Executive Officer 0 0 15,604 '
Other members of Group Management (9) 0 0 86,472 |
Members of the Board of Directors 0 0 o,
Other key personnel 0 0 235,528 !
Total shares pard 0 0 364,912 |
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PENSION LIABILITIES

Pension schemes are classified as defined-beneficand defined-
contribution schemes Payments made into defined-contribu-
tion pension schemes are recogmsed 1n the income statement
mn the period to which the paymenc applies In defined-benefic
pension schemes, obligations are calculated using the project-
ed unut crecit method Pension expenses are recognised as an
expense over the employees’ period of service based on cal-
cularions made by authorised actuaries Acruanal gains and
losses, 1n terms of the portion exceeding a certarn limic, are
recognised over the employees’ average term of service When
calculating the present value of pension obligations the in-
terest rate on government securnites is used as the discount
rate The terms to matunty of government securities approx-
1mate substantially to the terms to marurity of the relared
penston habihines

The Group’s foreign sales offices and subsidiaries have vari-
ous pension schemes that comply with the local rules and
pracrices of the countries it quesnon Al of the most sig-

Defined-benefit pension schemes

mificant pension schemes are defined-contnbunon schemes

The statutory pension cover of the employees of the Group’s
Finmsh companies has been arranged 1n a Finnush pension
msurance company The pension cover is 2 defined-contribu-
non scheme The pension schemes of the parent company’s
Prestdent & CEO and members of the Board of Management
as well as those of the managing directors of subsidiaries are
individual schemes, and the retirement age under these agree-
ments vartes from 60 to 65 years These pension schemes are
also defined-contribution schemes Other (voluntary) pension
cover of the Group’s domestic compantes has been arranged
as a rule in Finnair Plc’s Pension Fund, 1n which the pension
schemes are defined-benefic schemes These schemes deter-
mine pension cover benefirs, disabilicy compensation, post-
employment health-care and life insurance benefits as well as
employment severance benefits All of the Group’s post-retire-
ment benefits are defined-contribution benefits

Items TeCOgnlsed n the iIncome statement

, 1 Jan-31 Dec 1Jan-31 Dec
" EUR mill 2009 2008
Current service costs for financial year 85 92 |
Interest costs 16 4 183 :
Expected return on plan assets gain -202 -213 |
Past service cost-vested benefits 17 -09 !
Total, included in personnel expenses 6.4 53 |
I
The accual return of plan assets was 50 3 EUR mullion in year 2009 (-44 7)
' ttems recognised in the balance sheet
1 Jan-31 Dec 1 Jan-31 Dec
EUR mull 2009 2008
" Present value of funded obligations M6 3242
' Farvalue of scherme assets -353 9 -3397
: 42 3 -15'5
+_Present value of unfunded obligations Go 0o
« Unrecognised net actuanal gans (+) / losses (-) 378 216
Unrecognised costs based on past service 00 00
Net hability -4.5 61
, Presented prowisions [4RY 00
| Nethability presented in balance sheet -4.5 61

The balance sheer pension recervables for 2009 of 4 5 nullion euros and pension Labilines for 2008 6 1 muilion euros does not 1n-

clude wichin it any wems outside the Pension Fund

Pension scheme assets include Finnaur Ple shares with a fair value of 0 5 mullion euros (0 7) and a buildings used by the Group with

a fair value of 37 8 mullion euros (36 9)
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Changesin plan assests

31 Dec 31 Dec F
EUR muill 2009 2008
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 3397 3895 '
« Expected return on plan assets 202 213
Actunal gain {loss) on plan assets <24 -660 |
Contributions 170 150 E
Benefits paid -20 6 201
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 3539 3397 |
|
Plan assets are compnised as follows |
31 Dec 31 Dec
% 2009 2008
Listed shares 190 150
Debt instruments 560 530
Property 180 200
" Other 70 120
1000 100 0
Net liability reconciliation statement
31 Dec 31 Dec
" EUR milf 2009 2008
At the beginning of the financial year 61 158
Total expenses, presented above 64 53
Paid contributions -170 -150
At the end of the financial year 45 61
Defined-benefit schemes principal actuanal assumptions
31 Dec 31 Dec
2009 2008
Discount rate, % 525 5125
Expected rate of return on assets, % 575 600
Annual rate of future salary increases, % 35 35
Future pension increases, % 21 21
Estimarted remaining years of service 14 14
|
31 Dec 31 Dec 1
EUR mill 2009 2008 |
Present value of defined benefit obligation 3Nneé 3242 ;
" Fair value of plan assets -353 9 -3397 |
Surplus (-) / Deficit (+) -42 3 -155
Experience adjustments on plan assets -24 -66 0
Experience adjustments on plan lrabilines -18 6 361 |
1
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28 PROVISIONS

Restructuring

Maintenance

EUR mill provision provisions Total
Prowisions at 1 January 2008 00 536 536
Increase 24 55 79
Decrease 00 00 00
Prowvisions at 31 Dec 2008 24 591 615

Restructuring

Mamntenance

EUR mil prowvision provisions Tortal
Prowisions at 1 January 2009 24 591 615
Increase 33 127 16 0
Decrease -24 21 45
Provisions at 31 Dec 2009 33 69.7 730

In financral year 2009, the Group has recogrused personnel restructursng provision of 3 3 nullion euros (2 4)

The Group 15 obliged to surrender [eased aircraft at a certain maintenance standard To fulfil these maintenance obligations the Group

has recogrused heavy maincenance provisions The basis for a provision 1s flight hours flown during the maintenance period
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INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
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31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR muill 2009 2008
Interest-bearing liabilities .
Long-term j
Bank loans -441 0 1406 !
Bonds -100 0 -770
Finance lease habibties -857 -36 3 E
Total -626.7 -2539
Non-interest-bearing habihues r
Long-term E
Pension habilities -47 50 |
Other -6 0 22 |
Total -637.4 -2611 |
| Interest-beaning habilives
Current
Cheque account facilities -01 -06
Bank loans -628 -26 2
Finance lease habilities 79 -47
Commercial paper -119 2 00
Other loans -118 170 |
Total -201.8 -48.5
Matunty dates of interest-bearing financial liabilines 31 Dec 2008 i
EUR mull 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Later Total i
Bank loans, fixed interest -214 -120 25 00 00 0o 359
Bank loans, vanable interest 98 =111 -26 2 -397 =270 -173 -130 9 ‘
Bonds, variable mterest 00 00 00 -770 00 00 <770
Finance lease habilities -47 36 -38 -4 0 -4 -208 -41 0
Other loans 17 6 00 00 00 00 00 -17 6
Inr.erest»bea.nng habilities total -535 -26.7 -32.5 -120.7 -311 381 -302.4 |
 Payments from currency derivatives -530 2 -2827 -205 -247 -13 6 1551 -1,026 8 |
Income from currency derivatives 5373 2943 209 253 141 1581 1,050 0
Commodity derivatives -142 4 -54 9 -85 00 00 00 -2058 |
Trade payables and orher liabihiries -1,044 9 00 ao 00 00 00 -1,0449
Interest payments -10 6 -85 75 -4 4 -17 15 342 |
Total -1,244.2 -78.5 -48 0 -124 5 -32.3 -36.6 -1,5641
|
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Matunity dates of interest-beaning financial habiliies 31 Dec 2009

EUR mull 2010 20m 012 2013 2014 Larer Toral
Bank loans, fixed interest -131,2 -24 00 00 00 00 -133 6
Bank loans, vanable interest -50 8 -62 5 -147 6 -531 -3 7 -143 7 -489 4 |
Bonds, variable interest 00 00 -100 0 00 00 00 -1000 !
Finance lease habilines -79 -77 79 -82 77 -54 2 -936
Orher loans -119 00 00 Qo0 00 00 -119 |
Interest-bearing habities total -201 8 -72 6 -255 5 -61.3 -394 -197.9 -828 5
Payments from currency derivatives -775 8 -1419 -39 2 -13 6 -1551 00 -11256
Income from currency dervatives 786 5 1391 392 136 1527 [4N¢] 1,311 |
. Commodity derivatives -32 0 18 09 00 00 g0 293
Trade payables and orher habiliues -840 4 00 00 00 00 00  -8404 |
Interest payments -15 5 -127 30 -58 -47 -94 -571
Total -1,079.0 -863 -263.6 -67.1 -46 5 -2073 -1,7498

Bank loans include long-term currency and interest rare swaps that hedge USD-denominared arrcraft financing loans Interest rate
re-fixing period tn variable interest loans 1s 3 or 6 months

The currency mix of interest-bearing long-term habihties
(including cross currency interest rate swaps) 1s as follows:
31 Dec 31 Dec |
" EUR mill 2009 2008 |
EUR 726 4 242 2
UsD 1021 602
828.5 3024
)
Weighted average effective interest rates on \
* interest-beanng long-term habihties ’
2009 2008 |

2 6% 47%

S S '
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Finance lease habilities
31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR mill 2009 2008
Minimum lease payments
Up to 1 year 12 74
1-5 years 46 1 254
More than 5 years 701 32
Total 127 4 64 0
Future financial expenses 44 29 I
Present value of mimimum lease payment
Upto 1 year 89 46
1-5 years 349 156
More than § years 498 208
Total 93 6 41.0 |
Total of financial lease habihties 93 6 410
|
30. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHERS LIABILITIES
31 Dec 31 Dec !
EUR mill 2009 2008 |
Advances received 44 5 48 9 1
Trade payables 523 821 !
Other accrued habilities 410 2 456 4
Liabilities based on derivative contracts 620 2267
Orther accrued habihities 132 200 !
Total 5822 834.1
Significant stems in other accrued labilities ,
31 Dec 31 Dec |
EUR mll 2008 2007 '
Unflown arr transport revenues 127 6 1725 .
Holiday pay reserve 795 899 !
Other 2031 1940 |
Total 410 2

456.4 !

Other accrued habilines consists of several irems, none of which are individually ssgmificant
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MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS

Risk management in Finnawr

PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The nature of the Finnair Group’s business operations exposes
the company to foreign exchange, interest rate, credit and
liqutdicy, and fuel price risks The Group’s policy 1s to limit
the uncertainty caused by such risks on cash flow, financial
performance and equiry

The management of financial risks 1s based on the nsk man-
agement policy, which specifies the minimum and masimum
levels permurted for each type of nsk Financial risk manage-
ment1s directed and supervised by the Financtal Risk Sceering
Group Practical implementanion of financial policy and nisk
management have been centralised 1n the parent company’s
fnance department

In s management of foreign exchange, interest rate and jet
fuel posinons che company uses different derivatve instru-
ments, such as forward contracts, swaps and options Deriva-
tives are designated at inception as hedges for future cash flows
(cash tlow hedges), hedges for firm orders (hedges of the fair
value of irm commicments) or as financial derivatives not
qualifying for hedge accounting (economic hedges) In terms
of the hedging of future cash flows (cash flow hedging), the
Finnair Group implements, 1n accordance with IAS 39 hedge
accounting principles, hedging of fixed rate foretgn exchange
loans, foreign exchange hedging of lease payments and arrcraft
purchases, and hedging of jet fuel price and foreign exchange
risks In addicion, hedging of firm commitment 1s used for
aircraft investments

FUEL PRICE RISK IN FLIGHT OPERATIONS
Fuel price risk means the cash flow and financial performance
uncertainty arising from fuel price fluctuations

Finnair hedges against jet fuel price flucruanions using gasoil
and jer fuel forward contracts and options As the underlying
asser of jet fuel derwarives, the Jer Fuel CIF Cargoes NWE 1n-
dex 15 used, because around 65% of Finnair’s fuel purchase
contracts are based on the benchmark price index for North
and West Europe jet fuel deliveries

Finnair applies the principle of ume-diversification 1n 1ts
fuel hedging The hedging horizon according to the finan-
cial policy is three years Under the finanaal policy, hedging
must be increased in each quarter of the year so that the hedge
raue for Finnair’s Scheduled Passenger Traffic for the first
six months 15 more than 60% and so thar thereafter a lower
hedge rato applies for each period By allocating the hedg-
ing, the fuel cost per penod 1s not as low as the spot-based
price when prices fall, but when spor prices rise the fuel cost
rises more slowly

In accounnng fuel hedges are recogmsed 1n Finnair m two
different ways In terms of the fuel consumpuon of Finnair,
the first approximarely 40 percentage pornts per perioid are
treated 1n accounting as cash-flow hedging in accordance wath
IAS 39 hedge accounting principles Changes in the fair value

of derivatrves defined as cash flow hedging tn accordance with
IAS 39 are posted directly to the fair value reserve included
in equity The change in fair value recogmsed 1n rhe equity
hedging reserve 1s posted to income staternent at the periord
time as the hedged transaction Changes in the fair value of
hedges outside hedge accounting - which do not fulfil IAS 39
hedge accountng criteria - are recogmsed in other operaung
expenses over the time of the derivarive

At the end of the financial year, Scheduled Passenger Traffic
had hedged 73% of its fuel purchases for the first ssx months
of 2010 and 51% for the second halfof the year Leisure Traffic
has hedged 60% of 1zs fuel purchases for the remaiming win-
ter season and 40% of 1ts purchases for the comng summer
season At the end of the financial year Leisure Traffic has no
price clauses with tour operators similar to those agreed in
previous years

In the financial year 2009, fuel used in fight operations ac-
counted for 24,5% compared to the Group’s turnover At the
end of cthe financial year, the forecase for 2010 1s somewhat
over one fifth On the closing date, a ten per cent rise in the
market price of jet fuel - excluding hedging acuwvity calcular-
ed using Scheduled Passenger Traffic's forecasted flights for
2009 - increases annual fuel costs by an esnimated 36 EUR
millzon On the closing date ~ raking hedging into account
- a ten per cent rise in fuel lowers operatng profir by around
18 EUR mullien Situation as at 31 December represents well
the mean of a calendar year

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
Foreign exchange risk means cthe cash flow and financial per-
formance uncertainty ansing from exchange rate fluctuations
The Finnair Group’s foreign exchange risk arises mainly from
fuel and aircraft purchases, asrcraft leasing payments and for-
e1gn Currency INcomes

The finanaal policy divides the foreign exchange position
1nro two parts, a profir and loss position and an investmenr
position The profit and loss position consists of dollar-de-
nomunared fuel purchases and leasing payments, sales reve-
nue n a number of different currenctes, and also foreign ex-
change-denominated money marker investments and loans
The investment position includes dollar-denormunated asreraft
investments

Finnar applies the principle of nme-diversification n 1rs
foreign exchange hedging The hedging hornizon according to
the financal policy 1s two years The hedge rano of the foreign
exchange position 1s determined as the reduction of the over-
all nsk of the position using the value-at-risk method Under
the financial policy, hedges must be added to the profit and
loss posttion 1n each haif of the year so thar the hedge ratio
for the first six monchs 1s more than 60% and so thar thereaf-
ter the hedge ratio declines for each period. In addition, Fin-
nair hedges foreign exhange risk exceeding two years as far as
hedging the currency nisk of fuel 1s concerned (IAS 39 cash
flow hedging)
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The 1nvestment pos:tion includes all foreign exchange-de-
nominated aircraft investments for which a binding procure-
ment contract has been signed According to the finanaial
policy, at least half of the investments recognised in the bal-
ance sheer must be hedged after the signing of a firm order
New hedges tn invesrment posinon will be made as IAS 39 fair
value hedge of a firm commirment

Around 66% of Group turnover 15 denominated 1n euros
The most important other foreign sales currencies are, the
Japanese yen, Swedish crown, the Chinese yuan, the Bniash
pound and the US dollar

Approximarely one third of the Group’s operating costs are
denomtrnared 1n foreign currencies The most imporrant pur-
chasing currency 1s the US dollar, which accounts for approx-
imarely one fourch of all operating costs Sigmficant dollar-
denomunared expense items are arrcraft leasing paymentsand
fuel costs The largestinvestments, the acquusition of aireraft
and their spare parts, also take place mainly in US dollars

At the end of the financial year, Finnair hedged 73% of its
profit and loss items for the first six months of 2009 and 54%
for the second half of the year On the closing date a 10%
strengthening of the dollar against the euro - withour hedg-
ing - has a negative impact on the annual result of around 48
mullion euros On the closing date - raking hedging into ac-
count - a 10% strengrhening of the dollar weakens the resulr
by around 17 million euros In the above numberss, the dol-
lar nisk includes alse the Chinese yuan and the Hong Kong
dollar, whose hisrorical correlation with the dollar is high
Situauon as at 31 December represents well the mean of a
calendar year

INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk means cthe cash flow and financaial perform-
ance uncertanty artsing from incerest rate flucruanions

In Finnair Group the tnzerest rare risk s measured using
the interest rate re-fixing period If necessary, interest rate de-
rivanives are used to adjust the inrerest rate re-fixing period
According to the Anancial policy, the mandate for the invest-
ment portfoho’s interest rate re-fixing period 1s 0-12 months
and for interest-bearing habilines 0-24 months On the closing
date the investment portfolio’s interest rare re-fixing period
was 5 months and for interest-bearing Liabilities 11 months
On the closing dare a one percentage point rise i interest rates
increases the annual interest income of the investment port-
folio abour 3,5 mullion euros and the interesr expenses of the
loan portfolio abour 5,5 million euros Siruanon as ar 31 De-
cember represents well the mean of a calendar year

CREDIT RISK

The Group 15 exposed to counterparty risk when investing 1ts
cash reserves and 1z using derivative instruments The credut
risk 1s managed by making contracts, within the framework
of risk management policy of counterparty risk limuts, only
with financally sound domestic and foreign banks, Anancial
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institutions and brokers Liquid assets are also invested 1n
bonds and commeraial papers issued by conservatively select-
ed companies within company-specific hmits This way risk
towards single counterparuies are not significant Change in
fair value of groups loans rise from changes in FX and incer-
est, not from credicrisk Groups’ maximum exposure to cred-
it risk 1s other financial assets presented ar note 23, cash and
cash equivalent presented in nore 24, and trade receivables
presented tn note 22

LIQUIDITY RISK
The goal of the Finnair Group 15 to mamntain good biquidiry
Liquidsty 1s ensured by cash reserves, bank account limurs,
liquid money marker investments and commuzted credit fa-
cilinies With respect to atrcraft acquisitions, the company’s
policy 15 to secure financing, for example through commurred
loans, at a munimum of 6 months before delivery Counterpar-
tes of groups’ long term loans are solid financial insutunons
with good reputation

The Group’s liquid assets were 607 EUR mullion ar the end
of financial year 2009 Finnair Plc has a domestc commercial
paper programme of 200 million euros, of which 120,5 mul-
l1on euros was used on the closing date In addinion, Finnair
has a 200 million eurc comnutted credit facility, commurted
unused 50 million eures arcraft inanang limit and a 60 mil-
lion dollar credit factity The 200 million euro credit facihy
includes a finance covenant based on adjusted gearing The
covenant level of adjusted gearing 15 175%, while at the clos-
ing date the figure was 86 9% The maximum level set by the
Board of Directors is 140%

CAPITAL MANACEMENT
The aim of the Group’s capital managemenc s, wich the aid
of an opumum capreal structure, to support business opera-
tions by ensuring normal operating condirions and to increase
shareholdervalue with the best possible return being rhe goal
An optimum capital structure also ensures lower capital costs
The capital structure 15 influenced e g via divadend distrabu-
tion and share 1ssues The Group can vary and adjust the lev-
el of divtdends paid to shareholders or the amount of cap:-
tal returned to them ot the number of new shares 1ssued, or
can decide on sales of asset iems 1n order to reduce debt It
1s the aim the Finnair’s dividend policy to pay on average at
least ene third of the earnings per share as dividend duning
an economuc cycle

The development of the Group’s capiral structure 1s moni-
tored continuously using adjusted gearing When calculating
adjusted gearing, interest-bearing net debr 1s divided by the
amount of shareholders’ equity Net debt includes inrerest-
bearing debrt less interest-bearing recesvables and cash and
cash equivalents The Group’s adjusted gearing at the end of
2009 was 86 9% (65 1)
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32 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial Avalable Valued .
Hedge Financial  assetsatfar for sale at allocated
accounoing assets held  value through financal  Loans and acguisiuon Fair
EUR mull irems for radng  profirorloss assets  recevables cost value |
31 Dec 2008 1
Financal assets !
Recewables 215 215 \‘
Orther financial assets 3647 3647 !
Trade receivables and other recewvables 173 9 173 9
Listed shares 62 62
i Unlsted shares 29 29
Dervauves 213 36 6 579 |
. Cash and cash equivalents 183 183
Total 645 4
|
Financial habihties E
Interest bearing habilities 123 2355 2472 |
Finance lease habilhues M0 410 |
Derivauves 1650 753 2403 |
Trade payables and other habiliues 682 2 6822 |
Fair value total 1,210.7
Book value total 1,211.3
!
31 Dec 2009 |
Financial assets i
Recevables 205 205 |
Orther financial assets 5724 5724 |
Trade receivables and other recevables 158 8 1588 |
Derivatves 18 4 203 387 |
Listed shares 229 229 |
Unlisted shares 29 29
Cash and cash equivalents 92 92
Total 8254
Financial habihties
Interest beanng liabihuas 71 7212 728 3
Finance lease habilities 936 936
« Derivatives 60 6 78 68 4
' Trade payables and other habilities 6041 6041
. Farvalue total 1,494 4 |
Book value total 1,494.4

Calcularted tax liabilities are not presented in this note Group has 99 1 mullion euros (120 6) of calculared tax habilities mn 1ts bal-
ance sheer In this note inkerest rate dervanives (currency and interest-rate swaps) are included in dervanves In other notes they
are included in bank loans The item other financial assets mainly includes USD-denominated security deposits for leased arrcraft
Trade payables and other habilinies include trade payables, deferred expenses, pension obliganions as well as orher interest-bearing

and non-interest-bearing liabilirtes

The valuanon prinaples of financral assets and habilinies are outhned in the accounung prinaiples
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Fair value hierarchy of finanaal assets
and habilities valued at fair value

Fair values at the end of reporuing peniod

EUR mill 31 Dec 2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets valued at fair value
Financial assets art fair value through profit and loss
Securiues held for trading 5724 373 5351 -
Derivatves held for trading - - - -
Interest rate swaps - - - - |
- of which in fair value hedge accounung - - - -
Currency forwards 195 - 19 5
- of which in cash flow hedge accounung 161 - 161 -
Commaodity derivatives 19 2 - 189 03
- of which in cash fiow hedge accounung 134 - 134 :
Financial assets available-for-sale - - - -
Share investments 229 229 - -
' Total 634 60.2 573 5 0.3
© Liabihities valued at fair value
' Financial habilives recogrused at fair
value through profit and loss
Dernvauves held for trading
Interest rate swaps 66 66
- of which in cash flow hedge accounuing 38 38
Currency forwards 132 132
' - of which in cash low hedge accounuing 127 127
Commodity dervatives 48 6 48 6
- of which in cash flow hedge accounting 481 481
Total 68.4 68 4

During the financal year no significant transfers took place between fair value hierarchy Levels 1 and 2

The fair values of hierarchy Level 1 are based fully on quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markers of the same assets and habili-

ttes

The fair values of Level 2 instruments are based to a sigmficant extent on input data other than the quoted prices included in Level
1, bur however on data that are observable esther directly (price) or indirectly (derived from price) for the said asset or Iiability

The fair values of Level 3 instruments on the other hand are based on asset or liability 1npur dara thar are nor based on observable
market informarion {unobservable inputs), rather to a significant extent on confirmations supplied by counterparties based on

generally accepred valuarion models

The fair value huerarchy level to which a certain item valued at fairvalue 1s classified 1n 1ts entirety 1s determined in accordance with
the requirements of IFRS 7 based on the lowest level of inpurt significant to the overall fair value of the said irem The sigmificance
of the input data has been assessed 1n 1ts entirety in relanon to said irem valued at fair vatue
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Reconcihanion of financial assets and habilities valued at farr value according to Level 3

Fair value at end of the reporting peniod

EUR mull

Recogmised at far value through profit and loss

Available for sale

Securities held for rrading  Denvarives held for rrading  Share investments

Total

Opeming balance

26 4

26 4

Profits and losses in
Income statement, rotal

<261

-261

In comprehensive income

Purchases {and sales)

Settlements {(and 1ssues)

Transfers to and from Level 3

Closing balance

0.3

03

Total profits and losses
recognised for the penod
for assets held at the end
of the reporting period

In other cperatng
income and expenses

03

03

Duning the financtal year, no transfers took place to or from fatr value hieratchy Level 3 1r the fair value levels of financial assets and
Liabtlities According to managementc estumares, the changing of input data used 1n determuming the fair value of financal instru-
ments valued at Level 3 to some other possible alternanive assumption would not sigmificantly change the fair value of items valued
at fair value in Level 3, given the relatively small amount of the satd assets and habilittes
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33 SUBSIDIARIES

34
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Group ownership %

Finnair Carge Oy, Helsink: 100 00
Finnair Cargo Terminal Operations Qy, Helsinki 100 00
Amadeus Finland Oy, Helsinki 95 00
Matkatoimisto Oy Area, Helsinki 100 00
A/S Estravel Ltd, Estonia 7202
Oy Aurinkomatkart - Suntours Ltd Ab, Helsink 100 00
Tovelomat Oy, Helsinki 100 00
COO Aurninkomatkat, Russia 100 00 |
Calypso, Russia 8000 !
Matkayhtyma Oy, Helsinki 100 00 !
Horizon Travel, Estonia 9500
FTS Finanaal Services Qy, Helsinka 100 00 |
Finnair Catering Oy, Helsink 100 00 !
Finnair Faciines Management Oy, Helsinki 100 00 ;
" Finnair Aircraft Finance Oy, Helsink 100 00 |
' Finncatenng Qy, Vantaa 100 00 l
+ Northport Oy, Helsinki 100 00 |
Finland Travel Bureau Ltd , Helsinki 10000 |
l

OTHER LEASE AGREEMENTS

The Group 1s the lessee

Minimum rental payments for irrevocable lease agreements are as follows

Aurcrafts Builldings Machinery and vehicles

31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec
' EUR mill 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 |
less than a year 60 6 761 176 13 4 65 75 |
, 1-2 years 518 54 8 173 125 50 59 |
2-3 years 412 49 0 16 8 121 137 199 |
3-4 years 254 40 5 161 111 01 01 |
4-5 years 16 6 24 4 155 10 4 00 00 |
more than 5 years 309 411 148 2 1113 00 00 |
Total 226 5 285.9 2315 170 8 253 33.4 |
i

The Group has leased premuses as well as aircraft and other fixed assets with irrevocable lease agreements These agreements have
different levels of renewal and other index-linked terms and condintons The Group has leased 32 arrcrafts on leases of different

lengths
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31 Dec 31 Dec

EUR mull 2009 2008
Other pledges given on own behalf 6800 2734
Guarantees on behalf of Group undertakings 781 637

Guarantees on behalf of others 33 43
Total 761.4 3413
[

EUR mull Total

Investment commitments 1,100.0

Above menuoned investment commitments includes firm aircraft orders and 1s based on prices and exhange rates as at 31 Dec 2009
The total amounr commurred to firm’s orders fluctuares between the placing of an order and the delivery of the atrcraft mainly due
to changes 1n exhange rates, as all of the company’s aircraft orders are denominated in U S dollars, as well as due to the escalation
clauses included tn airline purhase agreements Therefore, the roral amount presented herein should not be relied as being 2 maxi-
mum or minumum comrmtment by the company The final amount of the commutment in relation to each awrcraft 1s only known

at che tine of the delivery of each aircraft

Derwvatives i
Norminal amount Fair value Nominal amount Farvalue |
EUR mill 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2008 !
Currency denvatives i
Hedge accounung items (forward contracts) f
Jet fuel currency hedging 2991 -30 3827 140 |
Hedging of aircraft acquisiions !
Fair value hedging 4910 71 4258 264 |
Cash flow hedging 00 00 589 04 |
Hedging of lease payments 362 -06 48 4 22 |
Total 826 3 35 915.8 43.0
Items outstde hedge accounung
Qperavonal cash-flow hedging (forward coniracts) 214 8 09 74 4 32
Operauonal cash-flow hedging (opuons)
Call oprions 00 00 12 8 02
Put options 00 00 188 -01
Balance sheet hedging (forward contracts) 900 19 46 9 -23
Total 304.8 2.8 1529 1.0
Total 1,131 1 6.3 1,068.8 44 0

In accordance with 1AS 39, a change in the fair value of currency derivanives :n hedge accounting 1s recogrused 1n the hedging re-
serve of shareholders’ equuty, from where 1t 1s offser in che result against the hedged item Exceptions to this are firm commutment
hedges of aircraft purchases quahfying for hedge accounting, whose recognition practice 1s outlined in the accounung principles
A change in the fair value of operational cash-flow hedging ts recognised in the income statement’s other operanng expenses, and
a change 1n fair value of balance sheet hedges 1s recogrused in financial items
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Nomnal Fair value, Nominal Fair value,
value EUR mull value, tonnes EUR mull
31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2008
Commodity derivatives
Hedge accounung items
Jet fuel forward contracts 538,600 -347 591,300 -1531
Commodity derivatives at fair
value through profit and loss
Jet fuel forward contracts 48,400 Q7 71,700 276
Gasoll forward contracts 0 0aQ 17,000 -55
Jet differenuial forward contracts 120,500 43 340,500 69
Qpuicns
Call opuons, jet fuel 68,000 08 28,000 01
Put options, jet fuel 80,500 -04 28,000 -89
Call opuions, gasoll 0 00 47,000 00
Put opuions, gasoil 0 00 63,500 -176
Total -29.3 -205.6 |

The effective portion of a change in the fatr value of commodity derivatives 1n hedge accounting 15 recogmsed in the hedging re-
serve of shareholders’ equury, from where 115 offser againse the hedged item when expired A change 1n the fair value of commodity
dervatives outside hedge accounting 1s recogrused 1n the income statement other operating expenses Realised gains and losses are

mnstead recognised against the hedged rem The jet differennal 1s the price difference between jet fuel and gasoil

Nominal value Fair value Normunal value Fairvalue
EUR mill 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2008 !
Interes t rate dervatives |
Cross currency interest rate swaps !
Hedge accounuing items 69 -38 16 7 -73
Cross currency interest rate swaps at !
farr value through profit and loss 47 <26 117 63 |
Total 11.6 -6.4 284 136 |
|
Interest rate swaps
Hedge accounung items 00 00 00 00 .
Interest rate swaps at fair value I
through profit and loss 200 -02 200 01
Total 20.0 -02 200 01

The Group’s fixed-interest USD-denominated aircraft financing loans have been hedged with long-term cross currency meerest rate
swaps The recogmtion practice of these 1tems 1s outlined 1n the accounting principles
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions have taken place with related partes

EUR mull 2009 2008
Sales of goods and services

Associated undertakings 48 00
Management - -

Purchases of goods and services

Associated undertakings 23 22
Management - o
Recevables and habihities '
Receivables from associated underrakings 03 15
Lizbihuies to associated undertakings 03 00

Sales of goods and services executed with relared parties correspond 1n nature to transacrions carried out with independent parnes
The conschdared financial stacements do not contain any open recetvable or liabiliry balances with managemenc

No credit losses from related party transactions have been recognised in the final year or the comparison year

Guarantees and other commitments made on behalf of related parties are presented 1n Note 35

The employee benefits of management are presented in Note 9 No loans have been granted to management personnel

DISPUTES AND LITIGATION
Only cases of which the 1nterest 15 500,000 euros or more and that are not insured, are reported

On 31 December 2009 the following disputes were pending

Transpert Oy has presented to Finnair appr 600,000 euro damage compensation claim following the rermination of a subcontract-
g agreement Finnair has dispured the clatm The case 15 pending in the Helsink: Court of Appeals

No provisions have been made for disputes or hinganion

EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DATE

Finnair Technucal Services was divided ar the beginning of financial year 2010 into two subsidiaries, Finnair Techrucal Services Oy
and Finnawr Engine Services Oy This conversion into a separate comparies will create structural flextbilicy from cooperation ar-
rangements 1n the future The both companies are part of Aviation Services segment In connection with the corporanzauon the
accounuing trearment of engine heavy maintenance has been changed to correspond to the IAS 37 adjustment According to the
standard Finnair Plc will recognize 1n the open balance sheer 1 1 2010 of Airline Business Segment approximately 22 muilion euro
decrease in the own equiry

Finnarr's trasmung centre operaaons were incorperated from the beginning of 2010 into 2 new company Finnair Flight Academy Lid,
which 1s part of the Asrline Business segment The Finnair Flight Academy’s rask 1s ro provide Finnair, 1ts biggest customer, with top
quality training and competence development services The matority of the training services on offer will be for cernficanion maip-
tenance and atrcraft type craining for flighr personnel Fhight trainimg will also be sold to external customers
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39 PARENT COMPANY’S FINANCIAL FIGURES

The figures presented below are not IFRS figures

Financial Report

FINNAIR PLC INCOME STATEMENT

1 Jan-31 Dec 1jan-31 Dec
EUR mill 2009 2008
Turnover 1,546 0 1,8690 !
Production for own use 26 16
Other operaung income 104 171
OPERATING INCOME 1,559 0 1,8877 |
OPERATING EXPENSES |
Materials and services 826 2 964 8
Personnel expenses 361 8 3933 .
Depreciation 307 258
Other operaung expenses 5877 6999
-1,806.4 -2,083 8 |
|
OPERATING PRORAIT/ LOSS -247.4 -1961 !
|
FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 69 305 ‘
PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS -240 5 -165 6
Extraordinary items 184 9 1516 |
!
PRCFIT/LOSS BEFORE i
APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES -556 -140
[
Direct raxes 123 37}
PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR -43.3 4103 |
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| FINNAIR PLC BALANCE SHEET !
]
i
1 EUR mill 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008 !
} + ASSETS
; ‘
| NON-CURRENT ASSETS !
Intangible assets 320 352
1 Tangible assets 905 965
! Investments
l Holdings in Group undertakings 406 4 406 3
Holdings in associated companies 54 28
. Other investments 09 5352 09 5418
| ]
! CURRENT ASSETS
i Inventories 320 300
' Long-term recevables 2891 1152
Shart-term recevables 4856 741 4
¢ Markerable secunties 5953 3709
¢ Cash and bank equivalents 44 1,406 4 90 1,266 5
z 1,941.6 1,808.3 |
LIABILITIES
¢ SHAREHCQLDERS' EQUITY
Share capal 754 75 4
Share premium account 247 247
General reserve 1477 1477
Fair value reserve -247 17
Unrestncred equity 250 4 2504
Retained earnings 186 0 2187
Profit/loss for the financial year -43 3 616 2 -10 3 594 9
| ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS - -
! LIABILITIES
" Deferred rax habiliry 85 81
' Long-term habilities 400 6 1816
Short-term habilities 516 3 1,3254 1,023 7 1,213 4
1,941 6 1,808.3
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FINNAIR PLC CASH FLOW STATEMENT

1 Jan-31 Dec T Jan-31 Dec
EUR mill 2009 2008
Cash flow from operaung actviry ;
Profit/loss before extraordinary items -240 5 -1656 |
Adjustments '

Depreciation 307 258
Operanons for which a payment 1s not included 555 570
Financial income and expenses 69 304
Cash flow before change in working capiral -147 4 -524
i
Change in working capital :
Change in trade and other recevables 2790 204 E
Change m inventories -20 16 !
Change in accounts payables and other liabilities 99 1912
l
Cash flow before financial items and taxes 139 5 2216 |
|
Intrest paid and other patd financial expenses 210 80 |
Received interest income and other financial income -279 -384
Taxes paid 00 37 i
J
Cash flow from operating actvity (A) 1326 -248.3 |
|
Cash flow from investing actmty I
|
Investments In tangible and intangible assets -310 285 |
Sales of tangible and intangible assets 70 47 |
Loans granted -174 0 00 |
Payment of loan receivables 00 152 !
Other investments 00 00 |
00 |
Cash flow from investing activity (B) -198.0 -8.6_|
I
Cash flow from ﬁnancmg actvity |
!
Short term loan withdrawals 00 2019 |
Short term loan repayments -85 4 00 |
Long term loan withdrawals 2190 0o !
Long term loan repayments 00 -38 4 I
Dividends paid 00 -419 |
Paid Group contributions 00 -100 |
Recewed Group contributions 151 6 00 |
!
Cash flow from financing actvity (C) 285 2 11.6 |
|
Change in cash flows ( A+B+C) 219 8 -145.3 |
|
Liguid funds art the beginning 3799 5252 |
Liquid funds in the end 599 7 3799 |
I




Board of Drrectors’ Proposal on the Dividend 87

Board of Directors’ Proposal on the Dividend

The distributable equity in the balance sheet of Finnasr Ple, as per 31 December 2009 amount to 393,032,884 24 euros

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting thav no dividend shall be pard and that the loss for the fiscal year ro be
transfered against retamed earnings

Sigmng of the Report of the Board of Directors and the Fimancial Statements
Helsinki, 4 February 2010

The Board of Directors of Finnair Ple

Chnistoffer Taxell Kar: Jordan Elina Bjorklund
Sigurdur Helgason Sacu Huber Ursula Ranin
Vel1 Sundback Pekka Timonen

Mika Vehwvilatnen
President & CEO of Finnair Plc
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Auditor’s Report

To the Annual General Meeting of Finnair Oyy

We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, the report of the Board of Directors and the administracton of Finnair
Oy for the year ended on 31 December, 2009 The financial statements comprise the consohidared balance sheet, income statement, state-
ment of comprehensive income, cash Aow statement, statement of changes in equity and nores to the consolidated financial statements,
as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income starement, cash flow sratement and notes to the financial sratements

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparauon of the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors and for the fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Re-
porung Standards (EFRS) as adopred by the EU, as well as for the fair presentation of the parent company’s financial scatements and the
report of the Board of Directors 1n accordance with laws and regulacions governing the preparation of the financial statements and the
report of the Board of Directors in Finland The Board of Direcrors 15 responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of the
company’s accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall see to 1t thac the accounts of the company are in compliance with the
law and that 1ts financial affairs have been arranged tn a reliable manner

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility 1s to perform an audir in accordance with good auditing pracuce i Finland, and to express an opinton on the parent
company’s financial statements, on the consolidated financial staternents and on the report of the Beard of Directors based on our audir
Good auditing practice requires that we comply with ethucal requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements and che report of the Board of Directors are free from material musstatement and whether the members
of the Board of Directors of the parent company and che Managing Director have complied wich the Limited Liability Companies Act

An audit involves performuing procedures to obtain audit evidence abour che amounts and disclosures 1n the financial sratements and
the report of the Board of Direcrors The procedures selected depend on the audiror’s judgment, including che assessment of the risks
of material nusstatement of the financial statements or the Reporrt of the Board of Directors, whether due to fraud or error In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal contro! relevant to the ennty’s preparanion and fair presentation of the financal
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances An audit also includes evaluating the appro-
priateness of accounung policies used and the reasonableness of accountng esnmares made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors

The audit was performed in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland We believe that the audir evidence we have cbrained 1s
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit optnton

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
In our opimion, the consohdared financial starements give a rrue and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and cash
flows of the group 1n accordance with International Finanaial Reporting Srandards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU

C’)’pzmon on the Company’s Financial Statements and
the Report of the Board of Directors

In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and fatr view of both the consolidated and
the parent company’s financial performance and financial position 1n accordance with the laws and regulanons goverming the prepara-
tion of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors 1n Finland The informanon in the report of the Board of Direc-
tors 1s consistent with the informanen in the financal statements

The Members of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director of the parent company can be discharged from Liabshy for the pe-
rod audited by us

Helsink: 17th February, 2010

PricewarerhouseCoopers Oy
Aurhonsed Public Accountants
Eero Suomela Jyrit Heikkinen
Authonised Public Accountant Authorised Public Accountant
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Corporate Governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

Finnair Plc adheres to the Articles of Associa-
tion and the Finmush Comparnies Act as well
as the rules and regulations for listed compa-
nies 1ssued by NASDAQ OMX Helsink: Ex-
changes Furthermore,the Finnair Groupcom-
plies with the Finnish Corporate Governance
Code for histed compantes, tssued 1 2008, ex-
cluding recommendauons 28-30, as Finnarr
Plc's Board of Directors does not have a Nom-
nanon Commuttee referred to in these recom-
mendations A commuirtree established by the
Annual General Meeting prepares a proposal
for the Annual General Meeting on Members
of the Board and their fees The Corporate
Governance Code 1s publicly available on the
website of the Finnish Securities Market As-
sociation at the address www cgfinland i The
Corporare Governance Statement 1s presented
separately here and the Annual Report con-
tains a reference to this statement

Tasks and res;onszbzlmes of
governing bodies

The management of Finnair Group 15 the
responsibility of the Annual General Meer-
ing, the Board of Directors and the Presi-
dent & CEQ, whose tasks are determaned
manly 1n accordance with the Finnish Com-
pamnies Act

Annual General Meeting and
exercising of voting rights
Ulumarte authority in Finnair Ple 1s exer-
ased by the company’s shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting The Annual Gen-
eral Meetng 1s convened by the company’s
Board of Direcrors In accordance with the
Companies Act, the Annual General Meet-
ing dectdes on, among other things, the fol-
lowing macrers
+ number, election and remuneration of
the Board of Directors
+ e¢lectnion and remuneravion of the
auditors
+ approval of the financial statements
» distributton of dividends
» amendment of the Articles of Associa-
tion

The Arucles of Association of Finnair Ple
donotcontamanyredemption clauses norany

restricions on voting rights The company
has one series of shares

Board of Directors
Composition and term of office
The Board of Directors of Finnair Ple con-
ststs of a chairman and ar least four and at
most seven members The Annual General
Meeting elects the Chairman and the Mem-
bers of the Board of Direcrors for one yearat
anume The Board of Directors elects a Depu-
ty Chairman from among 1ts members
On 26 March 2009 the Annual General
Meetng of Finnair Pic elected the following
persons as Members of the Board
+  Chnistoffer Taxell, for mer Government
Mimster, LLM, b 1948 (Chairman)
* Sigurdur Helpason, MBA, b 1946
* Satu Huber, Managing Director of the
Tapiola Penston Ltd , M S¢ (Econ ),
b 1958
« Kari Jordan, Prestdent and CEO of
Metsalntto Group, B Sc (Econ ),
b 1956 (Deputy Chairman)
« Ursula Ramin, M Sc (Econ ), LLM
b 1953
= Veli Sundback LILM,b 1946
= Pekka Timonen, Director-General
of the Prime Minuster s Office Cwn-
ership Steering Department, LLD,
b 1960
« Elina Bjorklund, VP Marketung Fiskars
Home, M S¢ (Econ),b 1970

All Members of the Board are independent
of the company Members of the Board are
also independent of the company’s sigmficant
shareholders excluding Pekka Timonen who
15 1n the service of the Finmish Government,
Finnar Plc’s largest shareholder The Board
of Directors’ term of office expires at the end
of the next Annual General Meeting

Personal derails of the Members of the
Board can be viewed on the Finnair Group
website htrp //www finnair com/group

Tasks and description of acuivities

The Board of Directors represents the com-
pany and all of 1ts shareholders The Board
of Drrectors must act 1n the interests of the
company and 1ts shareholders and handle 1s
tasks prudently, basing its acuons on the best
imnformaron and expertise avaslable ro 1w or
which reasonably can be acquired by

8%

The Board of Directors approves the com-
pany’s strategy and 1s responsible for arrang-
ing financial menoning and nisk manage-
ment The Board of Directors approves the
main principles of the managemenrt and gov-
ernance systems necessary for implement-
ing 1its tasks and appoints the senior man-
agement responsible for them In addinion,
the Board of Directors decides on the con-
vening of the Annual General Meeung, pre-
pares the matters to be dealt with ar the An-
nual Gerteral Meeting and 1s responstible for
implemenung the decisions of the Annual
General Meeting

‘The Board of Directors appoints and dis-
musses the President & CEO and decides on
his/her salary and terms of employment The
Board of Directors also appoints and dis-
musses the deputy to the President & CEQ
The Board of Directors selects the members
of Finnair Group’s senmor management and
decides on their terms of employment, tak-
ing tntoaccount the human resources strac-
egy guidelines and remuneraton schemes in
accordance with the company’s corporare
governance The Board of Directors 1s re-
sponstble for ensuring that the company’s
accounts, budger monitoring system, inter-
nal auditing and risk management are ar-
ranged in accordance with the company’s
corporate governance

The Board of Directors 15 also responsi-
ble for ensuring that the openness and fair-
ness referred 1o 1n the company’s corporare
governance are implemented in the infor-
matton given on the company’s financal
statemnents

The companv 1s represented by the Chair-
man of the Board and the company’s Presi-
dent & CEQ as well as the Depury CEO each
separately, by two Members of the Board of
Directors together, and by those individu-
als to whom the Board of Directors has con-
ferred the right to represent the company, to-
getherwith a Member of the Board or anoth-
er individual entled to represent the com-
pany The company’s powers of procuration
are decided by the Board of Directors

The Board of Direcrors met 13 nmes
during 2009 The average arrendance of the
Members of the Board of Directors ar the
meeungs of the Board was 96 2 per cent

The President & CEO of Finnasr Plc or
a senior member of the Finnair Group's
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management nominated by lum acts as the
presiding officer at meenngs of the Board
of Direcrors The Finnair Group’s General
Counsel Sami Sarelius acts as secretary to the
Board of Directors The Board of Directors
evaluates s working practices regularly

The charter of the Board of Directors can
be viewed on the Finnair Group’s website
http //www finnair com/group

Committees
The Board of Directors has established a
Compensation and Appoimnrments Commie-
tee and an Audit Commuttee The Compensa-
ton and Appomntments Commattee consists
of Chairman of the Board Christoffer Taxell
as well as Members of the Board Pekka T1-
monen, Kari Jordan and Ursula Ranin The
Compensation and Appointments Com-
mittee’s main task 1s, among other things,
to prepare for the decision of the Board of
Directors compensation and appomntments
matters relating to the company’s President
8 CEO and che Group’s other semor man-
agement as well as principles and pracuces
relaring to the compensation of the compa-
ny’s personnel The commuttee met six imes
during 2009 Members’ attendance at the
meetings was 100 per cent

The Audit Commutree consist of Vel
Sundback (Chairman), members Sigurdur
Helgason and Satu Huber and, a new mem-
ber, Elina Bjorklund The Audit Commut-
tee’s main task 1s, among other things, to
monmnitor the financial starements reporung
process and to momtor that internal con-
trols and risk management have been ap-
proprately arranged, and to assess compli-
ance with laws and regulanions within the
Group The commuittee met twice during
2009 Members’ artendance ar the meer-
ngs was 87 5 per cent

The Finnair Group’s General Coun-
sel Sami Sarelius acts as secretary to both
commuitees

The charters of the commitrees can
be viewed on the Finnair Group’s website
htrp /fwww finnair com/group

President & CEO and

Deputy CEO

Finnair Plc has a President & CEQ, whose
rask 1s to manage che company’s operations
according ro guidelines and instrucnions
1ssued by the Board of Directors In 2009
Finnair Plc’s President & CEO was Jukka
Hienonen, M Sc (Econ ),b 1961 The Deputy
CEO has been Chief Financial Officer Lasse
Heinonen, M Sc (Econ ), b 1968, since 13
January 2009 Following Jukka Hienonen’s
resignation from the service of Finnaur Ple,
Mika Vehvilainen, M Sc¢ (Econ },b 1961, has
been appointed Finnair’s CEQ as of 1 Feb-
ruary 2010

Finnawr’s Executive Board and
Group Structure
The Finnair Group’s structures were reorgan-
1sed during 2009 and as of 1 October 2009
business and subsicharies were grouped into
three operational entiies Airline Business,
Travel Services and Aviation Services Air-
line Business 1s further divided into Sales &
Markeung, Operations and Customer Serv-
1ce Travel Services consists of the Group’s
travel agenacies, tour operators and distribu-
tuon companies Aviarion Services includes
ground handling operations, Finnair Techm-
cal Services and carering activittes The sup-
port funcuons in Group Admunistration are
Economuics and Finance, Human Resources
Management, Communications and Com-
munity Relations, Resource Management,
Business Development and Legal Affairs

Since 1 October 2009, the Executive Board
hasbeen as follows President & CEQ Jukka
Hienonen (since 1 February 2010 Mika Veh-
vilainen), SVP Communications and Com-
munty Relanons Christer Haglund, Chief
Frnancial Officer and Deputy CEO Lasse Her-
nonen, SVP Human Resources Anss1 Komu-
lainen, SVP Sales & Marketing Mika Perho,
SVP Travel Services Kaisa Vikkula, SVP Cus-
tomer Service Timo Ruhimak, SVP Opera-
tons Erno Hilden and SVP Ville Tho of the
Resource Management Unut, which operates
under Group Administration

Finnair Plc's Executive Board meets
around 20 times per year (23 umes during
2009) and 1ts tasks include the handling of
group-wide development projects as well as
group-level prinaples and procedures In
addition, the Executive Board 1s informed

Finanaal Report

about, among other things, the business
plans of the Group and sector companies, fi-
nancal performance, and matters to be dealt
with by Finnair Plc’s Board of Directors, in
the preparation of which 1t paruicipates The
Executive Board also acts as the Group’s risk
management steering group

Finnair Group’s Board of
Management
The Board of Management meets around
ten times per year {(eight umes duning 2009)
The Finnair Group’s Board of Management
n 2009 comprised, 1n addition to members
of the Executive Board, Northpore Oy’'s Man-
aging Director Jukka Hamalainen, Vice Pres-
ident of Catering Operations and Finnair
Carering Oy’s Managing Director Kristina
Inkilainen, Vice President of Cargo Opera-
tions and Managing Director of Finnair Car-
go Oy and Finnair Cargo Termnal Opera-
uons Oy Anrero Lahninen, and Vice President
of Finnair Techmcal Services Kimmo Soim
as well as personnel representatives, namely
Department Supervisor Maur1 Haapanen of
the Finnair Technical Employees Associauon,
Purser Mauri Koskenniem of the Finmsh
Fhght Attendants’ Assocration SLSY, Purser
Tuna Sillankorva, Deputy Chairman of the
Finnair Semor White Collar Workers Asso-
ctation, Pilot Kristian Rintala, Chairman of
the Fintush Commercial Pilor Association, and
Juham Stmisalo, Representauve of Finnair
Personnel Fund and Finrush Avianon Union
The Board of Management 1s informed
abour, among other things, the business
plans and financial performance of the
Group The Board of Management prepares,
among other things, significant changes af-
fecting personnel as well as fleet and other
fixed asset related investments and projects
to be decided by the Board of Directors The
Board of Management decides, according to
the Group’s investment guidelines, on -
vestments and projects that fall wichin its
sphere of approval

Corporate governance of
substdiarses

The Members of the Boards of Directors of
the most sigmficant subsidianies are selecred
from indinduals belonging to Finnair Group
management and from representarives pro-
posed by personnel groups The key tasksof
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the Boards of Directors of subsidiaries are
strategy preparation, approving operanonal
plans and budgerts, and deciding on 1nvest-
ments and commutments within the scope
of instructions issued by the Board of Direc-
tors of Finnair Ple

Insider management
The Finnair Group’s insiders are dvided into
permanent instders and temporary insiders
1n accordance with the Securines Market Act
Permanent insiders are further divided ineo
those entered 1n a public insider register and
those entered 1n a non-public company-spe-
afic insider register

Finnair Ple's permanent insiders include
members of Finnair Plc’s Board of Directors,
the President & CEQ and his Deputy, the di-
rect subordinates of the President & CEQ,
as well as the auditors, including the audic-
ing firm’s auditor wich chief responsibility
for the company

The permanent company-specific insid-
ers also include some other managers and
white-collar workers 1n accordance with their
jobdescriptions Temporary insiders are in-
dividuals who recetve insider informacion
during the performance of some assignment
(project) These indmviduals are entered into
anon-public company-specific insider regs-
ter, namely a project-specific register

The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc
have approved Finnair Plc’s insider gurde-
lines, which contain gundehines for perma-
nent and project-work 1nsiders and speci-
fy the orgamsanon and procequres of the
company’s instder conterols The company’s
msider guidelines have been distributed o
all insiders

The Legal Affairs Department s respon-
sible for the content of the insider guide-
lines Comphance with the insider guide-
lines 1s monzitored by the Economics and
Finance Department The company operates
a restriction on trading, which applies to
instders’ rrading in the company shares or
in securities granting entitlement to shares,
for 30 days before the declaration of finan-
cial results

Fuinnair Ple’s insider register 15 mam-
rained by Euroclear Finland Ltd The pubhc
insiders and their up-to-date shareholdings
can be viewed at Euroclear Finland’s premis-

es 1n Helsinks, Finland at the address Urho
Kekkosen katu 5C and on Finnair's website
at the address www finnair com/investor

Auditors
The company has two auditors and two
depunies elected by the Annual General
Meeting Theauditors’ term of office ends at
the conclusion of the Annual General Meer-
ing following the meeting of their election
The auditor and the auditor’s deputy must
be anauthorised public accountant or an au-
thonsed public accounting firm approved by
the Central Chamber of Commerce

Finnair Plc’s Annual General Meeting
in 2009 elected as the company’s audirors
Authorised Public Accountants Pricewater-
houseCoopers Qy, Prinaipal Auditor APA
Eero Suomela and APA Jyri Heikkinen, and
as deputy auditors APA Tuomas Honkamak
and APA Timo Takalo The auditors of Fin-
nair Group subsidiaries are mainly Pricewa-
terhouseCoopers audiung firms or auditors
employed by them

Auditing fees paid to auditors amounced
to 177,000 euros in 2009 Auditors were also
paid 315,000 euros in 2009 for services (e g
tax advice} unrelated to auditing

Internal auditing

Internal auditing work 1s employed to verify
the integrity of transactions and the accu-
racy of information ininternal and external
accountng, and to confirm that controls are
exercised effectively, property 1s maintained
and operations ate condicred appropriately
in accordance with the Group's objectives

Internal Auditing also parncipates in the au-
diting of Finnatr Ple subsidianies’ accounts
in collaboration with External Audiing The
Internal Auditung priorites are determined
in accordance with the Group’s risk manage-
ment strategy

Internal control

Most of the company s operatuonal acov-
ity 1s based on official regulations and su-
pervision, and responsibility for complying
with these rests wath individuals approved
by the authonues Inaddition, the mostim-
portant supervision responstbilities relate to
economucs, finance and informanon security
The company has internal control guidelines,
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according to which each unie or function
manager must arrange nternal control of
his/her own umit and organisation

A description of the main features
of the mternal control and risk
management systems pertaining to
the financial reporting process
Financial reporting 1s a process of dara re-
cording, period close activinies, consohdation
and reporting Most of the data recording
and period close activities of Finnair Group
companies are carried out 1n the Group’s cen-
tralised Shared Service Centre in cooperation
with business unit controllers, whereas con-
solidation and group reporting s performed
1N 4 separate group accounting unit report-
ing directly to the Finnair Group CFO Most
of the sigmficant financial reporning rrems
originate from the parent company or from
the subsidiary which manages the fleet The
Finnair Group apphies the internanonal fi-
nancial reporung standards

Financial reporting controls aim to pro-
vide reasonable assurance that the informa-
ton of interim reports and year-end reports
are correct and that they have been prepared
n accordance wath legislation, applicable ac-
counungstandards and other requirements
for listed companies In the Finnair Group,
the financial reporting risks are managed
through an mterrelared process of five sub-
areas internal control environment, risk
recogmuon and assessment, control actvi-
ties, information and communication, and
monionng

The internal control environment con-
sists of the Group’s roles, responsibilinies and
documented internal control principles as
well as the Group’s values and ethucs Roles
and responsibilities are 1n accordance with
the Finnish Companies Act, the Finnish
Corporate Governance Code and also with
the organisattonal structure of the Finnair
Group Internal control principles in che Fin-
nair Group are documented in Group re-
porung gudelines, the Self Assessment Tool,
Treasury Policy, Procurement Polhicy, Credit
Policy and Data Security Prnciples

Risk recogniuon and assessment 15 car-
ried out at all organisational levels of the
Finnatr Group In additton to this, Inter-
nal Audiung in cooperation with external
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auditors, Shared Service Cenrtre and busi-
ness urut controllers, evaluates the most sig-
ruficant financial reporting risks related to
main processes, such as revenue recogmuon,
purchasing, payroll, investments, treasury, IT
and disclosure processes, and 1n co-operation
with external auditors tests idennfied key
controls to determine whether the controls
are effective enough to manage these risks
Based on this, a financial statement risk anal-
ysis reportis prepared twice a year under the
direction of Internal Auditing and the results
are reported to the Audit Commuttee

The most significant evaluarted risks in
respect of finanaial reporung are managed
through control activities in companies,
business areas and processes The business
unit controllers as well as the Shared Serwvice
Centre play an important role 1n performing
control activities Through the self-assess-
mernt tool, all major business units report the
key controls and the performance of these
key controls Key control actmities, such as
balancings, trend analyses and system con-
trols have been defined through facilitared
workshops, which were held in cooperation
with the Shared Service Centre, business unt
controllers and Internal Auditing during au-
tumn 2008 and spring 2009

Informarion regarding control require-
ments 1s communicated through guidehines,
policies and procedures Through the self-
assessment tool, umit management commu-
nicates adherence to these requirements to
Group Accounting Internal Auditing re-
ports the results of 1ts work regularly to the
Audit Committee The results of the Audic
Commuttee’s control work, in the form of ob-
servations, recommendanons and proposed
decisions and measures, are continuously re-
ported to the Board of Directors

Monitoring to ensure the effectiveness of
internal control over Ainancial reporung is
conducted by the Board of Directors, the Au-
dir Commutree, the President & CEO, the Ex-
ecunive Board, Internal Auditing, subsidiar-
1es and bustness ums Monitoring includes
the follow-up of monthly financial reports
in relation to budgets and targers, the fol-
low-up of the self-assessment repores of the
Group’s companies and business areas, as
well as a review of results from internal au-
dits performed by Internal Auditing or the
group’s external auditors

SALARIES AND
REMUNERATION

Remuneration of Members
of the Board
The remuneration and attendance allow-
ances dectded by the Annual General Meet-
ing for Members of the Board of Direcrors
1n 2009 were
« Charrman’s annual remuneration
61,200 euros
+ Deputy Chairman’s annual remunera-
rtor 32,400 euros
« Member of the Board’s annual rumu-
neration 30,000 euros
+ Meeung compensanon to a Mumber
of the Board residing 1n Finland 600
curos per meeting of the Board of D1-
rectors or 1ts committees
«  Muenng compunsation toa Member of
the Board residing abroad 1,200 euros
per meeting of the Board of Directors
or 1ts commitrees

The Board of Directors are entitled to a
daily allowance and compensation for trav-
el expenses in accordance with Finnair Ple’s
general travel rules In addinon, Members of
the Board of Directors have a limited nght
to use ID tickets in accordance with Fin-
natr Ple’s ID ticket rules The fees paid to
the Board of Directors are outlined in Note 9
to the financial statements Members of the
Board do nor fall within the sphere of the
company’s share scheme or tncentive bonus
scheme Up-to-dateinformation on the Fin-
nair shares owned by Members of the Board
1s available from Euroclear Finland Oy's Net-
Sire service

Remuneration scheme of President
¢ CEO, Executve Board and

key individuals

The earmings of the President & CEO, Ex-
ecutive Board and management consist
of monchly salary and incentive bonuses
as well as share bonuses Remuneration
schemes of managemenr and key indwidu-
als are prepared i the Board of Directors’
Compensarion and Appointments Commut-
tee Decisions are made by the company’s
Board of Dhrectors Management’s incen-
tive bonuses are determined annually based
on set finanaial targets,unit-specific qualiy
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and process indicators as well as personal
performance appraisals The bonus can be
equivalent ar most to 40 per cent of yearly
earnings Informanon on the bonuses of the
Prestdent & CEQ and Depury CEO 1s out-
lined 1n Note 9 to the financial statements

Around 70 key indmiduals of the Group
belong to the 2007-2009 share-based incen-
tive scheme The rewards of the share bo-
nus scheme are based on the achievement
of finanaal targets Finnair Pl¢’s Board of
Directors decides the targer levels annually
The share bonuses are subject to sales re-
strictions More information on share-based
bonuses s given i Note 26 to the financial
statements Up-to-date informarnion on the
Finnair shares owned by members of the Ex-
ecutive Board 1s available from Euroclear Fin-
land Oy’s NetSire service

The pension schemes of the parent com-
pany’s President & CEO and members of the
Executive Board as well as those of the man.-
aging directors of subsidiaries are individual
schemes, and the retirement age under these
agreements vartes from 60 to 65 years Pen-
sion liabilities are outlined in Note 27 to the
financial statements

Other benefits of the President &
CEQ's employment
Up to the end of 2009, the President & CEO's
other benefits were as follows
* retirement age bU years
+ pension 60 per cent of pensionable
salary
+ noubce of termination 6 months and
severance pay equivalent to 12 months’
salary payable in addition to notice pe-
riod salary

As of 2010, the President & CEQ’s pen-
s1on 1s defined-contribution pension and the
retirement age 1s 63 years
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Risk Management

Rusk management 1n Finnair 15 parc of the
Group's management acuivity and 1s direcr-
ed primanily at risks that threaten the ful-
filment of the Group's business short- and
long-term objectives To exploit business op-
porturittes, Finnair 1s prepared to assume
managed and considered risks, taking the
company's risk-bearing capacity into ac-
count In flight safety matters, Finnair s
objeceive 1s to munumse risks

In Finnair, nsk management means a sys-
tematic and predictive way of recognising, an-
alysing and managing the opportunities and
threars associated with operanions Conunuty
plans have been prepared 1n case of the realisa-
uon of risks, parucularly as far as strategic and
significant finanaal nisks are concerned.

The Board of Directors and the President
& CEOQ are responsible for the Group’s rnisk
management strategy and principles as well
as for the management of risks that threat-
en the fulfilment of strategic objectives The
President & CEO 1s responsible for ensuring
that risk management s in other respects ap-
propriately orgamsed The Senior Vice Pres:-
dents of the business units and the Manag-
ing Dhrectors of subsidiaries are responsible
for risk management in cheir own areas of
responstibilicy

Organisation of risk management
Finnair Pl¢’s Executive Board, which acts as
a risk management steering group, assess-
es and directs risk management in Finnair
Group The company’s internal audicing co-
ordinates the reporting of risk management
as well as adherence to the specified operat-
ing model

The Operanional Risk Management De-
parument, which operates under Finnair Pic's
Quality Manager, as specified in the Airline
Operator’s Licence, regularly audics and as-
sesses the company’s own and subcontrac-
tors’ actions that impact on fhight safery

Finnair’s quality system 1s IOSA cern-
fied* The IOSA programme 1s an evaluation
method, required by IATA, for airlines’ op-
erational management and monitoring sys-
tems Audiring based on IOSA certfication
assesses whether the asrline’s qualiry control
systems fulfil both IOSA and international
aviation regulation standards

Management of risks relaung to loss or
damage 1s divided into two mamn areas flight

safery and corporare securiry Development
work 1n these areas 15 coordinated by the
flight safety department and the corporare
Security umic

Operating environment risks
Demand and the price level of passenger and
cargo craffic have been influenced most by
market-area economic development, eco-
nomic cycles, competinion in the industry
as well as various unexpected events, such
as terrorism, environmental accrdents and
epidemics The company has plans of action
to mintmuse the operational impacts arising
to air transport from various external dis-
ruptive factors

The current trend clearly indicates char
competitiveness tn the air transport sector
depends on how flexibly the company can
react and adapt to surprising events, changes
in demand and a constantly changing com-
petitive environment

A crincal factor for operational flexibilizy
1s the adjustment of fixed costs 1o fluctua-
tionsm demand The company’s ability to re-
act quickly tn adjustuing capacity, roures and
costs ro correspond to changing demand and
economic and security conditions s also an
essennial factor in increasing the company’s
profitability In recent years Finnair has im-
plemented, and has under way, anumber of
projects that are intended to increase struc-
tural flexibihiry

Finnair manages the residual value nsk
related to aircraft capacity and ownershup
by acquiring part of the aircraft belonging
to 1ts fleet through operaring lease agree-
ments of different durations Operating
lease agreements have been made especially
for narrow-body fleet, where turnover rate
15 greater than for wide-body atrcraft The
leasing of aircraft provides an opportunity
for the flexible dimensioning of capacity in
the medium and long term

Market risk

The air transport business 1s sensitive to both
cyclical and seasonal changes Compeunion
1n the sector 1s intense and the market situ-
attont1s continually changing, which has re-
duced average ticket prices over an extended
pertod Awrlines are cutting their prices n
order to increase volumes, achieve sufficient
cash flow and masntain market share
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Finnair constantly makes market situa-
tion analyses and actively monitors 1ts own
reservarion intake as well as competcors’
changes 1n pricing and capaaity Finnair is
able to react quickly to pricing changes that
take place in the market by utilising its ad-
vanced optimisation syscems

Finnair s growing in markets in which it
15 not as well known a brand as 1n 1ts trads-
tional domestic market This presentsa chal-
lenge in marketing communications to high-
hight Finnair’s competitive advantages

A change of one percentage unit in the
average price level of scheduled passenger
traffic services affects the Group’s operanng
profit by less than 15 million euros Corre-
spondingly a change of one percentage umt
in the load factor of scheduled passenger
traffic services also affects the Group’s oper-
ating profit by less than 15 million euros

Operational risk
Finnait’s operations are based on a rigor-
ous flight safety culture, which 1s maintamned
through continuous and long-term fhght
safety work The company has prepared an
operational safety policy, for which the com-
pany's Senmior Vice President, Operations 1s
responsible for implemenung Every employ-
ee and subcontractor working directly orin-
directly with the fhght operations must un-
dertake to comply with the policy

When operational decisions are made,
fhight safery always has che highest prioricy
in relation to other factors thar influence
decistop-making Flight safery s an inte-
gral mechanism of all activittes as well as a
required way of operating not only for the
company’s own personnel, but also for sub-
CONLTACLOrS

The main principle of fight safery work
is non-pumtive reporting of deviations in
the way intended by the Aviauion Act and
the company’s guidelines The purpose of
reporting 1s to find reasons, not to assign
blame, as well as to 1denufy predicuvely the
risks of the future The company, howev-
er, does not tolerate wilful acts contrary o
guidelines, methods or prescnibed working
practices Deciston-making not directly re-
lated to operanrons musr also supporr the
company’s objective of achieving and man-
taining a hugh level of flight safery
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Relwability of flight operations
Rehability 1s an essential prerequusite for op-
erating successfully in the airline industry
The air transport business, however, ts ex-
posed 1o vanous disruptive facrors, such as
delays, exceptional weather conditions and
strikes As well as theirimpact on operanon-
al and service quality, arr traffic delays also
Increase Costs

Finnair invests conunually in the over-
all quality and punctualiry of its operation-
al actvittes The Network Control Centre
(NCC) brings together all the crincal parties
for flight operanions, thus enabling the most
effective overall solutions to be implement-
ed Finnamr Technical’s service puncrualicy
and diverse expertise as well as 1ts detatled
spectfication of technical funcuons ensure
the reliability of flight operations

Furthermore, in operational activities the
contribution of partners and interest groups
1s essennial Finnatr momors the qual-
ty of external suppliers within the frame-
work of standards specified 1n advance and
through regulations prescribed for flighe
operations

According to stanstics compiled on Euro-
pean network arrlines, the arnval punctuality
of Finnair’s fhights in 2009 was 86 7%

In relation to Astan traffic, the transfer
of passengers and goods from one fhghrto
another at Helsink1-Vanraa Airportis in-
creastng, in the short term, the risk of de-
lays, owing to the airport’s space restrictions
The opening of a terminal extension in au-
tumn 2009 and the gradual introduction of
a new baggage handling system from Feb-
ruary 2010 will signuficantly improve logis-
tical effictency and operational reliabiliry ac
Helsinki-Vantaa Airport

Authorities and the environment
An arrline registered 1n the European Union
can operate freely within the entire area of
the Union To dare Finland, like other Eu-
ropean countries, has been accusromed to
negotiating bilateral operanng agreements
with countries outside the European Un-
0on

In future, regulation at the European Un-
100 level will bring the negoutiation of avia-
tion agreements berween countries inside
and outside the European Union under the
European Commussion Existing bilateral

Financial Reporr

operating agreements will remain mn force
1n the new situation

As a negouating party the Union 1s
stronger than an individual country and chus
can strengthen the posinon of European air-
hnes when negotiating operating rnights In
some cases this may have an adverse impact
on Finnair and may weaken the company’s
compentive position m relation to other Eu-
ropean airhines Finnair will actively strive to
influence the parties who negouate operat-
ing rights and Siberian overflight permutsin
otder to safeguard 1s interests

The European Urnon has deaded to 1n-
clude air transport 1n the carbon dioxide
emusstons trading scheme (ETS) from 2012
Aur transpore within the EU wall be subject
to emussions trading as will fhights depart-
mg from and arriving in the EU This will
have a partacular impact on the competinve
situation of interconunental air transport
If non-EU states do not become part of the
emissions rrading scheme, this will give a
competittve advantage to airlines whose hubs
are outside the EU Companies will be able 1o
offer market routing changes such that emus-
sions trading will burden them less than the
EUairlines or notatall A trade war may also
be possible if non-EU countries do not accept
the EU ermussions trading rules Finnair has
successfully delivered the monitoring and
reporting plan on its own emissions ro the
Finnish auchorinies and has also taken part
1n the preparation of nanional legislatton In
addition, Finnair has also actively lobbied for
a global ermssions trading agreement

Finnair has been active 1n environmen-
tal and social responsibility 1ssues for a long
ume Social responsibility and environmen-
tal 1ssues are reported annually in a report
according to Global Reporting Initiarive
{GRI) guidelines, by the company’s partic-
tpation 1n the Carbon Disclosure project,
and through active interest group commu-
mications The GRI reporr includes, 1n ad-
dition to social and financial responsibili-
ty indicarors, lots of informanon on che ef-
fects of operanons on energy consumption,
emissions, waste amounts and noise values
The task of Finnair’s Vice Presrdent Sustain-
able Developmentis to promote the realisa-
tion of Finnair's environmental goalsin the
Group’s bustness operarions, 1n such a way
that Finnair 1s among the leading aurhines in




Risk Management

terms of environmental activity Transpar-
ent interest group cooperation is particularly
important tn order to be fully aware of che
mmpact of legislation on operations and to
meet the growing tnterest and demands of
stakeholders

Risk of loss or damage

Risk managementin this area encompasses,
for example, risks to flights, people, informa-
tion, property and the environment as well
as liabiliry and loss-of-business risks, and
msurance cover The prlorl[y n the manage-
menct of risks relaring to loss or damage 1son
risk prevention, bur the company prepares
for any possible emergence of risks with
plans, effective situation-management pre-
paredness and insurance Awrcraftand other
significant fixed assets are comprehensively
insured at fatr value The amount of insur-
ance cover for aviation hiability risks exceeds
the mimmum levels required by law

Accident risk
The management of occupational health
and safery 1s diverse and challenging, be-
cause the Finnair Group’s operations are
spread across many fields of business Oc-
cuparional safety risks are known to be high
in precisely those areas - services, food indus-
try, heavy arrcraft maintenance, warehous-
tng and cransport - of which Finnar's op-
erations principally consist

The development of occupanonal safe-
ty 1s long-term work, and Finnair’s goal is
to minirmuse the number of acaidents De-
veloping occupational safety s part of the
everyday work of ine orgamusation and the
responsibility of every employee

Means of improving occupational safery
include idenufying and evaluanng occupa-
tional health and safery hazards in the work-
place and prevenung accidents and hazard-
ous sicuantons  All reported risk sicuarions
and acadents are investigated and lessons
learned in order to develop safer working
methods

Telecommunications and
mformation technology risk

The diverse use of informaton technolo-
gy in support of operations has increased
and there 1s greater emphasis on the tm-
portance of the availability of information

Systems’ vulnerability and the development
of new global threats represent a risk fac-
torin a networked operating environment
Finnair 1s contnually developing tcs tnfor-
mation security and situation-management
preparedness for sertous disruptions 1o in-
formanen systems and telecommunications
Such preparartons have a dtrect impact on
mformation technology and data security
costs

Developing informatton system solu-
tions and the IT environment requires con-
unuous tnvestment Careful selecnon of ex-
ternal partners in IT solunions also reduces
the technology risk

The coordination of the Group’s infor-
magton system architecrure as well as s IT
purchases and strategies have been central-
ised 1n the Group’s information manage-
ment department This brings synergy ben-
efits and improves cost-effictency

Principles of financial risk
management
The nature of the Finnair Group’s business
operations exposes the company to foreign
exchange, interest rate, credit and liqurds-
ty, and fuel price risks The policy of the
Group 1s to mtntmise the negarnve effect of
such risks on cash flow, financial perform-
ance and equity

The management of financial risks 1s
based on the risk management policy ap-
proved by the Board of Directors, which spec-
ifies the mimimum and masximum levels per-
murted for each type of risk Frnancial risk
management 1s directed and supervised by
the Financial Risk Steering Group The im-
plementanion of financial nsk management
pracuce has been centralised in the Finnair
Group's Finance Deparrment

In 1ts management of foreign exchange,
interest rate and jet fuel posiuons the com-
pany uses different derivauve instruments,
such as forward contracts, swaps and op-
uons

Financial risks have been described in
more detail in Note 31 of the Notes to the
Financial Statements

* 10SA = IATA Operanonal Safery Audic
IATA = The Internanonal Air Transport
Association
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Stock Exchange Releases and
Investor News in 2009

January 2009
30 Jan 2009 Finnair Plc Investor News FINNAIR PILOTS’ STRIKE POSTPONED
23 Jan 2009 Finnair Plc Investor News DEMANDS BY FINNAIR PILOTS LEAD TO LABOUR DISPUTE
15 Jan 2009 Finnair Oyj) Company Announcement FINNAIR CONCLUDED LONG YT
NEGOTIATIONS, EFFICIENCY MEASURES CONTINUE
13 Jan 2009 Finnair Oy) Company Announcement LASSE HEINONEN HAS BEEN
APPOINTED FINNAIR’S DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
8 Jan 2009 Finnair Oy Press release FINNAIR'S ASIAN FLIGHTS CARRY 1 3 MILLION
PASSENGERS, FLIGHT TICKET PRICES CLEARLY LOWER
February 2009
27 Feb 2009 Finnair Plc Notice to convene annual general meeting NOTICE TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
24 Feb 2009 Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR SUBSIDIARY
NORTHPORT OY BEGINS YT NEGOTIATIONS
9 Feb 2009 Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR CUTS SCHEDULED TRAFFIC IN JANUARY
5 Feb 2009 Finnair Plc Financial Statement Release FINNAIR GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 1 JANUARY-31 DECEMBER 2008
2 Feb 2009 Finnair Plc Company Announcement PROPOSALS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS’
NOMINATION COMMITTEE ON THE COMPOSITION AND REMUNERATION
OF THE BOARD QF DIRECTORS OF FINNAIR PLC
March 2009
26 March 2009  Finnair Ple Decisions of annual general meenng DECISIONS OF
FINNAIR PLC’S ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2009
20 March 2009  Finnair Plc Company Announcement YT-NEGOTIATIONS ON LAY-

OFFS TO BEGIN IN FINNAIR TECHNICAL SERVICES
Finnair Plc Investor News FINNAIR TO ADD FLIGHTS TO NEW YORK AND TOKYO FOR THE SUMMER
Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR PLACES PILOTS ON UNPAID LEAVE

18 March 2009
13 March 2009
12 March 2009

9 March 2009

6 March 2009

Finnair Plc Annual report/ annual accounts FINNAIR'S ANNUAL REPORT 2008 HAS BEEN PUBLISHED

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR’S CAPACITY CUTS AND
LOW TICKET PRICES SAVED FEBRUARY LOAD FACTORS

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR TECHNICAL SERVICES AND IBERIA
MAINTENANCE SIGN SEVEN-YEAR COOPERATION AGREEMENT

April 2009
28 Apr 2009 Finnair Plc Interim report FINNAIR GROUP INTERIM REPORT 1 JANUARY-31 MARCH 2009
7 Apr 2009 Finnair Plc Investor News MAUNU VISURI BECOMES MANAGING
DIRECTOR OF FINNAIR AIRCRAFT FINANCE OY
7 Apr 2009 Finnair Ple Company Announcement FALL IN DEMAND WEAKENED FINNAIR'S AVERAGE PRICES
6 Apr 2009 Finnair Plc Investor News FINNAIR TECHNICAL SERVICES SIGNS
NEW MAINTENANCE CONTRACT WITH KLM
May 2009
27 May 2009 Finnair Pic Company Announcement INACCURATE INFORMATION
IN MEDIA ON FINNAIR’S COST CUTTING
7 May 2009 Finnatr Pic Company Announcement FALL IN DEMAND CONTINUES,
WEAKENING OF PRICE LEVEL GATHERS PACE
5 May 2009 Finnair Pic Company Announcement FINNAIR SUBSIDIARY
NORTHPORT OY COMPLETES YT NEGOTIATIONS
June 2009

23 June 2009

Finnair Plc Investor News FINNAIR TO USE AIRBUS A330 AIRCRAFT IN LEISURE TRAFFIC
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9 June 2009

5 June 2009
July 2009

7 July 2009
August 2009
20 Aug 2009
14 Aug 2009

7 Aug 2009
7 Aug 2009
6 Aug 2009
6 Aug 2009

September 2009

24 Sept 2009
18 Sepr 2009
17 Sepr 2009
16 Sept 2009
8 Sepr 2009
7 Sept 2009

October 2009

30 Ocr 2009

30 Ocr 2009
30 Occ 2009
29 Ocr 2009
29 Gcr 2009
20 Oct 2009
13 Ocr 2009

7 Oct 2009

November 2009

30 Nov 2009
17 Nov 2009

14 Nov 2009
12 Nov 2009
11 Nov 2009
9 Nov 2009
2 Nov 2009

December 2009

22 Dec 2009
14 Dec 2009
B Dec 2009

Finnair Ple Company Announcerment DECLINE IN TRAFFIC CONTINUES,
CAPACITY CUTS TRACK FALL IN DEMAND

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR SEEKS FURTHER COST CUTS OF 100 MILLION EUROS
Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR DEMAND AND PRICE LEVEL DOWN

Finnair Ple Company Announcement FINNAIR SELLS PART OF ITS PROPERTIES

Finnair Ple Company Announcement FINNAIR CONTINUES EFFICIENCY
MEASURES BY SIMPLIFYING ORGANISATION

Finnair Plc Interim report FINNAIR GROUP INTERIM REPORT FOR JANUARY 1-JUNE 30, 2009
Finnair Ple Company Announcement FINNAIR'S PRESIDENT & CEO RESIGNS
Finnair Ple Company Announcement FINNAIR TRAFFIC DECLINES, LOAD FACTOR EXCELLENT

Finnair Ple Company Announcement FINNAIR TECHNICAL SERVICES
STABILISATION AGREEMENT SAFEGUARDS JOBS

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR REALISES ONE OF ITS SPARE ENGINES

Finnair Ple Company Announcement FINNAIR ISSUES EUR 120 MILLION HYBRID BOND

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR CONSIDERS ISSUANCE OF HYBRID BONDS
Finnait Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR AND SLSY REACH STABILISATION AGREEMENT
Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR CUTS CAPACITY TO MATCH FALLING DEMAND

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR ADJUSTS ITS
FLEET TO CHANGES IN DEMAND STRUCTURE

Finnair Ple Investor News FINNAIR TRAINING OPERATIONS
CONCENTRATED IN NEW FLIGHT ACADEMY

Finnair Plc Investor News FINNAIR DOUBLES ITS SCORE IN CARBON DISCLOSURE PROJECT
Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR PILOTS THREATEN STRIKE ACTION

Finnair Plc Interim report FINNAIR GROUP INTERIM REPORT FOR 1 JANUARY-30 SEPTEMBER 2009
Finnair Plc Company Announcement 230 MILLION DOLLAR CREDIT SUPPORT FOR FINNAIR
Finnair Plc Financaial Calendar FINNAIR’S FINANCIAL REPORTING SCHEDULE FOR 2010

Finnatr Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR CATERING AND WHITE-
COLLAR STAFF UNIONS CONCLUDE STABILISATION AGREEMENT

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR'S CARGO TRAFFIC REACHES BOTTOM

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR AGREES PARTNERSHIPS IN ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR AND AIRLINE
PILOTS' ASSQCIATION REACIT AGREEMENT

Finnair Ple Company Anncuncement PILOTS REJECT PROPOSALS

Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR SEEKS STRUCTURAL CHANGES IN ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Finnair Plc Company Announcement MIKA VEHVILAINEN TO BE FINNAIR'S NEW PRESIDENT & CEO
Finnair Plc Company Announcement FINNAIR CUTS CAPACITY IN LINE WITH FALLING DEMAND

Finnair Plc Investor News FINNAIR TECHNICAL SERVICES CONCLUDES A
MAINTENANCE AND ENGINEERING CONTRACT WITH CONDOR

Finnair Plc Investor News NEW BUSINESS CLASS IN FINNAIR’S LATEST AIRBUS A330 AIRCRAFT
Finnair Plc Investor News FINNAIR DOMESTIC CARGO TRAFFIC TO JETPAK

Finnair Plc Company Announcement LABOUR DISPUTES IMPACT
FINNAIR’S TRAFFIC FIGURES IN NOVEMBER

All Stock Exchange Releases can be found on the Finnair Group website www finnair com/group
Stock Exchange Releases relaring ro the purchase of own shares can be found ar the same address
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The Brokerage Firms
Analysing Finnair Equity

ABG Sundal Collier, Copenhagen
Lars Heindorff

Carnegte Investment Bank, Helsink
Timo Heinonen

Danske Markets/Danske Bank, Helsink)
Panu Laiminmaka

Evhi Bank, Helsinki

FIM Bank, Helsinki
Jaakko Tyrvainen

Goldman-Sachs, London
Hugo Scott-Gall

Handelsbanken, Helsink:
Pekka Mikkonen

Nordea Bank, Helsinki
Pas: Vaisanen

Pohjola Bank, Helsinks
Jari Raisanen

The Royal Bank of Scotland RBS, London
Andrew Lobbenberg

SEB Enskilda, Helsink:
Jurta Rahikainen

Standard&Poor’s, London
Virginte Vacca

Swedbank, Helsinks
Bengr Dahlstrom

Financial Report




Information for Shareholders

Information for Sharebolders

Annual general meeting

The Annual General Meeting of Finnair Plc will be held on 31
March 2010 at 3 pm at the Helsinki Fair Centre, Messuaukio 1
(Congress Wing Entrance) Notice of attendance at the Annual
General Meertng (AGM) must be given ar the latest by 4pm on
26 March 2010 Nonce of atrendance can be given through Fin-
naur’s website at www finnair com/agm, by post to the address
Finnair Plc, Registry of Shareholders, HEL-AAC/S, FI-01053
FINNAIR, by fax to +358 9 818 1662, by telephone from Mon-
day to Friday between 9am-4pm GMT to +358 9 818 7637 or by
e-mail to agm@finnair com Letters, faxes or e-mails regarding
notice of arrendance must have arrived before the period of no-
tice of attendance ends Each shareholder who 1s registered on
19 March 2010 1n the Company’s register of shareholders main-
rained by the Euroclear Finland Oy has the night to parucipare
inthe AGM A holder of nominee registered shares 1s advised to
request without delay necessary insrrucnions regarding the reg-
1stration 10 the shareholder’s register of the company, the issu-
ing of proxy documents and registration for the general meeung
from hisfher custodian bank The account management organi-
zation of the custodian bank will register a holder of nominee
registered shares, who wants to parnaipate in the general meet-
ing, to be temporarily entered into the shareholders’ regster of
the company at the latest on 26 March 2010 ac 10 am

AGM -Important dates

19 March 2010 Record date

26 March 2010 Lasr day ro give notice of atrendance
31 March 2010 AGM darte

Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

According ro the financial statements on 31 December 2009,
the distributable equity of Finnair Ple amounts to 393 0 million
euros The Board of Direcrors proposes to the Annual General
Meeting that no dividend shall be distributed for 2009

Financial information
In 2010, interim reports will be published 1n Finnish, Swed-
1sh and English

« Ql-20100n 28 Apnl 2010 at9am

¢+ Q2-2010 on 6 Augusc 201Gatdam

« Q3-2010 0n 28 October 2010at%9am

Ordering the annual report

The Annual Review 2009 will be published 1n print in Finmush,
Swedish and English and the Financtal Report 2009 1n Finrush
and in English To order tel +358 9818 4904,

fax +358 9 818 4401, e-mail post@finnair com

Electronic Annual Report and Electroric Financial Report
The Electronic Annual Report will be published on the inter-
net in Finmush, Swedish and English and Electronic Financial
Report will be published in Finnush and English ar the address
www finnair com/group

Change of address
Shareholders are kandly requested 1o report changes of address
to the custodian of their book-entry account
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Contact Information

Finnair Oy
Helsinki-Vantaa Airport
Tietotie 11 A

FI-01053 Finnair

Tel +358 9 81881
www finnair com

www finnair com/group

Senior Vice President
Pubhc Affairs and
Corporate Communications
Chnister Haglund

Tel +358 9 8184007
christer haglund@finnair fi

Executive Vice Prestdent and CFO
Lasse Hemnonen

Tel +358 9 8184950

lasse heimonen@finnair fi

Director, Investor Relations
Tanel Hassinen

Tel +358 9 8184976
tanel hassinen@finnair fi

Financial Repore

Investor Relations

Tel +358 9 818 4951

Fax +358 9 818 4092
investor relations@finnair fi
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CHOOSE THE

ECO-SMART ROUTE

TO EXOTIC ASIA.
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BE!JING SHANGHA{ HONG KONG TOKYQ FI””HIR .

OSAKA NAGOYA SECUL BANGKOK DELHI THE FAST AIRLINE BETWEEN EUROPE AND ASIA




